## **Czech University of Life Sciences Prague**

Faculty of Forestry and Wood Sciences

Department: Excellent research EVA4.0



Czech University of Life Sciences Prague

## Social-ecological aspects of climate change impacts and adaptation in southern Africa

Ph.D. Thesis

Author: Ing. Alpo Mpande Kapuka Supervisor: prof. RNDr. Tomáš Hlásny, PhD.

Prague

2023

## **Author's Declaration**

I hereby declare that this Doctoral Thesis (Social-ecological aspects of climate change impacts and adaptation in southern Africa) is my own work and quoted only according to the references listed within. Neither any part of this thesis has been submitted as fulfilment to award a degree to any other institution. The thesis was written under the guidance of prof. RNDr. Tomáš Hlásny, PhD.

I agree to the publication of the thesis according to Act No. 111/1998 Coll. on universities as amended, regardless of the outcome of its defense.

Prague, 2023

Signature.....

## Acknowledgments

I would like to express my gratitude to my supervisor, prof. RNDr. Tomáš Hlásny, Ph.D. for the opportunity and trust in me to work with him. I am sincerely grateful for his guidance and support during my entire doctoral study. My acknowledgement also goes to the Czech University of Life Sciences Prague, particularly to the Excellent research EVA4.0 project for financial and material support that made everything possible during my studies.

I am also grateful to all my colleagues from the Global Change Research Group for their support and all the company and friendship.

## **Table of Contents**

А	Abstract				
1 Background					
	1.1 Climate change and why it matters in Africa	4			
	1.1.1 Regional perspective	4			
2	Objectives	6			
3	Literature review	7			
	3.1 The social-ecological system framework	7			
	3.2 The concepts of vulnerability and resilience to climate change	7			
	3.2.1 Assessment of vulnerability and resilience of the social-ecological systems	9			
	3.3 Adaptation strategies to climate change impacts	.10			
4	Material and Methods	.13			
	4.1 Study area	.13			
	4.2 Methods	.15			
	4.2.1 Data	.16			
5	Results	.17			
	5.1 Climate change research in southern Africa in recent two decades: progress, needs, and				
	policy implications	.19			
	5.2 Climate change impacts on ecosystems and adaptation options in nine countries in				
	southern Africa: What do we know?	.35			
	5.3 Climate change threatens the distribution of major woody species and ecosystem service	s			
	provision in southern Africa	.55			
	5.4 Social Vulnerability to Natural Hazards in Namibia: A District-Based Analysis	.67			
6	Discussions	.87			
	6.1 Summary of addressed knowledge gaps and objectives	.87			
	6.2 Summary of used methodological approaches	.88			
	6.2.1 Limitations of the methodological approaches	.88			
	6.3 Key findings	.91			

6.3.1 Knowledge gaps in current understanding of climate change impact and ada		tation
	options in Sub-Saharan Africa	91
	6.3.2 Climate change impact on trees species distribution and ecosystem services	
	provision in Sub-Saharan Africa	94
	6.3.3 Patterns of socio-economic vulnerability in Namibia	95
7	Recommendations for practice and policy	96
8	Conclusions	98
9	References	100

## Abstract

Southern Africa is characterized by a wide range of ecosystems, including savannas, grasslands, forests, and wetlands, as well as a mixture of rural and urban communities. These social and ecological systems are, however, being significantly impacted by climate change.

This thesis uses systematic literature review, ecosystem modelling, GIS, vulnerability assessment approaches, and the social-ecological system framework to investigate the impact of climate change on social and ecological systems of southern Africa, covering eighteen countries (36% of the continent) and local populations' responses to these challenges. The thesis consists of four original scientific publications addressing various aspects of climate change impacts and adaptation in southern Africa.

Two studies, Kapuka et al., (2022) and Kapuka & Hlásny, (2021) focused on literature review to identify knowledge gaps in the current understanding of climate change impacts and adaptation in ten southern African countries. The results revealed significant advances in climate change research in southern Africa since 2005 in terms of the number of publications and African authors in first positions, however, regional inequalities are noticeable. The findings further identified barriers in climate change research in the region, such as insufficient use of modern technologies, models, climate change scenarios, and Earth Observation products. The review also revealed high diversity of observed and projected climate change impacts on terrestrial, marine, and freshwater ecosystems of southern Africa, including local extinction, increased mortality, and loss of habitats. Measures aiming to mitigate these impacts included active ecosystem management, policy development, and increased research and monitoring.

The study, Kapuka et al., (2022) modelled the vulnerability of eight major woody species to climate change in southern Africa, covering eighteen countries, as well as implications for the provisioning of ecosystem services such as timber, energy, and food. The results portrayed distinct regional differences in species range vulnerability, including hotspot and coldspot areas (i.e., areas where climatic suitability of multiple species are projected to retreat or persist). The baseline suitability range of Mopane (*Colophosperm mopane*) was least affected by climate change, rendering it a regional winner. While the baseline range of African rosewood (*Guibourtia coleosperma*) declined entirely rendering the species a regional loser. Timber provision was the most affected, while species providing food and energy were affected less.

Finally, Kapuka & Hlásny (2020) focused on identifying patterns of socio-ecological vulnerability in Namibia. The results show that populations with the poorest socio-economic performance were mostly distributed in the northern districts, which are also exposed to the highest frequency and severity of natural hazards, particularly to floods and wildfires. This coincidence of highly sensitive populations with high exposure to hazards renders these populations particularly vulnerable.

The results of the thesis can inform targeted adaptation and conservation actions and strategies, which are currently lacking in many African regions. The results can support the development of national and regional management strategies and investment priorities and contribute towards achieving the Sustainable Development Goals. The findings further have implications for climate change adaptation and ecosystem conservation, and the formulation of future research priorities for southern Africa.

**Keywords:** southern Africa, vulnerability, ecosystem management, climate change adaptation, social-ecological system.

## 1 Background

Climate change continues to threaten the sustainability of ecosystems and the wellbeing of many human populations globally (Fedele et al., 2019). It generates cascading risks propagating through the global social, ecological, and economic systems (Fortini & Schubert, 2017; Lindner et al., 2009; Littell et al., 2011; Williams et al., 2008).

Extreme temperatures, erratic rainfall, and increasing evapotranspiration demand are likely to result in major impacts on human populations and exceed the resilience limits of many ecosystems and trigger irreversible landscape transformations (IPCC, 2019). Millions of human communities and various ecosystems are projected to be exposed to the impacts of climate change in the coming decades (IPCC, 2018), resulting in limited access to key ecosystem services (Godde et al., 2020; Schewe et al., 2014; Schmidhuber & Tubiello, 2007; Thornton et al., 2014; Van Vliet et al., 2013). For example, climate change can drive complex changes in ecosystem structure and their interactions with the environment over a range of spatial and temporal scales and thus affect the ecosystem services rendered by these ecosystems. As a result, the wellbeing of human communities who heavily rely on these ecosystem services for their livelihoods are affected too (Díaz et al., 2006). Therefore, the human societies and ecosystems will require support to adapt to climate change-driven impacts (Fedele et al. 2019).

There is ample evidence attesting that variability in global climate continues to have adverse impacts on the world's social, ecological and economic systems (Fortini & Schubert, 2017; Lindner et al., 2009; Littell et al., 2011; Williams et al., 2008), as there has been an increase in the intensities and frequencies of extreme events, such as floods, heat waves and droughts (Hoegh-Guldberg et al., 2018; IPCC, 2019; Vishwambhar, 2015), including negative impacts on human health (Ebi et al. 2018; Foley et al., 2005; Thompson et al., 2010), and the acceleration of the process of land degradation (IPCC, 2019). Other observed impacts include early greening of natural vegetations in springs due to longer growing seasons (Lindner et al., 2009). The current vulnerability to climate change and inequality within systems is expected to intensify in some parts of the world (Otto et al., 2017). A system's vulnerability and adaptation to climate change impacts greatly depends on the frequency and intensity of climate change related hazards in a particular region, the sensitivity of the system and adaptation measures being implemented (Barry & Wandel, 2006; Brian et al., 2017; Littell et al., 2011).

Climate change, however, is not affecting human populations and ecosystems equally around the world, but it generates complex pattern of vulnerability depending on the level of climatic exposure, political and governance context, social-economic conditions of the populations, and their adaptive capacity (Smit & Wandel, 2006; Brian et al., 2017; Littell et al., 2011; Thomas et al., 2019). The current vulnerability to climate change and inequality within systems are expected to intensify in some parts of the world, such as Africa (Otto et al., 2017).

### 1.1 Climate change and why it matters in Africa

The African continent, with a considerable proportion of poor population, is one of the most vulnerable continents to climate change, with disproportionately threatened social and ecological systems (Hély et al., 2006; López-Carr et al., 2014; Palazzo et al., 2017). Moreover, the distribution of climate change vulnerability hotspots indicates that Africa is one of the regions where moderate and high multi-sector vulnerabilities predominantly occur (Byers et al., 2018; Hély et al., 2006; López-Carr et al., 2014; Palazzo et al., 2017). According to the IPCC (2019), impacts of the changing climate (i.e., extreme temperatures and high evapotranspiration) coupled with high dependence of human populations on ecosystems for their livelihoods, have transformed ecosystems in the region at an accelerating rate. Many African populations are directly and indirectly threatened by climate change due to their poor social-economic conditions and low capacity to implement effective adaptation measures (Baarsch et al., 2020; Thompson, et al., 2010).

## 1.1.1 Regional perspective

Southern Africa, (Fig. 1) represent a region with varying social-economic and natural conditions that are increasingly threatened by climate change-related events (e.g., unpredictable rainfall, floods, and recurrent droughts), land use, and other pressures (Guo et al., 2016; Rippke et al., 2016). It is one of the regions in Africa that is facing extreme temperatures, changes in rainfall pattern, increasing aridity, and rise in sea level (Girvetz et al., 2019). Moreover, various studies have suggested the presence of climate change hotspots of global importance in southern Africa (Bauer & Scholz, 2010; Hoegh-Guldberg et al., 2019). Climate projections have further predicted an increase in droughts, frequency and intensity of wildfires, and increased land degradation in the region (Keja-Kaereho & Tjizu, 2019; Midgley et al., 2005). Decrease in rainfall, leading to drier summers with extreme temperatures are also projected to affect large parts of the southern African region (Archer et al., 2017; Engelbrecht et al., 2011).

Major climate change-related impacts in the region include limited access to clean water, increase in water-borne diseases, and reduced agricultural productivity, leading to increased food insecurity (Archer et al., 2017). Changes in climate may also compromise the region's natural and cultural values and its rich biodiversity with severe implications for tourism that is an important source of income for many local communities in the region (Mushawemhuka et al., 2018). Increasing risk of wildfires and droughts affects adversely many ecological systems, mainly in arid and semi-arid areas (Pricope et al., 2015; Sintayehu, 2018).

The high climatic exposure of the southern African region coincides with societal issues such as extreme poverty, poor governance, low awareness of climate change-related risks and the population's high dependence on climatically vulnerable natural resources for their livelihoods (Dieckmann et al., 2013; Makate et al., 2017). Climate change-related risks are therefore particularly high for disadvantaged, rural and poor communities due to high vulnerability to climate change, and the lack of capacity to plan, finance, and effectively coordinate adaptation initiatives. Facing such risks requires swift and coordinated actions which are supported by profound understanding of the dynamics within social-ecological systems under climate change and transferring such understanding into informed decisions and policies (Cochrane et al., 2017; Posada et al., 2018).

Therefore, in the face of global challenges such as climate change, there is a need to understand the complex interactions between human communities and ecological systems. There is a need to assess possible societies' responses to climate change-related risks, to better inform effective strategies for maintaining ecosystems' resilience and sustainable development for the human communities. However, climate change related risks to regional ecosystems and human populations are understudied in southern Africa, leading to lack of understanding of climate change processes and their interactions with the social and ecological systems. Such a lack of knowledge undermines efforts on addressing climate change risks in the region, making climate change mitigation and adaptation efforts challenging.

## 2 Objectives

The thesis presents a framework that utilizes the interdisciplinary approaches and the socialecological framework to enhance knowledge on the dynamics of the social-ecological systems under climate change in southern Africa. It focuses on selected aspects of climate change impacts on ecosystems and societies in southern Africa based on well-established vulnerability concepts, which may facilitate the development of effective adaptation strategies. The focus of the thesis is on southern Africa due to high complex ecological and social settings of the region, which is crucial to the transfer of the research findings to other region with similar socio-economic settings.

The main objectives of the thesis are to:

- i. understand the current state of knowledge on various aspects of climate change in southern Africa. Specifically, we aimed to (1) understand the temporal development of climate change research, its geographical differences, coverage of different thematic areas, and level of research internationalization in ten southern African countries, and (2) understand observed and projected impacts of climate change on various species, populations, and ecosystems, with management and policy recommendations aiming to mitigate these impacts in nine southern African countries.
- ii. assess projected climatic vulnerability of major woody species in southern Africa and risk for the provisions of main ecosystem services. Specifically, we aimed to investigate how climate change threatens the potential current and future distributions of eight major woody species and the ecosystem services they provide in southern Africa.
- iii. evaluate the patterns of vulnerability of the human societies to natural hazards in Namibia as a case study. Specifically, we aimed to identify the main factors influencing social vulnerability in the districts of Namibia and evaluate how the socio-economic fitness of populations coincide with the distribution of high-hazard areas.

## **3** Literature review

## 3.1 The social-ecological system framework

The strong relationship between human communities and the environment has led to the emergence of the social-ecological system (SES) framework (Barreteau et al., 2016). It characterizes conditions where different components of human community (e.g., economic, cultural, and political) and environment (e.g., biological, geological, chemical, and physical) are strongly coupled and interact with each other (Herrero-Jáuregui et al., 2018). The interactions within the SES play a vital role in shaping ecosystems. For instance, the environment provides ecosystem services to human society and the society manipulate the ecological processes through various management interventions (Thonicke et al., 2020).

The concept of SES provides insights, as well as the need for multidisciplinary approaches to understand the dynamic relation between human society and the environment (Stojanovic et al., 2016). The study of SES has therefore, increasingly become a crucial framework for understanding the interactions between social and environmental systems (Leenhardt et al., 2015). The SES framework has also been widely used across the world and form an important part of many adaptation initiatives and policy formulations (e.g., Sustainable Development Goals) (Fischer et al., 2015).

Despite the progress in the applications of the SES framework, the concept still faces many challenges and uncertainty as an interdisciplinary framework (Fischer et al., 2015). This includes the challenge of assessing and quantifying the interactions within the SES, the need to determine key drivers of climatic vulnerability and measures to address climate extremes (Thonicke et al., 2020), and the lack of a common definition for SES (Colding & Barthel, 2019; Herrero-Jáuregui et al., 2018).

### **3.2** The concepts of vulnerability and resilience to climate change

Vulnerability and resilience concepts have gained increasing attention in literature (Noy & Yonson, 2018). The term vulnerability has been defined in numerous ways in literature. For example, Cutter et al., (2003) defined it as the probability of a system or its processes being negatively impacted by climate change related hazards, Kantamaneni, (2019) described it as the ability of a population to cope with and adapt to external stress such as environmental hazards, and Leichenko & O'Brien, (2002) defined vulnerability as a measure of the degree to which an entity

may be impacted or influenced by an object or event. However, most authors agree on the three key components of vulnerability of a system as being composed of exposure, sensitivity, and adaptive capacity (Birkmann, 2006).

Although resilience has been an important concept in literature since its emergence, it is still not well understood on its application in various disciplines, as the concept has been evolving (Li et al., 2020; Mumby et al., 2014). Like vulnerability, resilience has various definitions. For example, the United Nations (UN) define resilience as: "the ability of a system, community or society exposed to hazards to resist, absorb, accommodate, to transform, and recover from the effects of a hazard in a timely and efficient manner, including through the preservation and restoration of its essential basic structures, and functions through risk management" (United Nations, 2016). Some authors define resilience as the magnitude of a stressor that a social and ecological system is capable of enduring and its ability to recover to its original characteristics in the presence of shocks (Cutter et al., 2008), while others (e.g., Adger, 2000) attempt to differentiate resilience between social and ecological by defining social resilience as the ability of groups or communities to cope with external stresses and disturbances due to social, political, and environmental change, and ecological resilience as a characteristic of ecosystems to maintain themselves in the face of disturbance. Mumby et al., (2014) categorized resilience into ecological (ability of a system to be able to exhibit recovery trajectories through disturbance) and engineering resilience (measures the rate of recovery to an equilibrium state). However, there is no significant differences in the meanings of the above definitions of resilience, and all definitions demonstrate that the main characteristic of resilience is maintaining a balanced state of the social-ecological systems.

The two concepts have become increasingly vital in social and environmental policy formulation and in informing environmental and development discourse (Cannon & Muller-Mahn, 2010). Moreover, the concepts can be seen as being strongly interrelated, as vulnerability is viewed by some as a component of sensitivity and resilience capacity (Lei et al., 2014). For example, assessing the vulnerability of a system can also reveal the level of resilience of that system to withstand shocks, and the lack of resilience capacity can increase vulnerability of a system to the impacts of various stressors (Nunes, 2021).

Within the SES, vulnerability can be significantly minimized by collectively maintaining the resilience capacity of the ecological components. For example, reducing pressure on the ecosystem

and conserving biodiversity through effective management practices and enhancing adaptive capacity of the social components of the system to cope with adverse changes within the environment (Mumby et al., 2014; Thonicke et al., 2020). Vulnerability and resilience assessments thus form an essential step in mapping and identifying patterns and level of sensitivity or exposure to external stressors (Dintwa et al., 2019), and provide knowledge which can support the formulation of area-specific solutions to enhance a system's adaptative capacity (Chakraborty et al., 2019).

### 3.2.1 Assessment of vulnerability and resilience of the social-ecological systems

Vulnerability and resilience assessments have become crucial components of decisionmaking across the world (Skondras et al., 2020), which can be carried out at micro or macro level (Leichenko & O'Brien, 2002). The key focus of vulnerability assessments was either on the social system (e.g., vulnerability of people) or on the biophysical assessment of natural hazards and their impacts to various sectors such as agriculture (Adger, 2006). However, increasing pressure from various stressors on human communities and environmental components have stimulated an increase in demand for transdisciplinary approaches to examine the complex interactions and vulnerability of human societies and the environment (Stojanovic et al., 2016).

Since SES is an interdisciplinary framework, it requires approaches which integrate different scientific disciplines to conduct effective transdisciplinary assessments (Folke et al., 2010; Holzer et al., 2019). As a result, various methodological approaches, concepts, theories, and models which may be applied to describe and analyze the characteristics of SES, including their vulnerability and resilience, have been developed and tested in academia (e.g., Epstein et al., 2014; Fischer et al., 2015; Metzger et al., 2005; Nguyen et al., 2016; Otto et al., 2017). This includes, for example, methods for identifying main indicators, integrated assessment approaches comprising both biophysical and social components of vulnerability, the development and application of vulnerability indices, and recommending appropriate adaptation strategies (Kapuka & Hlásny, 2020).

In vulnerability assessments, indicator-based approaches are some of the most common methods (e.g., Kapuka & Hlásny, 2020; Nguyen et al., 2016; Noy & Yonson, 2018). However, collective approaches such as climate change vulnerability assessments has been also applied in mapping and identifying environmental components with higher risk of decline due to climate

impacts (see, Kapuka et al., 2022; Pacifici et al., 2015). Metric-based approaches have been used to assess the vulnerability of rural communities to flood risks (see, Adeloye et al., 2015).

Assessment of resilience, however, can be approached through the analysis of the ability of a system to withstand stressors, re-organize, respond, and maintain its basic functions in the presence of disturbances (Osbahr et al., 2010). For example, the use of resilience indices to measure the effect of disturbance absorption and determine a system's qualities to cope with current and future challenges (Briguglio et al., 2009). Some authors (e.g., Stanickova & Melecký, 2018) have noted that resilience can be determined through the analysis of available adaptation strategies. These underlying adaptation strategies can then be used to establish how well a system is likely to resist any current and future shocks.

Although there are no standard methods of assessing resilience currently available, some models and approaches have shown great success in their applications (e.g., Cross-scale resilience model, Network analysis, Agent modelling etc) (Li et al., 2020; Siders, 2019). Multivariate statistical approaches and software such as ANOVA, regression, spearman's rank correlation, logistic regression, cluster, and principal component analyses are also useful tools for exploring the relationships between interacting systems (Menzie et al., 2007). The concept of exposure-sensitivity-adaptive capacity has also been widely used to assess and understand the level of vulnerability of a system to climate variability and climate change in a spatially explicit manner (e.g., Fortini & Schubert, 2017; Lindner et al., 2009; Pandey et al., 2015).

Despite efforts in the development of conceptual and analytical knowledge of vulnerability and resilience assessments, several challenges persist and limits the realization of full potential that integrated approaches can offer to the assessment of vulnerability (Bruno Soares et al., 2012). For example, the complexity of theoretical and conceptual frameworks applied in the assessments of vulnerability makes it difficult to assess vulnerability and compare different assessments and results at different spatial scales (Malone & Engle, 2011).

### **3.3** Adaptation strategies to climate change impacts

It is apparent that the progress of human development and environmental processes are being hindered by the aggravating impacts of climate change around the world (IPCC, 2019). The intensity and severity of current climatic regimes has become a cause for concern (De Souza et al., 2015) and has prompt human societies to take collective actions to address the impacts of climate change. To enable sustainable development, multiple adaptation strategies are being implemented around the world, including where extreme climate conditions always prevail and exhibit high vulnerability, such as the arid part of sub-Saharan Africa (Bunting et al., 2013). Effective adaptation efforts, however, need to be area-specific and consistent with the underlying settings of the specific system (Abson et al., 2012), as adaptation approaches are influenced by various factors, including the structure of the system, temporal and spatial scale, key beneficiaries, type of response required, and sector involved (Holman et al., 2019).

Adaptation strategies to climate change can take different forms, including reducing the populations' dependence on natural resources. This can be done through the provision of various alternative sources of livelihoods, technology inputs, effective natural resources management, effective implementation of climate change policies and strategies (Thompson et al., 2010). For example, in some parts of southern Africa, collective adaptation strategies such as the adoption of Climate-Smart Agriculture (CSA), which involve a shift in agricultural practices and the participatory Community Based Natural Resource Management (CBNRM) programme, have shown major improvements in enhancing populations' resilience to climate change related stress (Osbahr et al., 2010).

A system's response to external stress was for example, categorized by Fedele et al., (2019) into three major types: coping responses, incremental adaptation, and transformative adaptation. Coping strategies are usually applied by the affected populations to resist or minimize the impacts from external challenges and maintain the original characteristics of the affected systems (Whitney et al., 2017). This type of adaptation approach is usual short term and might not be the ideal strategy to enhance a system's adaptive capacity in the long run.

Incremental adaptation strategies on the other hand involves minor, but effective changes to a system's settings, with the main purpose of enhancing its resilience to shocks (Kates et al., 2012). For instance, shifts in agricultural and land management practices (e.g., introduction of irrigation systems, reduction of livestock numbers) to adapt to the challenges affecting the agricultural sector (Nguyen et al., 2016).

Society can also respond to environmental shocks and reduce their vulnerability to environmental stress through transformative adaptation. For example, by completely rehabilitating degraded landscapes. Transformative adaptation strategies are long term and focuses on addressing or tackling the main sources of environmental challenges (Olsson et al., 2004). They create changes that leads to new interactions between social and ecological systems (Wahid et al., 2019).

Despite various adaptation approaches being implemented across the world, there is still a growing demand for increased external financial investments into adaptation mechanisms, particularly in developing countries with limited resources and human capacity (Osbahr et al., 2010). For example, different cultural beliefs in most part of the southern African region makes it difficult to effectively implement some of the underlying adaptation strategies. Some parts of southern Africa, farmers and some ethnic groups with strong cultural and religious beliefs are often unwilling to take up adaptation measures, such as the reduction of the livestock herd size during droughts. Adaptation interventions in the southern African region are further being hindered by the predominant lack of quality information on regional precipitation patterns and specific future climate change impacts (Bauer & Scholz, 2010). Furthermore, efforts aimed at enhancing resilience will require some adjustments in the policies to effectively address the dynamics of social-ecological systems and achieve priorities needed for adaptation (Garmestani & Benson, 2013).

## 4 Material and Methods

## 4.1 Study area

The study focused on the southern African region (Fig.1), which is already facing the impacts of climate extremes, leading to severe economic and social implications in most parts of the region. As a result, at both national and regional levels, southern African countries are focused on understanding the impacts associated with climate change on social and ecological systems and formulating effective response strategies through research, particularly on climate change vulnerability in agriculture and other sectors.



Figure 1. Areas in southern Africa investigated in this study and their locations in Africa.

Most parts of the southern African region are characterized of high proportion of poor population with limited access to essential services, escalating unemployment, and high levels of human inequalities. Agricultural practices, which greatly depends on rainfall is one of the main sources of livelihoods and economic development in southern African countries. However, agriculture, including forests and rangelands are also some of the most vulnerable economic sectors to climate change and variability (Kamali et al., 2019; Rapolaki et al., 2019).

The southern Africa region is categorized as a climate hot-spot due to erratic climatic regimes, diverse social and ecological conditions, and low human adaptive capacity (Bunting et al., 2013). Climatic conditions vary from arid to temperate and savanna in small parts of the region, with annual average rainfall ranging between 100 - 2000 mm (Spear et al., 2015). Vegetation types in the region are miombo, mopane, baikiea, acacia, and tropical moist and mangroves. In most parts of the southern Africa, seasonal patterns of precipitation and temperature are strongly related to inter-annual and inter-decadal variability, as well as influenced by El Nino Southern Oscillation (ENSO) (Archer et al., 2017; Bunting et al., 2013).

The southern African region is also subjected to frequent natural hazards such as droughts, wildfires, and floods which threaten food security. For example, the region has already experienced extreme poor rainfall in the 2014/2015, 2015/2016 and 2018/2019 rain seasons, resulting in some of the worse drought events (Archer et al., 2017). Climate change projections predict that the impacts of climate change are likely to intensify in the region (Zinyengere et al., 2013). The southern African region is likely to experience extreme temperatures, changes in rainfall patterns, and increasing aridity, as well as an increase in sea level and result in significant consequences for main development areas (Serdeczny et al., 2017). Other projected impacts include reduction in the availability of clean water, increased water-borne diseases, and reduction in agricultural productivity (Archer et al., 2017).

The southern African region also belong to some of world's favorite tourist destinations, due to the region's diverse cultural and biodiversity attractions. Erratic climatic regimes in the region, however, have significant impact on nature-based tourism, which greatly relies on climate conditions to maintain its diverse natural ecosystem (Hambira, 2017). In addition, extreme temperatures, incidence of wildfire, and decreasing rainfall are expected to have significant impacts on the structure and functions of the ecological system of arid and semi-arid areas of the southern Africa (Pricope et al., 2015). Vulnerability to climate change in southern Africa is mainly driven by the level of exposure to underlying environmental and climatic conditions, poor governance, and other socio-economic settings of the population (Kusangaya et al., 2014; Spear et al., 2015).

## 4.2 Methods

The methodology of the thesis entails integrative and interdisciplinary approaches to explore the concept of social-ecological system framework in order understand the dynamics of socialecological systems under climate change and support the formulation of effective adaptation mechanisms in southern Africa. Transdisciplinary research approaches were used to examine the characteristics of selected southern African social and ecological systems facing climate change. The social-ecological framework was used to answer the main question addressed by the thesis: *"How different social-ecological systems are influenced by climate change in southern Africa and how the societies respond to these challenges?"*. Detailed methodologies are explained in the individual original research articles that are included in this thesis. Here, we briefly describe main methodological approaches used in the presented research papers:

# Identifying knowledge gaps in current understanding of climate change impact and adaptation options in Sub-Saharan Africa

We conducted a systematic literature review aiming to identify scientific papers dealing with various aspects of climate change in the southern African region. The publications were extracted from Scopus (SciVerse Scopus 2013) and Web of Science (WoS) databases following the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) workflow. The search covered the period from January 2000 to April 2019. We then reviewed the retrieved publications and retained only those that met our selection criteria. The retained publications were further subjected to a detailed review to extract relevant information such as geographical location of the ecosystems, type of climate change-related impacts, thematic areas, and author's affiliations.

## Identifying climate change impact on trees species distribution and ecosystem services provision in Sub-Saharan Africa

Species distribution modelling was conducted using MaxEnt algorithm to model the investigated species' current and future climatic suitability. We developed a MaxEnt model for each species using occurrence records from the Global Biodiversity Information Facility database (GBIF) and bioclimatic variables from AFRICLIM dataset. The models' predictive performances were evaluated by the Area Under the Curve (AUC) of the Receiver Operating Characteristic (ROC) and the True Skill Statistics (TSS). We further used two complementary metrics to evaluate the relative importance of climatic predictors to the models: percent contribution and permutation

importance. We used a logistic output of MaxEnt to produce continuous distribution maps with suitability values ranging from 0 (unsuitable) to 1 (highly suitable). We deployed the trained models with future climate data to produce maps of species-specific climatic suitability for 2071–2100.

### Identifying patterns of socio-economic vulnerability in Namibia

The vulnerability of the Namibian population was evaluated based on the interaction between socio-economic conditions approximated by the Social Vulnerability Index (SVI) and the level of exposure to natural hazards approximated by the introduced hazard index. Based on district positions in the space defined by the SVI and the aggregate hazard index, we categorized the districts into three vulnerability classes using the K-means clustering technique. In the final evaluation, we conducted the analysis based on composite indices with socio-economic or hazard profiles constructed for each district using the full set of underlying variables.

### 4.2.1 Data

Key data for southern Africa including forest vegetation, socioeconomic, and climate data were obtained from publicly available datasets. A comprehensive literature search of Web of Science (WoS) and SCOPUS was conducted, including the assessment of scientific studies published during the recent two decades (2000 –2019) on different aspects of climate change in southern Africa. Past and future climate data were obtained from various sources including Cordex Africa climate projections under different emission scenarios until 2100 and WorldClim data for the reference period 1950-2000. Data on the distribution of key woody species in southern Africa were retrieved from GBIF. Social, economic, and demographic data for the social vulnerability study for the Namibian population were obtained from the Namibia Inter-censal Demographic Survey of 2016 conducted by the Namibia Statistics Agency (NSA), while data representing natural hazard indicators, inducing fire, flood, and drought were obtained from various sources. The collected data were then processed and stored in Microsoft Access and ArcMap geodatabases that were used to support the entire research.

## **5** Results

The thesis' objectives were addressed through four original studies published in scientific journals with impact factors (IF). The studies were in line with the topic of the thesis, focusing on various aspects of climate change impacts and adaptation in southern Africa.

Identification of knowledge gaps in current understanding of climate change impact and adaptation options in Sub-Saharan Africa were addressed in two research papers.

The first study under this objective addressed the trends and pattern in climate change research in Sub-Saharan Africa:

**5.1** Kapuka, A., Hlásny, T., Helmschrot, J., 2022. Climate change research in southern Africa in recent two decades: progress, needs, and policy implications. Reg Environ Change 22, 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1007/S10113-022-01886-3

The second paper addressed knowledge gaps in climate change impacts on ecosystems, species, and populations and adaptation options in nine countries in southern Africa.

**5.2** Kapuka, A., Hlásny, T., 2021. Climate change impacts on ecosystems and adaptation options in nine countries in southern Africa: What do we know? Ecosphere 12, e03860. https://doi.org/10.1002/ECS2.3860

Climate change impact on trees species distribution and ecosystem services provision in Sub-Saharan Africa were addressed in the following study:

**5.3** Kapuka, A., Dobor, L., Hlásny, T., 2022. Climate change threatens the distribution of major woody species and ecosystem services provision in southern Africa. Sci Total Environ 850, 158006. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2022.158006</u>

Patterns of socio-ecological vulnerability in Namibia were addressed in the following study:

**5.4** Kapuka, A., Hlásny, T., 2020. Social Vulnerability to Natural Hazards in Namibia: A District-Based Analysis. Sustainability 12, 4910. https://doi.org/10.3390/su12124910

The above scientific publications are complemented by other two research papers, which I published during my study:

Nikodemus, A., Abdollahnejad, A., Kapuka A., Panagiotidis, D., Hájek, M., 2023. Socio-economic benefits of Colophospermum mopane in a changing climate in northern Namibia. Forests 14(2), 290; <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/f14020290</u>

Phiri, J., Malec, K., Kapuka, A, Maitah, M., Appiah-Kubi, SNK., Gebeltová, Z., Bowa, M., Maitah, K., 2021. Impact of Agriculture and Energy on CO2 Emissions in Zambia. Energies 14(24):8339. https://doi.org/10.3390/en14248339

# 5.1 Climate change research in southern Africa in recent two decades: progress, needs, and policy implications

Regional Environmental Change (2022) 22:18 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10113-022-01886-3

REVIEW



## Climate change research in southern Africa in recent two decades: progress, needs, and policy implications

Alpo Kapuka<sup>1</sup> · Tomáš Hlásny<sup>1</sup> · Jörg Helmschrot<sup>2,3,4</sup>

Received: 22 February 2021 / Accepted: 19 January 2022 © The Author(s), under exclusive licence to Springer-Verlag GmbH Germany, part of Springer Nature 2022

### Abstract

Southern Africa is a diverse region harbouring exceptional natural and cultural values, which are increasingly threatened by climate change. We investigated the progress of climate change research in ten countries in the region during 2000–2019. We reviewed 972 publications included in the Scopus database, which addressed different aspects of climate change and explicitly referred to the management, adaptation, or mitigation actions. We found that the number of such focused publications started to increase rapidly after 2004. The majority of publications addressed South Africa, while the coverage of the remaining countries was unequal. The largest proportion of the publications addressed agriculture, although social aspects of climate change started to prevail in recent five years. Local case studies dominated, while studies addressing the regional scale and employing model- and Earth Observation–based approaches were less abundant. The proportion of African authors occupying leading positions in the author teams was increasing during the investigated period. International collaboration was an important research driver, and it was particularly developed with European organizations. Publication Index. Although we identified numerous positive trends, issues such as geographical imbalance, the prevalence of local studies, and insufficient use of advanced methodologies are aspects deserving recognition in future research planning. Our findings suggest an increasing ability of African authors to contribute to the global discussions about climate change as well as improving options for the science-based formulation of continental and regional policies.

Keywords Africa · Literature review · Scopus · Adaptation · Research internationalization · Research investments

Communicated by Virginia Burkett

Tomáš Hlásny hlasny@fld.czu.cz

<sup>1</sup> Faculty of Forestry and Wood Sciences, Czech University of Life Sciences in Prague, Kamýcká 129, 165 00, Praha 6– Suchdol, Czech Republic

- <sup>2</sup> Southern African Science Service Centre for Climate Change and Adaptive Land Management, Directorate of Science and Technology/Capacity Development, 28 Robert Mugabe Avenue c/o Robert Mugabe and Newton Street, Windhoek, Namibia
- <sup>3</sup> Faculty of AgriSciences/SUWI, Stellenbosch University, Private Bag X1, Matieland, Stellenbosch 7602, South Africa
- <sup>4</sup> Institute of Meteorology and Climate Research, Karlsruhe Institute of Technology (KIT), Wolfgang-Gaede-Str. 1, Karlsruhe 76131, Germany

Published online: 10 February 2022

### Introduction

Climate change is a prominent threat to the sustainability of many human populations (Fedele et al. 2019). Hundreds of millions of people will be exposed to the impacts of climate in the coming decades (IPCC 2018), facing reduced access to vital resources such as water and food (Schmidhuber and Tubiello 2007; van Vliet et al. 2013; Schewe et al. 2014; Thornton et al. 2014; Godde et al. 2020). Climate change is not affecting human populations equally worldwide, but it generates complex patterns of vulnerability depending on the level of climatic exposure, political and governance context, social-economic conditions of people, and their adaptive capacity (Littell et al. 2011; Thomas et al. 2019). The distribution of climate change vulnerability hotspots indicates that moderate and high multi-sector vulnerabilities occur predominantly in southern Asia, and spread to Sub-Saharan Africa (Byers et al. 2018). For example, many African populations are directly and indirectly threatened by

🙆 Springer

climate change because of their poor socio-economic conditions, dependence on natural resources, and low capacity to take efficient adaptation actions (Thompson et al. 2010; Tucker et al. 2015; Baarsch et al. 2020).

Southern Africa is a climatically highly exposed region (Bauer and Scholz 2010), facing increasing extreme temperatures, changing rainfall patterns, increasing aridity, sea-level rise, and desertification (Zinyengere et al. 2013; Girvetz et al. 2019; IPCC 2019). Drier summers with more extreme temperatures and high risks of wildfires are projected to affect large parts of southern Africa (IPCC 2019), mainly Zimbabwe and Botswana (Engelbrecht et al. 2011). Decreasing rainfall is projected to occur in subtropical southern Africa, particularly in Angola and South Africa (Archer et al. 2017), potentially causing a decrease in agricultural yield (IPCC 2019).

High climatic exposure of the southern African region coincides with societal issues such as poor governance, low awareness of climate change-related risks, and dependence of many populations on climatically vulnerable natural resources (Kusangaya et al. 2014; Makate et al. 2017). Major impacts of climate change in the region include reduced availability of clean water, increase in water-borne diseases, and reduced agricultural productivity (Archer et al. 2017). Climate changes may also compromise the region's natural and cultural values, biodiversity, and safety, with severe implications for tourism that is an essential source of income for many communities (Mushawemhuka et al. 2018). The increasing risk of wildfires and droughts adversely affects many ecological systems, mainly in arid and semi-arid areas (Pricope et al. 2015; Sintayehu 2018).

Climate change generates cascading risks propagating through physical systems, ecosystems, economy, and society (Adger et al. 2018). Facing such risks requires a profound understanding of multisectoral vulnerabilities and transferring such understanding into informed decisions and policies (Cochrane et al. 2017; Posada et al. 2018). However, large regional differences in the engagement in scientific endeavours related to climate change compromise global adaptation efforts. For example, Blicharska et al. (2017) described a striking divide in the research relevant to climate change policies between northern (mostly OECD) and southern countries primarily located in parts of Asia, Africa, and Latin America. Such a divide may impact most on least developed countries, which are the most vulnerable to climate change, while their contribution to relevant research is disproportionally small. A similar imbalance can be observed at the continental scale-for example, 80% of African authorships in geosciences were found to stem from only five countries (North et al. 2020).

Although climate change–related research in southern Africa has significantly advanced (Ford et al. 2015; Vogel et al. 2019), it still faces challenges such as insufficient availability of data, research infrastructure, and human resources (Haselip and Hughes 2018). For example, the poor availability of reliable climate data is an essential obstacle to understanding current and future risks to human populations and their environment (Ziervogel et al. 2014; Posada et al. 2018). Other limitations include the lack of methodologies and tools for monitoring climate change and assessing the vulnerability of different social and ecological systems (Posada et al. 2018). African authors are significantly underrepresented in high-impact publications and rarely occupy leading positions in author teams (Tarkang and Bain 2019; North et al. 2020).

Research internationalization and social-economic globalization are essential drivers of scientific performance, alleviating inequalities between countries in the access to the most recent understanding (Kwiek 2015). In Africa, initiatives such as Climate Research for Development (CR4D), the Collaborative Adaptation Research Initiative in Africa and Asia (CARIAA), the Science Service Centre for Climate Change, and Adaptive Land Management in southern and western Africa (SASSCAL and WASCAL) have been implemented to support international collaboration in different areas, including climate change research. Historical relationships between Africa and the European Union (EU) led to the establishment of agreements such as the Joint Africa - EU Strategy (JAES) that addresses key areas of climate change mitigation and adaptation, with a strong focus on international collaboration, research, and social and technological innovations (Haselip and Hughes 2018).

Although there is a body of literature on different aspects of climate change in southern Africa (Crespo et al. 2011; Kusangaya et al. 2014; Hoffman et al. 2019; Lawal et al. 2019), studies mapping the temporal development of climate change research, its geographical differences, coverage of different thematic areas, and level of research internationalization are lacking (but see, for example, Thompson et al. 2010; Mpandeli et al. 2020). Such information, however, is vital to setting future research and funding priorities and an understanding of mechanisms driving research performance in the region.

Here, we strived to fill this knowledge gap by reviewing studies published during the recent two decades (2000–2019) dedicated to different aspects of climate change. We particularly focused on studies providing information relevant for adaptation, mitigation, and management of natural resources. We also strived to understand how international collaboration and the role of African authors in climate change research have been developing. Finally, we evaluated how publication performance was associated with different demographic, economic, and other characteristics of the investigated countries.

### Materials and methods

### Study area

We investigated ten countries in the southern African region, which are part of the Southern African Development Community (SADC). The study region includes Angola, Botswana, the Kingdom of Eswatini (further Eswatini), Lesotho, Malawi, Mozambique, Namibia, South Africa, Zambia, and Zimbabwe (Fig. 1a). These countries cover 19.8% of the African continent and shelter 170 million inhabitants. The countries exhibit significant differences in political, socialeconomic, and natural conditions. The average GDP per capita in the region is 3000 USD, ranging from 360 USD in Malawi to 7600 USD in Botswana (Table S1 in Online Resources) (The World Bank World Development Indicators. 2020). According to The Economist Intelligence Unit's Democracy Index (2020), Botswana exhibits the highest level of democracy (7.81 score), followed by South Africa (7.24) and Lesotho (6.54). On the other hand, Eswatini (3.14), Zimbabwe (3.16), and Angola (3.75) are the least democratic countries in the region (Fig. 1b).

Population growth, food insecurity, and diseases such as HIV/AIDS severely compromise the region's ability to achieve political stability and economic and social development (Shackleton and Shackleton 2012). Approximately half of the population in the region lives below the poverty line (Osabohien et al. 2020). Southern Africa has also experienced increased population migrations due to conflicts, social and economic inequalities, increased natural hazards, and environmental changes (Flahaux and de Haas 2016; Mpandeli et al. 2020). Still, the region has developed rapidly with the support of different development programmes and due to overall economic and political globalization (Leichenko and O'Brien 2002). Despite regional differences, a widespread acceptance and increasing uptake of new technologies, such as mobile communication, supports economic development (Aker and Mbiti 2010), while traditional industries such as agriculture and mining remain dominant.

The region represents one of the global climatic vulnerability hotspots due to its erratic climatic regimes and high current and projected climate risks (Hoegh-Guldberg et al. 2019). Climate extremes, particularly drought, regularly trigger wildlife mortality, cause habitat degradation, reduce the abundance of different species, and place conservation objectives at risk (Sintayehu 2018). Climate-mediated risks in the region include deforestation and desertification, forest fires, floods, and recurring droughts (Davis-Reddy and Vincent 2017). For example, the region has experienced extremely poor rainfalls in the seasons 2014/2015, 2015/2016, and 2018/2019 (Archer et al. 2017). The most damaging recent event was the tropical Cyclone Idai (March 2019) that affected more than 3 million people, particularly in Malawi, Mozambique, and Zimbabwe (Mercy Corps 2019; Mavhura 2020; Chari et al. 2021). In the same year, the cyclone Kenneth hit the northern part of Mozambique, affecting millions of people (Unicef 2019; Baltazar and Rossetto 2020).





Fig. 1 Southern African countries investigated in this study and their location in Africa (a). Countries' position is defined by the Gross Domestic Product per capita and the Democracy Index (b). The

dashed lines indicate the average value of either indicator. The data are for 2015–2019 (Source: The World Development Indicators, The World Bank 2019; The Economist Intelligence Unit 2020)

🙆 Springer

### Methods

### Literature review

We performed a literature search using the Scopus database (SciVerse Scopus 2013) that is frequently used in systematic reviews (Biesbroek et al. 2013; Jurgilevich et al. 2017). The review followed the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) (Fig. S1 in Online Resources) (Moher et al. 2009). We aimed to identify studies that address different aspects of climate change research in southern Africa and, at the same time, have management or policy implications. We addressed observed and projected changes in climate, empirical and modelling studies, effects of climatic extremes and long-term trends, and impacts on various sectors, ecosystems, and human communities. The search was conducted on April 27, 2020, and addressed title, keywords (both author and index keywords), and abstract. We set the cut-off year for the inclusion of the records to the year 2019. We used the following search criteria:

("climate change" OR "climatic change" OR "climate warming" OR "global warming" OR "global change") AND (adaptation OR mitigation OR management) AND Africa.

Then, this search output was refined to address ten target countries only:

"Angola" OR "Botswana" OR "Eswatini" OR "Swaziland" OR "Lesotho" OR "Malawi" OR "Mozambique" OR "Namibia" OR "South Africa" OR "Zambia" OR "Zimbabwe" OR "southern Africa".

Finally, we limited search results to the subject areas: "environmental sciences", "social sciences", "earth and planetary sciences", and "agricultural and biological sciences", and excluded publications from the "review" category. In total, we preserved 1902 records in this phase. We referred to these records as the primary search output (see Online Resources for a detailed description of the review procedure). Second, we conducted a manual assessment of the retrieved records to identify studies that addressed climate change as an organic part of the research and/or have clear implications towards management and policy-making. Except for titles, abstracts, and keywords, we reviewed at this stage also the main texts. The most frequent reason for discarding studies identified in the primary search was their focus on African countries outside our target region and an insufficient focus on climate change (e.g. climate change was not a fundamental and integral part of the research design, and formulations related to climate change were vague). This refined set included 972 studies, i.e. 51% of the original dataset. We referred to these records as the secondary search output.

We collected several attributes for each publication, including addressed countries, thematic areas, and author's affiliations (Table 1). In thematic categories, we aimed to cover major sectors, such as agriculture, water management, forestry, and fishery. However, some categories were added ad hoc to fit better the investigated publications' scope (e.g. interdisciplinary, climate policy, and governance). To understand the level of research internationalization, we collected attributes on the author's affiliations. These attributes were also used to evaluate the proportions of African and non-African authors in the authors' teams and to identify publications in which the African authors occupied the first position. Multiple attributes were allowed for each publication (e.g. more countries or thematic categories). All records were stored and processed in the MS Access database (Microsoft, 2006-2016).

#### Drivers of publication frequency

We focused here on publications from 2015 to 2019, encompassing 54% of publications retained in the secondary search (n=972). We explored the main associations between the publication frequency and various factors explaining the differences between the countries' performance. We used a number of predictors related to the countries' social,

 Table 1 Permissible ranges of attributes collected for the investigated publications

Attributes	Variables		
Country	Angola; Botswana; Eswatini; Lesotho; Malawi; Mozambique; Namibia; South Africa; Zambia; Zimbabwe		
Thematic area	Social; Nature conservation; Agriculture; Water management; Fishery; Tourism; Education; Climate policy & governance; Forest & Forestry; Greenhouse gas management; Interdisciplinary		
Authors affiliation	African; Non-African; Mixed		
Non-African affiliation	All world's countries		
First author's affiliation	African; Non-African		
Addressed system	Ecological; Social; Social-ecological; Physical		
Scale of analysis	Local, National, Regional, Continental to global (continental + international)		
Methods of assessment	Empirical, Modelling, Combined (empirical and modelling), Theoretical/Conceptual		

🙆 Springer

economic, demographic, and environmental characteristics. The underlying data were retrieved from the World Bank's world development indicators and other sources (Table S1 in Online Resources). We tested the predictor set for redundancy using Spearman's rank correlation coefficient with a threshold value of 0.7. We retained the variable that showed a greater relevance to our study from each pair of correlated variables.

Because country-specific data on the number of publications are not comparable due to the different population sizes of the countries, we standardized the data with respect to actual population size in the countries. Using the number of publications per million inhabitants as an indicator of publication performance was not feasible because of the high differences in population size between the countries. This caused, for example, severe downweighting of South Africa and upweighting of sparsely populated Namibia. We, therefore, exploited a linear relationship between the publication frequency and the number of inhabitants and retained the residual values from this relationship (Fig. S2 in Online Resources). The produced variable thus represents the publication performance of the countries that is free of the effect of population size. To ease the interpretation of the residuals, we expressed them as the percentage of the mean value of publications in all countries in the region (158); the final quantity thus represents over- or under-performance of the countries relative to the average performance of the entire region (relative residuals, R%) (Table 2). All presented analyses were conducted in Statistica 13.4 (TIBCO) (2018) and ArcGIS Desktop v. 10.8, (ESRI 2020).

### Results

### Temporal and geographical patterns of climate change research

The number of publications identified in the primary search (n = 1902) increased during the recent two decades, reaching 150–250 papers published annually after 2015 (Fig. 2). The increase started to be pronounced in 2004 and 2008; only a few publications were recorded before 2004. Papers published after 2015 represented 54% of all publications since 2000.

The publications retained after their manual assessment (i.e. the secondary search outputs, n=972) represented 51% of the primary search, with temporal pattern closely matching the pattern of the primary search. Publications addressing South Africa were most abundant (520 publications, 53%). Proportions of publications addressing the remaining countries were relatively equal (Fig. 2).

Table 2 Number of inhabitants in countries in the study region and number of publications identified in the SCOPUS database using the search criteria described in the text. The data are for the period 2015–2019. Relative residuals indicate the under- or over-performance of individual countries with respect to the average performance of the entire region

Country	Number of inhabitants*	Total number of pub- lications (total)**	Relative residual [%]
Angola	29.34	112	-59.04
Botswana	2.18	134	20.71
Eswatini	1.12	105	4.94
Lesotho	2.1	115	8.94
Malawi	17.44	156	-2.37
Mozambique	28.25	136	-41.22
Namibia	2.4	139	23.39
South Africa	56.59	392	52.00
Zambia	16.61	140	-10.47
Zimbabwe	14.13	152	3.13

\*(millions, average, 2015–2018)

\*\*As the same publications addressed multiple countries, the number of publications indicates how many times a country has been addressed rather than the absolute number of publications

### Thematic areas and methodologies

Agriculture, hydrology and water management, social aspects of climate change, and nature conservation were thematic categories that received the greatest attention (Fig. 3). While publications on agriculture dominated in 2000–2014, social aspects of climate change, including climate justice, local climate perception, and vulnerability, started to prevail after 2015. The increasing proportion of social studies can also be seen in the inserted pie charts, indicating the prominence of social research after 2015. At the same time, the proportion of studies on ecological and physical (atmosphere, hydrology, etc.) systems slightly decreased. Publications on rural and urban aspects of climate change impacts, tourism, and fishery received only minor attention in both periods.

The largest proportion of publications (44%) addressed the local scale, mostly represented by different case studies. Then, 27% of publications addressed the national scale. The remaining publications presented different large-scale assessments (Fig. 4a). The published research was mainly was based on empirical approaches, relying on field research and past climate observations (34%). Modelling approaches aiming to forecast the impacts and formulate forward-looking management strategies were identified, too, accounting for 24% of the publications (Fig. 4b). Finally, 16% of publications employed combined empirical-modelling



Fig. 2 Temporal evolution of publications on different aspects of climate change research in southern Africa identified in the Scopus database. Primary search output indicates the total number of publications extracted from Scopus (n=1902). Secondary search output (n=972) indicates studies, which were retained after the manual

evaluation of the primary search. The insert shows the distribution of the retained publications by country. Country codes: AGO – Angola; BWA – Botswana; SWZ – Eswatini; LSO – Lesotho; MWI – Malawi; MOZ – Mozambique; NAM – Namibia; ZAF – South Africa; ZMB – Zambia and ZWE – Zimbabwe

approaches, and 27% of publications addressed various conceptual and theoretical questions.

### Authorship

We found that 42% and 39% of all studies published during 2000–2014 and 2015–2019, respectively, were published by authors affiliated with African organizations only (Fig. 5). The mixed authorship (i.e. authors with African and non-African affiliations) accounted for 29% of all publications in 2000–2014 and increased to 32% in 2015–2019. The proportion of studies with mixed authorship steadily increased during the recent two decades, peaking in 2017 and 2018 (38 and 34% of the total publications, respectively) (Fig. S4 in Online Resources).

Non-African authors in the mixed authorship category were dominated by European affiliations accounting for 57% and 63% of all publications in the two studied periods (Fig. 5). There was no clear geographical pattern in the frequency of publications with mixed authorship. While Zimbabwe showed the highest proportion of mixed authorship studies in the former period (37%), it ranked last in the latter period (Fig. S3 in Online Resources). Still, differences between countries are not large. Finally, studies published by the non-African teams accounted for 29% of all publications in both two periods and were dominated by the European authors (54 and 56%, respectively).

In the mix-authorship category, 55% of publications (n=296) had the first author with an African affiliation. This proportion increased to ca 65% in the period 2015–2019. However, these publications represented only 17% of the

total number of publications (i.e. African, non-African, and mixed authorship; n = 972), reaching 19% of all publications during the recent 6 years (Fig. 6).

### Research drivers

The standardized publication performance (R%; Table 2 and Table S1 in Online Resources) indicates significant underperformance of Mozambique (-41% relative to the regional average) and Angola (-59%) during the entire study period. On the contrary, South Africa exceeded the regional average by 52%. The remaining countries remained in the band of  $\pm 25\%$  of the regional average.

We found a loose correlation of R% with the GDP per capita (Fig. 7). Mozambique and Angola showed significantly lower values of R% than was the expected (fitted) value. South Africa, on the other hand, was superior to the rest of the countries in the region. It significantly outperformed Namibia and Botswana, which have a similar GDP.

Government spending on education (% of GDP) showed a certain association with the publication frequency too. High relative investments into education in Mozambique (6% of GDP) did not materialize in publication performance, and the country substantially lagged behind the rest of the region. The smallest investments into education are in Angola (3.5% of GDP), showing the most inferior standardized publication performance. Publication performance of the remaining countries shows tight association with the spending on education, with South Africa being a positive outlier.

The level of political and social globalization represented here by the KOF Globalization Index (Gygli et al. 2019) was



Fig. 3 Relative frequency of publications on different thematic areas (%). The inserted pie charts indicate the distribution of publications in broader categories. Results for periods 2000-2014 (a) and 2015-

2019 (b) are shown. We note that if a publication addressed multiple thematic areas, it was counted multiple times

most closely associated with the region's publication performance. Similar to the previous indicators, Angola and Mozambique showed the smallest performance, and South Africa the highest.

### **Discussion and conclusion**

Climate change research is increasing globally, yet geographical differences in our understanding of major



Regional Environmental Change (2022) 22:18



Fig. 4 Publications on different aspects of climate change categorized with respect to the scale of research (a) and used methodological approaches (b). The category Combined includes publications combining empirical and model-based approaches

impacts, drivers, and responses remain large (Blicharska et al. 2017; Arnell et al. 2019). Although southern Africa, except for South Africa, represents one of the world's most understudied regions with poor research infrastructure and human resources (Kusangaya et al. 2014), we found that the region has experienced remarkable progress in climate change research during the recent two decades. We further discuss a broader background of our findings and implications for future research planning and development in the region.

### **Publication patterns and drivers**

We found that research addressing climate change impacts jointly with management responses received only marginal attention before 2004. However, during the recent 15 years, this field has accelerated, reaching up to 200 papers published annually after 2015. Interestingly, research on the adaptive capacity to climate change was found to accelerate after 2004 also globally (Siders 2019), corresponding with the recognition of climate change impacts and the need for adaptation actions (Mcdowell et al. 2016; IPCC 2018). The identified acceleration of climate change research agrees with Zinyengere et al. (2013) and Ford et al. (2015). The latter authors even found that research on adaptation to climate change in southern and eastern Africa outperformed the remaining African regions. This development complies with the continent's strategic framework, the Africa 2063 Agenda. It also corresponds with the increasing involvement of the African governments in global discussions, including those leading to the formulation of strategic documents such as the Paris Agreement adopted at "The 2015 United Nations Climate Change Conference in Paris" (United Nations 2015), and the "Sustainable Development Goals" adopted by the United Nations in 2015.

Despite the imbalanced natural and socio-economic conditions amongst the countries, we found that the investigated publications paid relatively balanced attention to all major sectors, such as agriculture, forestry, and water management. The geographical imbalance in the research performance was, however, large. The investigated dataset was greatly dominated by the South African publications (53%), while countries such as Angola, Lesotho, and Eswatini received only minor research attention (Sooryamoorthy 2018). However, the research environment in Angola is strongly influenced by a partnership with Portugal, Brazil, and Cuba. A certain proportion of publications was thus published in Portuguese, and therefore, it was not included in our review. This has likely underestimated this country's performance.

The prominence of South Africa reflects on the advanced research infrastructure, including climate observation and monitoring programmes (Ziervogel et al. 2014) and socialeconomic indicators that significantly exceed the remaining countries. South Africa is also engaged in strategic actions such as Climate Change Research guided by South Africa's National Climate Change Adaptation Strategy or different bilateral initiatives (e.g. Swiss-South African Joint Research Programme, UK-SA Newton Fund, South Africa/German Collaborative Programme), which support national research organizations. South Africa has also established the National Research Foundation, a national funding entity missing in the remaining countries in the region.

Our analysis of thematic areas addressed by the investigated publications indicated that climate change impacts on agriculture and adaptation actions have received the greatest attention. Such a finding was expected because agriculture is the most important sector supporting the majority of the



Fig. 5 International composition of the author teams in the investigated publications. Horizontal blocks on the top and bottom indicate the proportion of publications with different authorship (African: only Africa-affiliated authors; Non-African: only authors with affilia-

population in sub-Saharan Africa (Calzadilla et al. 2013). It agrees with Ford et al. (2015), who found out that about onethird of the reviewed studies on the status of climate change adaptation in 47 countries in Africa and Asia addressed the agriculture sector, particularly in semi-arid countries. Also, Bizikova et al. (2015) claimed that the main climate change adaptation priorities at the national and sectoral planning level in the semi-arid areas of Africa and Asia are focused on agriculture.

tions from outside Africa; Mixed: authors with African and non-African affiliations). The embedded pie charts indicate the contribution of different countries to studies published by mixed teams. Results for two periods, 2000–2014 and 2015–2019, are shown

However, a closer look at the temporal frequency of main thematic areas reveals a certain shift in the research focus. While the publications on agriculture dominated up to 2014, studies on social aspects of climate change impacts and adaptation started to prevail after 2015, likely reflecting on the increasing demand to reinforce social sciences in climate change research (Billi et al. 2019). Such a shift corresponds with the Sustainable Development Goals introduction, which strongly focuses on the social aspect of climate



Fig. 6 Number of publications on different aspects of climate change in southern Africa with an African affiliation of the first author (columns, left axis). Percent of these publications out of the total number of publications in each year is indicated, too (line, right axis)

change (Herrero-Jáuregui et al. 2018). De Vos et al. (2019) suggested that research of coupled social-ecological systems has significantly advanced in southern Africa, compared to other parts of the continent. Such a development was also observed in water research in southern Africa, which increasingly adopts a holistic perception, addressing natural (water cycle) and human (social, economic, governance, and policy aspects) dimensions (de Clercq et al. 2018; Nhamo et al. 2018; Olagunju et al. 2019). Finally, we found that research on the fishery, tourism, climate change awareness, education, and rural and urban development received a smaller attention than the earlier mentioned major categories. However, the social-ecological dimension of rural and urban systems seems to be understudied globally (Herrero-Jáuregui et al. 2018).

We identified the dominance of studies based on empirical research and focusing on the local scale. These publications were more abundant than publications exploiting modelling approaches (including research driven by the outputs of climate models) and covering regional and global scales. Kusangaya et al. (2014) stated in this regard that even though the importance of model-based climate scenarios has been widely recognized, this information is not consistently included in decision-making and lags behind more developed regions. The reasons likely stem from the lack of skilled experts and resources and the lack of well-funded and coordinated initiatives on the observation and assessment of the environmental changes.

The observed publication patterns raise questions about the drivers responsible for the differences between countries. It is recognized, for example, that research expenditures per capita correspond with quality and quantity research outputs (Dragos and Dragos 2014; North et al. 2020). Although we identified this relationship in our dataset, we found that (standardized) publication performance was best explained by the level of social and political globalization. This is consistent with previous studies, which identified massive improvement in scientific research due to economic, political, and social globalization (Simon et al. 2012). Critical aspects of globalization such as global economy and competition for market were found to be among the main drivers of scientific collaborative research and development (Ahmad 2014). Therefore, increased investments into research, education, and infrastructure will certainly support countries in improving their standards but may not deliver the desired effects unless sound globalization tendencies accompany them. Still, the relationships identified herein should be interpreted with caution due to the small sample size and the use of the standardized number of publications, limiting the comparability with other studies.

### Research leadership and international collaboration

Numerous indicators are used to assess and compare institutional or national scientific performance (de Rijcke et al. 2016; Docampo and Cram 2017). We focused here on two informative yet straightforward indicators that could have been directly extracted from the used database: affiliation of the first author and the proportion of publications conducted



Fig. 7 Associations between the standardized number of publications on different aspects of climate change in southern Africa and GDP per capita, Globalization Index, and Expenditures on education. Country codes are explained in Fig. 1

by the international teams involving African authors (de Moya-Anegon et al. 2018; Fox et al. 2018).

We found that the proportion of publications with mixed authorship (i.e. with African and non-African affiliated authors) steadily increased after 2008, reaching between 33 and 38% after 2013, and 55% of these publications had the first author with an African affiliation. This is comparable with the study of (Siders 2019), who found that half of the studies on climate change adaptive capacity conducted in Africa had an African researcher as the first author. Despite the positive trend, African authors' secondary role and the low ability to publish in international journals remain issues deserving attention (Tarkang and Bain 2019). For example, North et al. (2020) found out that about 25 of the most highly cited geoscience articles in 21 surveyed journals were published by 2744 authors and, of these, only 13 were Africans. The non-African authors in the author teams were greatly dominated by authors affiliated with European organizations (56%), followed by the USA (18%). Such a proportion likely reflects on the solid historical relationships between Africa and the European Union (EU) that has led to the establishment of different strategic agreements such as Joint Africa – EU Strategy (JAES) (Haselip and Hughes 2018).

The first authorship provides only partial information about the role of African authors, and more complex approaches need to be used in future studies, for example based on questionnaires and interviews (Breet et al. 2018). The recent tendency of splitting the credit between the first author, last author, and the corresponding author makes assessing the role of African authors in the teams even more complicated (Vasilevsky et al. 2021). Evaluating specific authors' contributions (e.g. based on the Contributor Roles Taxonomy; (McNutt et al. 2018)), which are indicated by some journals, could provide a more comprehensive picture (Whetstone and Moulaison-Sandy 2020).

The second indicator used to characterize the regional research environment was the level of research internationalization. We found that the mixed authorship accounted for 30% of all publications, while the African teams published 40% of all studies. We, however, note that our investigation aimed at a specific field of climate change impacts and adaptation; the overall level of international collaboration can differ from these values. Still, the robustness of the herein reported values is supported, for example, by North et al. (2020), who found about 30% of the articles published in geoscience journals included African authors. The large proportion of publications authored by African teams may also account for the Scopus strategy to include also national journals. The use of a more selective database could provide a different picture. Moreover, publications in non-English languages (e.g. Portuguese), which are particularly important in countries such as Angola and Mozambique, were not considered. This could have underestimated the performance of these countries.

It is noteworthy that the proportion of the international authorship may correspond with the phase of the scientific development of the countries (de Moya-Anegon et al. 2018). Following this assumption, the investigated countries except South Africa—are in a building-up phase, i.e. starting to participate in international networks, although their role often remains secondary. The proportion of papers with the international co-authorship is typically high in such countries, particularly in international journals.

### Implications for research and education planning

Numerous studies have indicated an improving research environment in southern Africa, which, as we showed here, also applies to climate change impacts and adaptation. Another sign of positive development is an increasing contribution of the African authors to global discussions on climate change, including contributions to the IPCC Special and Assessment reports. Still, these advances need to be considered in the context of underdeveloped intra-African collaboration, a pronounced "Brain Drain" phenomenon, high teaching loads of researchers, limited research funding resulting in increased competition among institutions, language barriers, and an overall lack of incentives. Such an environment causes African research to remain underrepresented in international scientific media (Mouton et al. 2008; Boshoff 2010; North et al. 2020), and highlights a need for coordinated actions to improve the research environment in the region.

Implementing new curricula of climate change–related subjects in masters and doctoral studies could be a solid incentive to improving climate change research and awareness. Such initiative can be inspired by West Africa (ECO-WAS countries) development, where ten doctoral and two master graduate study programmes related to climate change were recently established through the West African Science Service Centre on Climate Change and Adapted Land Use (WASCAL, www.wascal.org). Improved education could be an essential step towards increasing the proportion of interdisciplinary studies and broader use of advanced technologies and climate model outputs.

Improving research infrastructure and availability of climate data, including bias-corrected climate projections, would significantly enhance the current options for process-based understanding of climate change impacts in the region and formulation of adaptation strategies. The infrastructure facilitating climate change research has been recently significantly advanced in southern Africa (e.g. Kaspar et al. (2015); Helmschrot et al. (2018); Muche et al. (2018)), yet further investments are needed to reach a fully operational stage to boost the existing research. It is estimated that up to 550 million  $\notin$  are required over the next 30 years to develop a continent-wide observational infrastructure and human resources for greenhouse gas emissions monitoring reaching the European standards (López-Ballesteros et al. 2018).

Policy and institutional frameworks play a crucial role in improving research performance, which is another field that requires attention in southern Africa. The countries should, for example, establish national agencies such as the National Research Foundation in South Africa (NRF) or the National Commission on Research Science and Technology (NCRST) in Namibia, which were instrumental in overseeing and coordinating research activities. Initiatives such as the South African Applied Centre for Climate and Earth System Science (ACCESS) can be central to providing solutions for global change challenges aligned with national policies. National policies for research internationalization across the continent can be established, as it was recommended by the African Union's Agenda 2063 and its Science, Technology, and Innovation Strategy for Africa 2024 (STISA 2024). For example, the Southern African Science Service Centre for Climate Change and Adaptive Land Management (SASSCAL), which fosters climate change research based on the collaboration of African and German partners (Revermann et al. 2018), can be reinforced by additional initiatives. An improved policy and institutional environment would be conducive to joint activities of academia, the private sector, citizen science, and policy, as well as to the search for additional resources to support African publishers and scientists.

### Conclusions

Our study showed that southern Africa has significantly advanced in the field of climate change research during the recent 15 years, although regional inequalities remained. This progress concerned the number of publications and the role of African researchers in author teams and international collaboration. At the same time, we identified weaknesses, such as insufficient use of modern technologies, models, climate change scenarios, and Earth Observation products, which deserve attention in further research planning and investments. Our investigation is helping to better understand patterns and drivers of the regional research, which are critical entries to informed decisions about research investments, infrastructure development, and education transformation.

Supplementary Information The online version contains supplementary material available at https://doi.org/10.1007/s10113-022-01886-3.

Acknowledgements We acknowledge the German Federal Ministry of Education and Research (BMBF) for contributing to this research by supporting SASSCAL.

Funding This research was funded by the OPRDE grant number "EVA4.0", No.CZ.02.1.01/0.0/0.0/16\_019/0000803X.

### Declarations

Conflict of interest The authors declare no competing interests.

### References

- Adger WN, Brown I, Surminski S (2018) Advances in risk assessment for climate change adaptation policy. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society a: Mathematical, Physical and Engineering Sciences 376:20180106. https://doi.org/10.1098/rsta.2018.0106
- Ahmad A (2014) Globalization of science and technology through research and development. Open J Soc Sci 02:283–287. https:// doi.org/10.4236/jss.2014.24031
- Aker JC, Mbiti IM (2010) Mobile phones and economic development in Africa. Journal of Economic Perspectives 24:207–232. https:// doi.org/10.1080/00220388.2012.709615
- Archer ERM, Adolf W, Alexander M, Malherbe J, Weepener H et al (2017) Understanding the evolution of the 2014–2016 summer rainfall seasons in southern Africa: key lessons. Clim Risk Manag 16:22–28. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.crm.2017.03.006
- Arnell NW, Lowe JA, Challinor AJ, Osborn TJ (2019) Global and regional impacts of climate change at different levels of global temperature increase. Clim Change 155:377–391. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s10584-019-02464-z
- Baarsch F, Granadillos JR, Hare W, Knaus M, Krapp M et al (2020) The impact of climate change on incomes and convergence in Africa. World Dev 126:104699. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.world dev.2019.104699
- Baltazar CS, Rossetto EV (2020) Mozambique Field Epidemiology and Laboratory Training Program as responders workforce during

Idai and Kenneth cyclones: a commentary. Pan African Medical Journal 36:36. https://doi.org/10.11604/panj.2020.36.264.21087

- Bauer S, Scholz I (2010) Adaptation to climate change in Southern Africa: new boundaries for sustainable development? Climate Dev 2:83–93. https://doi.org/10.3763/cdev.2010.0040
- Biesbroek GR, Klostermann JEM, Termeer CJAM, Kabat P (2013) On the nature of barriers to climate change adaptation. Reg Environ Change 13:1119–1129. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10113-013-0421-y
- Billi M, Blanco G, Urquiza A (2019) What is the 'social' in climate change research? A case study on scientific representations from Chile. Minerva 57:293–315. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s11024-019-09369-2
- Bizikova L, Parry JE, Karami J, Echeverria D (2015) Review of key initiatives and approaches to adaptation planning at the national level in semi-arid areas. Reg Environ Change 15:837–850. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s10113-014-0710-0
- Blicharska M, Smithers RJ, Kuchler M, Agrawal GK, Gutiérrez JM, et al. (2017) Steps to overcome the North-South divide in research relevant to climate change policy and practice. Nature Climate Change 7:21–27.https://www.nature.com/articles/nclimate3163. Accessed 11 February 2021
- Boshoff N (2010) South-South research collaboration of countries in the Southern African Development Community (SADC). Scientometrics 84:481–503. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11192-009-0120-0
- Breet E, Botha J, Horn L, Swartz L (2018) Academic and scientific authorship practices: a survey among South African researchers. J Empir Res Hum Res Ethics 13:412–420. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 1556264618789253
- Byers E Gidden M Leclere D Balkovic J Burek P et al. (2018) Global exposure and vulnerability to multi-sector development and climate change hotspots. Environmental Research Letters 13. https:// doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/aabf45
- Calzadilla A, Zhu T, Rehdanz K, Richard SJ, Claudia R et al (2013) Economywide impacts of climate change on agriculture in Sub-Saharan Africa. Ecol Econ 93:150–165. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ecolecon.2013.05.006
- Chari F, Ngcamu BS, Novukela C (2021) Supply chain risks in humanitarian relief operations: a case of Cyclone Idai relief efforts in Zimbabwe. Journal of Humanitarian Logistics and Supply Chain Management 11:29–45. https://doi.org/10.1108/ JHLSCM-12-2019-0080
- Cochrane L, Cundill G, Ludi E, New M, Nicholls RJ et al (2017) A reflection on collaborative adaptation research in Africa and Asia. Reg Environ Change 17:1553–1561. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10113-017-1140-6
- Crespo O, Hachigonta S, Tadross M (2011) Sensitivity of southern African maize yields to the definition of sowing dekad in a changing climate. Clim Change 106:267–283. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10584-010-9924-4
- Davis-Reddy CL, Vincent K (2017) Climate risk and vulnerability: a handbook for Southern Africa, 2nd ed. Council for Scientific and Industrial Research, Pretoria, South Africa
- de Clercq W, Helmschrot J, de Witt M, Himmelsbach T, Kenabatho P, et al. (2018) Water research in southern Africa: data collection and innovative approaches towards climate change adaptation in the water sector. In: Revermann R, Krewenka KM, Schniedel U, Olwoch JM, Helmschrot J, Jürgens N (eds) Climate change and adaptive land management in southern Africa assessments, changes, challenges, and solutions. Klaus Hess Publishers, Göttingen & Windhoek, pp 54–65. https://doi.org/10.7809/b-e.00305
- de Moya-Anegon F, Guerrero-Bote VP, Lopez-Illescas C, Moed HF (2018) Statistical relationships between corresponding authorship, international co-authorship and citation impact of national research systems. J Informet 12:1251–1262. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.joi.2018.10.004
- de Rijcke S, Wouters PF, Rushforth AD, Franssen TP, Hammarfelt B et al (2016) Evaluation practices and effects of indicator use-a literature review. Research Evaluation 25:161–169. https://doi. org/10.1093/reseval/rvv038
- de Vos A, Biggs R, Preiser R (2019) Methods for understanding socialecological systems: a review of place-based studies. Ecol Soc 24:1–24. https://doi.org/10.5751/ES-11236-240416
- Docampo D, Cram L (2017) Academic performance and institutional resources: a cross-country analysis of research universities. Scientometrics 110:739–764. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s11192-016-2189-6
- Dragos CM, Dragos SL (2014) Scientific productivity versus efficiency of R&D financing: bibliometric analysis of African countries. Curr Sci 106:942–945
- Engelbrecht FA, Landman WA, Engelbrecht CJ, Landman S, Bopape MM et al (2011) Multi-scale climate modelling over Southern Africa using a variable-resolution global model. Water SA 37:647–658. https://doi.org/10.4314/wsa.v37i5.2
- ESRI (2020) ArcGIS Desktop: Release 10.8. Redlands, CA: Environmental Systems Research Institute
- Fedele G, Donatti CI, Harvey CA, Hanna L, Hole DG et al (2019) Transformative adaptation to climate change for sustainable social-ecological systems. Environ Sci Policy 101:116–125. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envsci.2019.07.001
- Flahaux ML, de Haas H (2016) African migration: trends, patterns, drivers. Comparative Migration Studies 4. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s40878-015-0015-6
- Ford JD, Berrang-Ford L, Bunce A, McKay C, Irwin M et al (2015) The status of climate change adaptation in Africa and Asia. Reg Environ Change 15:801–814. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10113-014-0648-2
- Fox CW, Rotchey JP, Paine CET (2018) Patterns of authorship in ecology and evolution: first, last, and corresponding authorship vary with gender and geography. Ecol Evol 8:11492–11507. https:// doi.org/10.1002/ece3.4584
- Girvetz E, Ramirez-Villegas J, Claessens L, Lamanna C, Navarro-Racines C, et al. (2019) Future climate projections in Africa: where are we headed? In: Rosenstock TS, Nowak A, Girvetz E (eds) The climate-smart agriculture papers: investigating the business of a productive, resilient and low emission future. Springer International Publishing, Cham, pp 15–27. https://doi.org/10.1007/ 978-3-319-92798-5 2
- Godde CM, Boone RB, Ash AJ, Waha K, Sloat LL et al (2020) Global rangeland production systems and livelihoods at threat under climate change and variability. Environ Res Lett 15:044021. https:// doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/ab7395
- Gygli S, Haelg F, Potrafke N, Sturm J (2019) The KOF Globalisation Index – revisited. Rev Int Organ 14:543–574. https://doi.org/10. 1007/s11558-019-09344-2
- Haselip J, Hughes M (2018) Africa-Europe collaborations for climate change research and innovation: what difference have they made? In: Cherry A, Haselip J, Ralphs G, Wagner IE (eds) Africa-Europe research and innovation cooperation: global challenges, bi-regional responses. Springer International Publishing, Cham, pp 81–97. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-69929-5\_5
- Helmschrot J, Thompson S, Kralisch S, Zander F (2018) The SASSCAL data and information portal. In: Revermann R, Krewenka KM, Schmiedel U, Olwoch JM, Helmschrot J, Jürgens N (eds) Climate change and adaptive land management in southern Africa – assessments, changes, challenges, and solutions. Klaus Hess Publishers, Göttingen & Windhoek, pp 112–113. https://doi.org/10.7809/b-e.00312
- Herrero-Jáuregui C, Arnaiz-schmitz C, Reyes MF, Telesnicki M, Agramonte I et al (2018) What do we talk about when we talk about social-ecological systems? A Literature Review Sustainability 10:2950. https://doi.org/10.3390/su10082950

- Hoegh-Guldberg O, Jacob D, Taylor M, Bolaños TG, Bindi M, et al. (2019) The human imperative of stabilizing global climate change at 1.5°C. Science 365:eaaw6974. https://doi.org/10.1126/science. aaw6974
- Hoffman MT, Rohde RF, Gillson L (2019) Rethinking catastrophe? Historical trajectories and modelled future vegetation change in southern Africa. Anthropocene 25:100189. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.ancene.2018.12.003
- IPCC (2018) Global warming of 1.5°C. An IPCC Special Report on the impacts of global warming of 1.5°C above pre-industrial levels and related global greenhouse gas emission pathways, in the context of strengthening the global response to the threat of climate change, sustainable development, and efforts to eradicate poverty. Masson-Delmotte V, Zhai P, Pörtner HO, Roberts D, Skea J, Shukla PR, Pirani A, Moufouma-Okia W, Péan C, Pidcock R, Connors S, Matthews JBR, Chen Y, Zhou X, Gomis MI, Lonnoy E, Maycock T, Tignor M, Waterfield T (eds). In Press.
- IPCC (2019) Climate Change and Land: an IPCC special report on climate change, desertification, land degradation, sustainable land management, food security, and greenhouse gas fluxes in terrestrial ecosystems. Shukla PR, Skea J, Calvo Buendia E, Masson-Delmotte V, Pörtner H-O, Roberts DC, Zhai P, Slade R, Connors S, van Diemen R, Ferrat M, Haughey E, Luz S, Neogi S, Pathak M, Petzold J, Portugal PJ, Vyas P, Huntley E, Kissick K, Belkacemi M, Malley J (eds). In press.
- Jurgilevich A, Räsänen A, Groundstroem F, Juhola S (2017) A systematic review of dynamics in climate risk and vulnerability assessments. Environmental Research Letters 12. https://doi.org/10. 1088/1748-9326/aa5508
- Kaspar F, Helmschrot J, Mhanda A, Butale M, de Clercq W et al (2015) The SASSCAL contribution to climate observation, climate data management and data rescue in Southern Africa. Adv Sci Res 12:171–177. https://doi.org/10.5194/asr-12-171-2015
- Kusangaya S, Warburton ML, Archer van Garderen E, Jewitt GPW (2014) Impacts of climate change on water resources in southern Africa: a review. Phys Chem Earth 67–69:47–54. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.pce.2013.09.014
- Kwiek M (2015) The internationalization of research in Europe: a quantitative study of 11 national systems from a micro-level perspective. J Stud Int Educ 19:341–359. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 1028315315572898
- Lawal S, Lennard C, Hewitson B (2019) Response of southern African vegetation to climate change at 1.5 and 2.0° global warming above the pre-industrial level. Climate Services 16:100134. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.cliser.2019.100134
- Leichenko RM, O'Brien KL (2002) The dynamics of rural vulnerability to global change: the case of southern Africa. Mitig Adapt Strat Glob Change 7:1–18. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1015860421 954
- Littell JS, Mckenzie D, Kerns BK, Cushman S, Shaw CG et al (2011) Managing uncertainty in climate-driven ecological models to inform adaptation to climate change. Ecosphere 2:109. https:// doi.org/10.1890/ES11-00114.1
- López-Ballesteros A, Beck J, Bombelli A, Grieco E, Lorencová EK, et al. (2018) Towards a feasible and representative pan-African research infrastructure network for GHG observations. Environmental Research Letters 13 https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/ aad66c
- Makate C, Makate M, Mango N (2017) Smallholder farmers' perceptions on climate change and the use of sustainable agricultural practices in the Chinyanja Triangle, Southern Africa. Social Sciences 6 https://doi.org/10.3390/socsci6010030
- Mavhura E (2020) Learning from the tropical cyclones that ravaged Zimbabwe: policy implications for effective disaster preparedness. Nat Hazards 104:2261–2275. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s11069-020-04271-7

Springer

- Mcdowell G, Ford J, Jones J (2016) Community-level climate change vulnerability research: trends, progress, and future directions. Environmental Research Letters 11 https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/11/3/033001
- McNutt MK, Bradford M, Drazen JM, Hanson B, Howard B et al (2018) Transparency in authors' contributions and responsibilities to promote integrity in scientific publication. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 115:2557–2560. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1715374115
- Mercy Corps (2019) The facts: Cyclone Idai's effect on southern Africa. https://www.mercycorps.org/blog/cyclone-idai-facts. Accessed 30 Jun 2021
- Moher D, Liberati A, Tetzlaff J, Altman DG (2009) Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses: the PRISMA statement. PLoS Med 6:e1000097. https://doi.org/10.1371/journ al.pmed.1000097
- Mouton J, Boshoff N, Waal LD, Esau S, Niekerk DV, et al. (2008) State of public science in the SADC region. In: Towards a common future: higher education in the SADC region. SARUA, pp 198–302
- Mpandeli S, Nhamo L, Hlahla S, Naidoo D, Liphadzi S et al (2020) Migration under climate change in Southern Africa: a nexus planning perspective. Sustainability 12:4722. https://doi.org/10.3390/ su12114722
- Muche G, Kruger S, Hillmann T, Josenhans K, Ribeiro C, et al. (2018) SASSCAL WeatherNet: present state, challenges, and achievements of the regional climatic observation network and database. In: Revermann R, Krewenka KM, Schmiedel U, Olwoch JM, Helmschrot J, Jürgens N (eds) Climate change and adaptive land management in southern Africa – assessments, changes, challenges, and solutions. Klaus Hess Publishers, Göttingen & Windhoek, pp 34–43. https://doi.org/10.7809/b-e.00302
- Mushawemhuka W, Rogerson JM, Saarinen J (2018) Nature-based tourism operators' perceptions and adaptation to climate change in Hwange National Park, Zimbabwe. Bulletin of Geography Socio-Economic Series 42:115–127. https://doi.org/10.2478/ bog-2018-0034
- Nhamo L, Ndlela B, Nhemachena C, Mabhaudhi T, Mpandeli S et al (2018) The water-energy-food nexus: climate risks and opportunities in Southern Africa. Water 10:567. https://doi.org/10.3390/ w10050567
- North MA, Hastie WW, Hoyer L (2020) Out of Africa: the underrepresentation of African authors in high-impact geoscience literature. Earth Sci Rev 208:103262. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.earsc irev.2020.103262
- Olagunju A, Thondhlana G, Chilima JS, Sène-Harper A, Compaoré WRN et al (2019) Water governance research in Africa: progress, challenges and an agenda for research and action. Water International 44:382–407
- Osabohien R, Matthew O, Ohalete P, Osabuohien E (2020) Population-poverty-inequality nexus and social protection in Africa. Soc Indic Res 151:575–598. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s11205-020-02381-0
- Posada R, Riede JO, Kaspar F, Mhanda A, Radithupa M, et al. (2018) Cooperation of meteorological services within SASSCAL on improving the management of observed climate data. In: Revermann R, Krewenka KM, Schmiedel U, Olwoch JM, Helmschrot J, Jürgens N (eds) Climate change and adaptive land management in southern Africa – assessments, changes, challenges, and solutions. Klaus Hess Publishers, Göttingen & Windhoek, pp 22–29. https:// doi.org/10.7809/b-e.00297
- Pricope NG, Gaughan AE, All JD, Binford MW, Rutina LP et al (2015) Spatio-temporal analysis of vegetation dynamics in relation to shifting inundation and fire regimes: disentangling environmental variability from land management decisions in a Southern African transboundary watershed. Land 4:627–655. https://doi.org/ 10.3390/land4030627

- Revermann R, Krewenka KM, Schmiedel U, Olwoch JM, Helmschrot J, et al. (2018) Climate change and adaptive land management in southern Africa – assessments, changes, challenges, and solutions. Klaus Hess Publishers, Göttingen & Windhoek.
- Schewe J, Heinke J, Gerten D, Haddeland I, Arnell NW et al (2014) Multimodel assessment of water scarcity under climate change. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 111:3245–3250. https://doi.org/10.1073/ pnas.1222460110
- Schmidhuber J, Tubiello FN (2007) Global food security under climate change. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 104:19703–19708. https://doi. org/10.1073/pnas.0701976104
- Shackleton SE, Shackleton CM (2012) Linking poverty, HIV/AIDS and climate change to human and ecosystem vulnerability in southern Africa: consequences for livelihoods and sustainable ecosystem management. Int J Sust Dev World 19:275–286. https://doi.org/ 10.1080/13504509.2011.641039
- Siders AR (2019) Adaptive capacity to climate change: a synthesis of concepts, methods, and findings in a fragmented field. Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Climate Change 10:1–18. https://doi. org/10.1002/wcc.573
- Simon D, Dilworth MF, Tonelson A (2012) The globalization of scientific research. Science and Technology 28:10–13
- Sintayehu DW (2018) Impact of climate change on biodiversity and associated key ecosystem services in Africa: a systematic review. Ecosystem Health and Sustainability 4:225–239. https://doi.org/ 10.1080/20964129.2018.1530054
- Sooryamoorthy R (2018) The production of science in Africa: an analysis of publications in the science disciplines, 2000–2015. Scientometrics 115:317–349. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11192-018-2675-0
- Tarkang EE, Bain LE (2019) The bane of publishing a research article in international journals by African researchers, the peer-review process and the contentious issue of predatory journals: a commentary. Pan African Medical Journal 32:1937–8688. https://doi. org/10.11604/pamj.2019.32.119.18351
- The World Bank World Development Indicators. https://databank. worldbank.org/source/world-development-indicators. Accessed 15 June 2020
- Thomas K, Hardy RD, Lazrus H, Mendez M, Orlove B, et al. (2019) Explaining differential vulnerability to climate change: a social science review. Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Climate Change 10. org/https://doi.org/10.1002/wcc.565
- Thompson HE, Berrang-Ford L, Ford JD (2010) Climate change and food security in Sub-Saharan Africa: a systematic literature review. Sustainability 2:2719–2733. https://doi.org/10.3390/su208 2719
- Thornton PK, Ericksen PJ, Herrero M, Challinor AJ (2014) Climate variability and vulnerability to climate change: a review. Glob Change Biol 20:3313–3328. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.12581
- TIBCO Software Inc (2018) Statistica. Software Release 13:4
- The Economist Intelligence Unit (2020) Democracy index 2019: a year of democratic setbacks and popular protest. https://www.in.gr/wpcontent/uploads/2020/01/Democracy-Index-2019.pdf. Accessed 15 Jun 2020
- Tucker J, Daoud M, Oates N, Few R, Conway D et al (2015) Social vulnerability in three high-poverty climate change hot spots: what does the climate change literature tell us? Reg Environ Change 15:783–800. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10113-014-0741-6
- Unicef (2019) Cyclone Idai and Kenneth cause devastation and suffering in Mozambique. https://www.unicef.org/mozambique/en/ cyclone-idai-and-kenneth. Accessed 30 Jun 2021
- United Nations (2015) Paris Agreement to the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change. http://unfccc.int/files/essen tial\_background/convention/application/pdf/english\_paris\_agree ment.pdf. Accessed 30 Jun 2021
- van Vliet MTH, Franssen WHP, Yearsley JR, Ludwig F, Haddeland I et al (2013) Global river discharge and water temperature under

climate change. Glob Environ Chang 23:450-464. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2012.11.002

- Vasilevsky NA, Hosseini M, Teplitzky S, Ilik V, Mohammadi E et al (2021) Is authorship sufficient for today's collaborative research? A call for contributor roles. Account Res 28:23–43. https://doi. org/10.1080/08989621.2020.1779591
- Vogel C, Steynor A, Manyuchi A (2019) Climate services in Africa: re-imagining an inclusive, robust and sustainable service. Climate Services 15:100107. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cliser.2019.100107
- Whetstone D, Moulaison-Sandy H (2020) Quantifying authorship: a comparison of authorship rubrics from five disciplines. Proceedings of the Association for Information Science and Technology 57:e277. https://doi.org/10.1002/pra2.277
- Ziervogel G, New M, van Garderen EA, Midgley G, Taylor A et al (2014) Climate change impacts and adaptation in South Africa. Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Climate Change 5:605–620. https://doi.org/10.1002/wcc.295
- Zinyengere N, Crespo O, Hachigonta S (2013) Crop response to climate change in southern Africa: a comprehensive review. Global Planet Change 111:118–126. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloplacha. 2013.08.010

Publisher's note Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

5.2 Climate change impacts on ecosystems and adaptation options in nine countries in southern Africa: What do we know?



Climate change impacts on ecosystems and adaptation options in nine countries in southern Africa: What do we know?

Alpo Kapuka D and Tomáš Hlásny D†

Czech University of Life Sciences Prague, Faculty of Forestry and Wood Sciences, Kamýcká 129, Prague 6 - Suchdol 165 00 Czech Republic

Citation: Kapuka, A., and T. Hlásny. 2021. Climate change impacts on ecosystems and adaptation options in nine countries in southern Africa: What do we know? Ecosphere 12(12):e03860. 10.1002/ecs2.3860

Abstract. Southern Africa harbors exceptional biodiversity that is increasingly threatened by climate change, land use, and other pressures. However, risks to the regional ecosystems and quality and consistency of adaptation strategies remain understudied, making conservation and restoration efforts challenging. Here, we reviewed scientific articles published during the period 2000-2020, which (1) addressed observed and projected impacts of climate change on different species, populations, and ecosystems in nine southern African countries, and (2) formulated management and policy responses aiming to mitigate these impacts. We identified and evaluated 28 papers meeting these search criteria. We found that the three components of our investigation, that is, ecosystem type, type of impact, and management and policy responses, were covered by research rather fragmentarily. However, the reviewed publications addressed a large variety of species and ecosystems and a variety of processes, from local extinction, range contraction, and increased mortality to modified inter-specific interactions. The identified human responses included active vegetation and animal management, improved conservation policies, and monitoring. Most of the publications highlighted severe data limitations, lacking coordination of conservation policies, and insufficient consideration of transient environmental conditions in management and policy planning. We conclude that the current level of understanding of climatic threats to species and ecosystems is limited in southern Africa, and new coordinated research and monitoring actions are needed. This review characterized the high diversity of climate change risks to ecosystems and related social responses, potentially helping to attract further research attention and inform regional adaptation strategies.

Key words: biodiversity; climate change adaptation; ecosystem management; extinction; monitoring; nature conservation.

Received 14 May 2021; revised 6 August 2021; accepted 17 August 2021. Corresponding Editor: Aaron M. Lien. Copyright: © 2021 The Authors. *Ecosphere* published by Wiley Periodicals LLC on behalf of The Ecological Society of America. This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited. † E-mail: hlasny@fld.czu.cz

# INTRODUCTION

Climate change is a major threat to global biodiversity at all levels, from genes to biomes (Bellard et al. 2012, Pecl et al. 2017, Runting et al. 2017). Despite the commitments to halt these losses, including the Convention on Biological

ECOSPHERE \* www.esajournals.org

Diversity and United Nations Sustainable Development Goals, the outcomes today have been poor (Waldron et al. 2017). Africa harbors exceptional biodiversity values, which are increasingly threatened by climate change and other pressures (López-Carr et al. 2014, Palazzo et al. 2017, Vogel et al. 2019). Increased human population,

December 2021 \* Volume 12(12) \* Article e03860

urbanization, and limited alternative sources of livelihoods exert more pressure on natural resources and hamper conservation efforts (Darkoh 2009, Wangai et al. 2016). In many parts of Africa, these pressures have resulted in the degradation of ecosystems, further increasing their vulnerability to climate change (Sintayehu 2018). This concerns a broad range of ecosystems, including savannas, tropical forests, coral reefs, aquatic habitats, wetlands, and montane ecosystems (Thiaw 2015, Sintayehu 2018). The range collapse and steep decline in African elephants and rhinoceros' populations are examples of the most distinct impacts on wildlife (Dinerstein et al. 2019). Vegetation productivity is projected to decline over most of southern Africa (Lawal et al. 2019), with severe impacts on the structure and functioning of the savanna ecosystems (Ryan et al. 2016, Osborne et al. 2018). Climate change-driven sea-level rise affects coastal areas of southern Africa, causing increased coastal erosion, loss of coral reefs, and the salination of groundwater and river systems (Bauer and Scholz 2010). The valuable mangroves in southern Africa are experiencing elevated mortality due to excessive river flooding and heavy cyclonal rains (Nikolau et al. 2017).

Extreme temperatures, erratic rainfall, and increasing evapotranspiration demand, coupled with high intensity of human activities, are likely to exceed the resilience limits of many ecosystems and trigger irreversible landscape transformation (IPCC 2019). These impacts are particularly pronounced in southern Africa, where recent changes in climate severely affected various ecosystems and disrupted their services to society (Kusangaya et al. 2014, Rosendo et al. 2018). The recurrent droughts experienced in most parts of the region have seriously affected many ecological systems (Guo et al. 2016), including those of high conservation value. For example, recent increases in fire intensity and frequency have led to the decline of woody biomass in the African savanna woodlands, including the Miombo woodland (Kuyah et al. 2014), which was defined by the World Wildlife Fund (WWF) to be one of the Priority Places harboring exceptional biodiversity values (Warren et al. 2018).

The progressive loss of biodiversity and ecosystem degradation have been increasingly scrutinized because of the high dependence of human populations in Africa on ecosystem services (Wangai et al. 2016). The human populations, particularly in rural areas, depend on essential ecosystem services, including food, water, medicine, recreational, aesthetic, cultural, and spiritual values (Chirwa et al. 2008, Thiaw 2015, Ryan et al. 2016). It is estimated that more than ten million people in southern Africa reside

within hazard-prone areas, and their livelihoods vitally depend on hazard-exposed agricultural practices (Global Drought Observatory 2019). Mitigating these impacts will be increasingly difficult because sub-Saharan Africa is expected to be one of the regions with the highest increase in population density (Jones and O'Neill 2016).

Southern African countries have recently made progress in many areas of ecosystem management (Darkoh 2009), including research and monitoring, biodiversity conservation, education, and awareness-building (Wisely et al. 2018). Such progress has been facilitated by initiatives such as The Southern Africa Development Community (SADC) Forestry Strategy, promoting the sustainable utilization of forest resources; The Regional Biodiversity Strategy, providing a framework for cooperation on transboundary environmental issues (SADC 2008); and The Protocol on Shared Watercourses Systems, defining the principles for managing shared water ecosystems in the region (Muller 2018).

Halting the progressive biodiversity loss, restoring disturbed ecosystems, and adapting them to climate change requires a profound understanding of ecosystem dynamics affected by climate change (Walther 2010, Hruska et al. 2017, Inman et al. 2020, Malhi et al. 2020). Such understanding facilitates, for example, the formulation of policies accommodating transient ecosystem dynamics into conservation planning (Heller and Zavaleta 2009, Watson et al. 2012, Wisely et al. 2018). However, southern Africaexcept for South Africa, is relatively understudied concerning vulnerabilities related to climate change, social perception of these risks, and effects of local management practices, which can both enhance and erode the adaptive capacity of ecosystems (Kusangaya et al. 2014). This situation is related to the poorly developed research and monitoring infrastructure, insufficient human capacities, and institutional settings (Kusangaya et al. 2014, Haselip and Hughes

ECOSPHERE \* www.esajournals.org

2

December 2021 🛠 Volume 12(12) 🛠 Article e03860

2018, Wisely et al. 2018). The lack of human resources was identified as a significant factor hampering the ability of local governments to address critical risks for coastal ecosystems, such as erosion, uncontrolled development, unsustainable utilization of resources, and habitat degradation in parts of South Africa and Mozambique (Rosendo et al. 2018).

We focused here on nine southern African countries, which have poorly developed research infrastructure and human resources, and where our understanding of climate change risks and adaptation measures significantly lags behind more developed countries and regions. Aiming to narrow the existing knowledge gaps, we reviewed the scientific literature published during the last 20 yr that was dedicated to climate change impacts on different ecosystems and, at the same time, formulated measures aiming to mitigate these impacts. Because the science production in the studied region is relatively low, our research is intended to highlight the diversity of impacts and social responses rather than provide consistent framework supporting management and policy decisions. Still, the countries addressed share many ecosystems and management practices, and this review can thus inform conservation and adaptation efforts in different locations.

# MATERIAL AND METHODS

# Study area

We investigated nine countries in the southern African region: Angola, Botswana, Swaziland/ Eswatini, Lesotho, Malawi, Mozambique, Namibia, Zambia, and Zimbabwe (Fig. 1). We deliberately omitted South Africa in this research, as the country's high science production would dominate the review, potentially distracting from our idea to evaluate the situation in countries where the gap between climate change risk and adaptation options is most severe. At the same time, the addressed countries cover diverse social-economic contexts and a range of natural conditions, suggesting a high diversity of impacts and adaptation strategies. Still, we consider numerous transnational ecosystems shared by the target countries and South Africa, and we discuss the options for transnational knowledge transfer when it comes to adaptation strategies.

Southern Africa is arid to semi-arid region containing diverse ecosystems such as savannas, wetlands, woodlands, deserts, marine, and freshecosystems. The region water contains biodiversity-rich ecosystems with transboundary conservation significance, such as the Kavango-Zambezi and Lubombo (Fox et al. 2017). The region comprises four ecoregions: tropical and subtropical moist broadleaf forests; tropical and subtropical grassland savannah and dry forests; montane grasslands and shrubland; and dryland desert and Mediterranean woodland (Abson et al. 2012). The Miombo and mopane woodlands are some of the dominant ecosystems (Dewees et al. 2010, Ryan et al. 2016). The region also contains important transboundary freshwater ecosystems such as the Okavango delta, Orange River Basin, Cuvelai Basin, Zambezi Basin, and the marine ecosystem of the Benguela Current along the coast of Angola, Namibia, and South Africa.

The study region represents one of the global climate change hot spots due to its erratic climatic regimes and high observed and projected climatic risks (Hoegh-Guldberg et al. 2019). Climate extremes, particularly droughts, regularly trigger wildlife mortality, cause habitat degradation, reduce the abundance of different species, and place conservation objectives at risk (Kupika et al. 2017, Sintayehu 2018). Climate-mediated risks in the region include deforestation and desertification, forest fires, floods, and recurring droughts. For example, the region has experienced extremely poor rainfalls in 2014/2015, 2015/2016, and 2018/2019 (Archer et al. 2017) and devastating cyclones in 2019 (Idai and Kenneth), which mainly affected Malawi, Mozambique, and Zimbabwe (Baltazar and Rossetto 2020, Mavhura 2020, Chari et al. 2021).

# Methods

Literature review.—We conducted a systematic literature review aiming to identify scientific papers dealing with climate change impacts on different ecosystems of nine countries in the southern African region and, at the same time, formulating measures aiming to mitigate these impacts. The publications were extracted from the Scopus database (SciVerse Scopus 2013) following the PRISMA workflow (Appendix S1: Fig. S1) (Moher et al. 2009). The search covered

ECOSPHERE \* www.esajournals.org

3

December 2021 🛠 Volume 12(12) 🛠 Article e03860



Fig. 1. Southern African countries investigated in this study and their location in Africa. The Biodiversity Habitat Index (Wendling et al. 2020) is shown.

the period from January 2000 to April 2020. We used the following search criteria:

("climate change" OR "climatic change" OR "climate warming" OR "global warming" OR "global change") AND (adaptation OR mitigation OR management) AND ("Africa")

The search was then limited to the following countries:

"Angola" OR "Botswana" OR "Eswatini" OR "Swaziland" OR "Lesotho" OR "Malawi" OR "Mozambique" OR "Namibia" OR "Zambia" OR "Zimbabwe"

We further limited the search results to publications in English and to subject areas: "environmental sciences", "social sciences", "earth and planetary sciences" and "agricultural and biological sciences". Publications pertaining to "review" category were excluded.

Further, we used the Google Scholar database to identify papers not captured by the previous SCOPUS-based search. In this way, we added seven more papers. This search yielded 438 publications. Next, we reviewed these publications and retained only those addressing explicitly different species, populations, and ecosystems in the target region. We retained 118 publications in this phase. Finally, we identified a subset of publications, which explicitly provided information about (1) climate change-related impacts on ecosystems, species, or populations, (2) provided evident characteristics of these ecological units, and (3) informed about management actions supporting adaptation to climate change. We retained 28 publications in this phase, that is, 6% of the original dataset (n = 438).

ECOSPHERE \* www.esajournals.org

December 2021 🛠 Volume 12(12) 🛠 Article e03860

The retained studies were subjected to a detailed review in order to extract information such as the geographical location of the ecosystems, type of climate change-related impacts, and proposed management strategies and actions.

# RESULTS

The 28 studies that met our search criteria were published between 2006 and 2020, with most of them (18) appearing after 2014. The largest number of publications addressed Namibia (8) and Zimbabwe (6). Spatially, 43% of studies addressed geographically restricted systems, while the remaining studies addressed the entire study region or were part of continental or larger scale assessments (Fig. 2).

# Addressed ecosystems, populations, and species

The identified publications addressed both terrestrial (86%, 24 papers) and aquatic (14%, four papers) ecosystems (Table 1). In the case of terrestrial ecosystems, 14 publications (58%) addressed vegetation, six publications (25%) addressed mammals, three publications (13%) birds, and one publication addressed insects.

In the case of aquatic ecosystems, we identified three papers addressing coral reefs (Mcclanahan et al. 2011), African penguins (*Spheniscus demersus*) (Sherley et al. 2017), and Cape fur seals (*Arctocephalus pusillus pusillus*) (Kirkman et al. 2011).



Fig. 2. Impacts of climate change on ecosystems, species, and populations in nine southern African countries identified in the reviewed publications. The silhouettes were obtained from https://silhouette-ac.com.

ECOSPHERE \* www.esajournals.org

December 2021 🛠 Volume 12(12) 🛠 Article e03860

Table 1.	Ecosystems,	species, a	and populations	addressed by	the reviewed	publications.

Ecosystem type	Group	Ecosystem, population, or species	Geographical location
Terrestrial	Mammals	Elephants (Loxodonta africana)	Ten national parks across southern African savannas: Namibia (Etosha and Khaudum National Parks); Botswana (Chobe National Park, Moremi Wildlife Reserve, and Ngamiland); South Africa (Kruger National Park); Zambia (Lower Zambezi, the northern, and southern parts of Kafue and South Luangwa National Parks)
		Burchell's zebra ( <i>Equus quagga burchellii</i> ) African lions ( <i>Panthera leo</i> )	Botswana, Moremi Game Reserve, Okavango Delta 27 sites across Africa, including Botswana (Chobe, Moremi, Makgadikgadi, Central Kalahari and Gemsbok); Namibia (Kunene and Etosha); South Africa (Kalahari-Gemsbok, Kruger, and Hluhluwe- Imfolozi); Zambia (South Luangwa and Kafue); Zimbabwe (Mana Pools)
		African Wild Dog (Lycaon pictus) Small mammals, including Bushveld gerbils (Gerbilliscus leucogaster), Desert pygmy mouse (Mus indutus), Brant's climbing mouse (Dendromus mesomelas), Fat mouse (Steatomys pratensis), and multimammate mice (Mastomys natalensis and Mastomys coucha)	Southern Africa North-western Botswana, Okavango Delta
		Population of herbivores	Hwange National Park, Zimbabwe
	Birds	Large-bodied savanna birds	Southern Kalahari sayannas
		Different bird assemblages	Fynbos and grassland biomes of South Africa, Lesotho and, Eswatini
		Bank Cormorant (Phalacrocorax neglectus)	Robben Island (South Africa) and Mercury Island (Namibia)
	Insects Desert locust (Schistocerca gregaria gregaria) and (Schistocerca gregaria flaviventris)		Southern Africa
	Vegetation	Vegetation sensu lato	Main biomes of Southern Africa
		Woody species (Acacia erioloba; Acacia karroo; Baikiaea plurijuga; Boscia albitrunca; Burkea africana; Colophospermum mopane; Combretum imberbe; Faidherbia albida; Guibourtia coleosperma; Pterocarnus angolensis)	Namibian savanna
		Woodland vegetation	Northern Botswana, Chobe district
		Mountain vegetation	Creat Eccomment of South Africa and Legothe
		African savanna woody species (Acacia polyacantha, Acacia sieberana, Bauhinia thonningii, Dichrostachys Cinerea, and Zizinhus ahussinica)	Savanna of Central Zambia
		Woody vegetation	Mozambique, Miombo woodland
		Shrubs Acacia erioloba and Grewia flava	Southern Africa, southern Kalahari savannas
		Perennial grass	Namihia, central Kalahari sayanna
		Wild teak Pterocarnus angolensis	Southern Africa Kalabari
		Baikiaea-Pterocarpus woodland	Kavango—Zambezi Trans-frontier Conservation Area (KAZA TFCA)
		Welwitschia mirabilis Hook	Namibia, Namib Desert
		African wild loquat Uapaca kirkiana	South-central Africa, including Angola, Malawi, Zambia, and Zimbabwe
		Julbernardia globiflora and Julbernardia paniculata	Miombo woodlands of central, eastern and southem Africa including Angola, Malawi, Mozambique, Zambia and Zimbabwe
		Asiatic witchweed Striga asiatica	Zimbabwe, 10 provinces
Marine	Mammals	Cape Fur Seal (Arctocephalus pusillus pusillus)	South Africa, Namibia and, Angola; The Benguela Current Large Marine Ecosystem (BCLME)
	Birds	African penguins (Spheniscus demersus)	South Africa and Namibia; The Benguela Current Large Marine Ecosystem (BCLME)
Freshwater	Coral Wildlife	Coral reefs Freshwater, Malilangwe Reservoir	Eastern coast of Mozambique and South Africa South-eastern lowveld of Zimbabwe

ECOSPHERE \* www.esajournals.org 6 December 2021 \* Volume 12(12) \* Article e03860

The only study on freshwater systems addressed the effects of climate change on water quality in the Malilangwe Reservoir in Zimbabwe and the cascading effects on humans and wildlife (Dalu and Wasserman 2018).

# Climate change impacts

We categorized the identified impacts as local extinction, increased mortality, habitat loss and/ or change in distribution, and other specific impacts (Appendix S1: Table S3). From the time perspective, 13 publications reported observed impacts with the dominance of habitat loss and range contraction, and 15 publications addressed future impacts relying on various analytical projections (Appendix S1: Tables S1, S2). Most of the projections addressed the period between 2040 and 2070 (Fig. 3). However, two studies (Mcclanahan et al. 2011, Scherer et al. 2016) informed about the future risks to coral reefs and birds without specifying the target period. Most of the future impacts also addressed habitat loss and range contraction, while only two publications reported the projected mortality (Tews et al. 2006, de Cauwer et al. 2014). We note that we included only those impacts, which were explicitly associated with climate change by the authors.

Local extinction.—Potential local extinction of the Cape Fur Seals was identified in the Benguela Current Large Marine Ecosystem in the Western coast of South Africa, Namibia, and Angola (Kirkman et al. 2011). The extinction was mainly associated with the wide-scale changes in the marine environment, including a reduced abundance of seals' prey due to projected changes in climate.

Local extinction was predicted for largebodied bird species in the semi-arid African savannas using a trait-based functional type model (Scherer et al. 2016). The main driver of the extinction was habitat loss due to increased shrub encroachment and degradation of herbaceous plant cover, driven by climate change and poor land management.

Climate change and industrial fishing were found to cause the depletion of forage fish stocks,



Fig. 3. Observed and projected impacts identified in the reviewed publications. The type of projected impacts and the addressed time horizons are indicated. We note that two papers, which addressed the projected impacts but did not specify the time frame, are not indicated in the figure. Publication codes: 1—Scherer et al. (2016); 2—Jinga et al. (2020); 3—De Cauwer et al. (2014); 4—Tews et al. (2006); 5—Peterson et al. (2014); 6—Bentley et al. (2019); 7—Bombi (2018); 8—Jones et al. (2016); 9—Lohman et al. (2012); 10—Saito et al. (2014); 11—Lawal et al. (2019); 12—Mudereri et al. (2020); 13—Meynard et al. (2017).

ECOSPHERE \* www.esajournals.org

December 2021 🛠 Volume 12(12) 🛠 Article e03860

reducing the population of African penguins on the western coast of Namibia and South Africa (Sherley et al. 2017). The observed impact was pronounced in the juvenile individuals.

A decrease in species richness of bird assemblage of fynbos and grassland biomes by 30–40% was identified in South Africa, Lesotho, and Eswatini by 2085 (Huntley and Barnard 2012). This included the prominent pollinators such as the Cape Sugarbird (*Promerops cafer*), Malachite Sunbird (*Nectarinia famosa*), and Orange-breasted Sunbird (*Anthobaphes violacea*). The authors predicted the risk of complete extinction for two species, the Rudd's lark (*Heteromirafra ruddi*) and Botha's lark (*Spizocorys fringillaris*) by 2055.

The risk of local extinction resulting in the reduced natural range of distribution was identified for commercially and ecologically important tree species, the African wild loquat (*Uapaca kirkiana* Müll.) in south-central Africa. This risk was identified under different climate scenarios for the time horizons 2050 and 2070 by means of the maximum entropy method (Jinga et al. 2020).

Finally, the potential loss of coral reefs was predicted to occur in some parts of the eastern coast of Mozambique and South Africa (Mcclanahan et al. 2011). The authors used a multivariate stress model to identify the risks of coral bleaching due to projected high temperature, light, and sea current variability.

*Increased mortality.*—Elevated mortality was reported in ten national parks in southern Africa for African elephants (*Loxodonta africana*), particularly for young individuals. The mortality was pronounced in enclosed reserves limiting the elephant's migration and was likely associated with the reduced rainfall (Shrader et al. 2010).

Increased mortality risk was identified for the Bank Cormorant (*Phalacrocorax neglectus*) occurring on the southern African coastline of Robben Island (South Africa) and Mercury Island (Namibia) (Sherley et al. 2012). The authors used the Mayfield method and parametric survival approaches to attribute the mortality to heatwaves, level of sea waves, and strength of storms, which cause the nest failure, reduce chick survival, and compromise breeding productivity.

Increased mortality, particularly in the seedling stage, and decline in the distribution of shrub Velvet raisin (*Grewia flava*) were projected to occur in the southern African Kalahari savannas due to decreased annual precipitation and droughts (Tews et al. 2006).

A warmer climate was found to cause the decline in seedling emergence and mortality of seedlings of savanna woody species, such as *Acacia polyacantha, Bauhinia thonningii, Dichrostachys cinerea,* and *Ziziphus abyssinica* (Chidumayo 2008).

Climate change is expected to reduce the range of Wild teak (*Pterocarpus angolensis*) in the western part of southern Africa, with a risk of species decline by up to 50% across Namibia and Botswana (de Cauwer et al. 2014).

The increased seasonal climate variability is expected to increase the mortality of woody vegetation in north-eastern Botswana (Chobe district), leading to a decline in woodland cover in the savanna and an increase in shrublands. These processes were mediated by the intensified climate–fire feedback (Fox et al. 2017).

Habitat loss and range contraction.—Range contraction of the population of African lion (*Panthera leo*) was projected to occur across southern and western Africa by means of ecological niche models. The drivers of the contraction were particularly the increasing temperature and decreasing rainfall (Peterson et al. 2014).

Habitat loss and related population decline were identified for the population of Burchell's zebra (*Equus* quagga *burchellii*) in the Moremi Game Reserve of the Okavango delta. This mainly concerned the loss of floodplains maintained by the climatically sensitive seasonal flooding regime (Bartlam-Brooks et al. 2013).

Small mammals of the Okavango Delta (northwestern Botswana), such as Bushveld gerbils (*Gerbilliscus leucogaster*), Desert pygmy mouse (*Mus indutus*), Brant's climbing mouse (*Dendromus mesomelas*), Fat mouse (*Steatomys pratensis*), and multimammate mice *Mastomys natalensis* and *M. coucha*, were found to experience the loss of their microhabitats, which are the key determinant of the population recovery after fire. The habitat loss was mainly associated with the expansion of wildfires driven by climate change (Plavsic 2014).

Range suitability for the African Wild Dog (*Lycaon pictus*) was projected to decline by 2050, particularly in Namibia, Botswana, Zimbabwe, and Mozambique. The decline is mainly related

ECOSPHERE \* www.esajournals.org

December 2021 🛠 Volume 12(12) 🛠 Article e03860

to the changes in climatic conditions and land use and high interspecific competition with the African lion (*Panthera leo*) (Jones et al. 2016).

Climate-driven fluctuations of surface water affected the distribution of large herbivores in the Hwange National Park (Zimbabwe) (Chamaillé-Jammes et al. 2007). The variability in annual rainfall mainly drove the water level variation.

Climate warming caused the retreat of montane woody vegetation toward higher elevations in the Great Escarpment of South Africa and Lesotho (Bentley et al. 2019). This is expected to result in the overall contraction of the distribution of the constituent species.

De Cauwer et al. (2016) identified potential range decline of species such as the Wild syringa (*Burkea Africana*), Wild Plum (*Ochna pulchra*), and Kalahari podberry (*Dialium englerianum*) in the woodlands of the Kavango-Zambezi Transfrontier Conservation Area (KAZA TFCA) in Namibia and Angola. The range contraction was likely driven by climate change, particularly increasing temperatures and droughts.

Several woody species of the Namibian savanna, such as the African teak (*Baikiaea plurijuga*), Wild syringa (*Burkea Africana*), African rosewood (*Guibourtia coleosperma*), and Wild teak (*Pterocarpus angolensis*) were found to experience decline in their physiological performances, resulting in the decrease of their distribution. The range decline was driven by reduced rainfall and increased temperature, and the associated water deficit (Burke 2006).

The severe decline in perennial grasses, leading to the reduction in the carrying capacity of the grassland ecosystem, was projected to occur in the central Kalahari savanna, Namibia. The main drivers of the decline were decreased precipitation, higher temperature, and increased interannual climatic variation (Lohmann et al. 2012).

The climatically driven increase in fire frequency and intensity was projected to reduce aboveground woody biomass and the mean tree size in the Miombo woodland in Mozambique (Saito et al. 2014). The authors also predicted the future warming and CO<sub>2</sub> increase to significantly affect woody plants in the Miombo woodland, compensating for some adverse effects of future fire regimes. The decrease in the distribution range of the evergreen tree *Julbernardia paniculata* was observed in the Miombo woodlands in central, eastern, and southern Africa. The range contraction was mainly driven by high mean annual maximum temperatures and increased evapotranspiration. The increasing temperatures were found to favor the cooccurring *J. globiflora* at the expense of the *J. paniculata* (Chidumayo 2017). Finally, climate warming was projected to cause a range contraction of the *Welwitschia mirabilis* in the northern part of the Namib Desert (Bombi 2018).

Other impacts.—Climate change is expected to increase the range of Desert locust (*Schistocerca gregaria flaviventris*) in southern Africa (Meynard et al. 2017). Such an expansion can have serious implications for agricultural production and food security.

Projected range expansion of Striga weed (*Striga asiata*) was predicted to occur in some agro-ecological regions of Zimbabwe. Although the expansion was not large, it is expected to compromise the productivity of arable land, in addition to severe degradation of the environment. The weed's expansion is likely driven by the increasing temperature and increasing precipitation variability (Mudereri et al. 2020).

A rather complex impact was identified by Dalu and Wasserman (2018), who reported an increase in the harmful algal species due to climate change, deteriorating the quality of freshwater in the Malilangwe reservoir (south-eastern lowveld of Zimbabwe). The reduced water quality represents a potentially high risk from toxigenic cyanobacteria to animals and humans in the region.

A temperature increase by 1.5–2°C was projected to drive the productivity decline of southern African woody vegetation, particularly in Mozambique, Namibia, Botswana, Zimbabwe, and Zambia (Lawal et al. 2019).

# Responses

We identified a broad range of human responses to the earlier described impacts, which we organized in three major categories (Appendix S1: Table S4): (1) active vegetation and wildlife management; (2) improved management strategies and policies; and (3) improved research, education, and monitoring. Each

ECOSPHERE **\*** www.esajournals.org

response type addressed each of the earlier described impact categories (Fig. 4).

Active management interventions.-

1. Wildlife.—Measures aiming to protect elephant populations included establishing new artificial water sources and removing the fences to increase the range of elephant movement, which will likely reduce elephant mortality due to water shortage (Shrader et al. 2010).

Testing the different allocation of artificial water points in the Hwange National Park was proposed to control the herbivores' distribution to reduce the pressure on vegetation (Chamaillé-Jammes et al. 2007). This measure needs to be integrated into the management plans of the National Park.

Measures for increasing habitat connectivity of the African Wild Dog were proposed to halt the progressive loss of genetic diversity experienced by the species due to the increasing isolation of local populations (Jones et al. 2016). Supportive measures included the African Wild Dog's reintroduction, the establishment of conservation areas on private lands, and the implementation of ecotourism programs.

A comprehensive system of measures to maintain the flood levels in the Okavango Delta was proposed to prevent the loss of seasonal floodplains, representing an essential habitat for the Burchell's zebra and other wildlife (Bartlam-Brooks et al. 2013).

Measures aiming to reduce the impact of climate change on the Bank Cormorant (*Phalacrocorax neglectus*) on the southern African coastline included establishing artificial structures providing new nesting conditions. This is expected to



Fig. 4. Connections between the identified impacts of climate change (left) and response actions (right). The values on the left represent the number of reviewed publications under each category. The values on the right represent the number of identified responses under each category. The belts represent the connections between impacts and responses. The belt width is proportional to the number of identified responses. We note that while the number of impacts corresponds with the number of reviewed publications (n = 28), the number of responses is higher because some publications suggested more response actions.

```
ECOSPHERE * www.esajournals.org
```

10 December 2021 \* Volume 12(12) \* Article e03860

support the bird's breeding and even expand the breeding range to new locations (Sherley et al. 2012).

The fishing suspension was proposed to be implemented in the western coast of South Africa and Namibia to allow for the recovery of depleted forage fish stocks to preserve the population of African penguins (*Spheniscus demersus*) (Sherley et al. 2017).

2. Vegetation.—The overall improvement of rangeland quality in the savanna of Namibia requires the introduction of desirable grass species (Lohmann et al. 2012). Suitable areas for regeneration trials should be identified to preserve and increase the distribution of a commercially important tree, the Wild teak (*Pterocarpus angolensis*) (de Cauwer et al. 2014). Preventing the anticipated contraction of the natural range of African wild loquat (*Uapaca kirkiana*) may require this species to be domesticated and introduced in protected areas, such as national parks (Jinga et al. 2020).

Changing the current fire management practices was proposed to protect woody vegetation from the intensified wildfires in the Miombo woodland of Mozambique (Saito et al. 2014). The authors proposed abandoning frequent burning and promoting more rigorous fire control, such as low-intensity prescribed fires and seasonal mosaic burning. Improved fire management strategies were also proposed to be applied in the fire-prone areas of the Chobe District's woodlands, particularly the fuel load control, fire reduction, and thinning (Fox et al. 2017). Finally, fire refuge areas were proposed to be established in the KAZA TFCA to reduce the impacts of fire on vegetation (de Cauwer et al. 2016).

Adaptation strategies aiming to stabilize the population of *J. globiflora* and *J. paniculata* in the Miombo woodlands include preserving the oldgrowth woodland and reducing human disturbances in designated areas, such as forest reserves and national parks (Chidumayo 2017).

3. Aquatic systems.—Measures aiming to protect the coral reef require complex strategies, including improved watershed and waste management and reduced air pollution in the most vulnerable coastal areas of Mozambique and South Africa (Mcclanahan et al. 2011).

The quality and availability of water need to be maintained in order to mitigate the harmful effects on ecosystems connected with the Malilangwe Reservoir. The proposed measure included the ex situ potable water purification and distribution (Dalu and Wasserman 2018).

*Policy and strategic planning.*— Adaptive conservation strategies were proposed to halt the anticipated decline in range suitability for the African Wild Dog, particularly in Namibia, Botswana, Zimbabwe, and Mozambique (Jones et al. 2016). These strategies include adaptive conservation measures focused on the African Wild Dog's distribution and measures aiming to control the high competition with the African lion. The need for regional management plans to protect the threatened lion's populations in southern and western Africa was also highlighted by Peterson et al. (2014).

New management policies are required to mitigate the impacts of wildfire on the ecosystems in the Okavango delta. This should include, for example, functional fire response strategies for small mammals based on their life history, resource use, and behaviors (Plavsic 2014). A revision of conservation policies and designing new conservation measures is required to accommodate the projected range shift of bird assemblages of fynbos and grassland biomes in South Africa, Lesotho, and Eswatini (Huntley and Barnard 2012).

Mitigating the adverse effects of climate change on mountain vegetation of the great Escarpment requires the unification of South Africa and Lesotho's management policies to protect and monitor the regional ecosystems and services they provide (Bentley et al. 2019).

New management policies are needed to facilitate the removal of invasive vegetation and the reduction of livestock stocking. This is a precondition for enlarging the existing grassland patches in the semi-arid African savannas, which provide a living environment for numerous species, including threatened large-bodied birds (Scherer et al. 2016).

Rangeland degradation in central Kalahari, which includes the transition of woody vegetation toward the perennial grasslands, requires new policies that consider the projected decline in shrub distribution and increased mortality of plants, such as Velvet raisin (*Grewia flava*). The Kalahari savannas also require new policies facilitating the shift from commercial to sustainable

management practices, which is necessary to enhance the resilience of these ecosystems to climate change (Tews et al. 2006).

Finally, targeted conservation plans are needed to face the climate change-mediated range contraction of *Welwitschia mirabilis*, particularly in the northern part of the Namib Desert (Bombi 2018); and of Wild syringa (*Burkea Africana*), Wild Plum (*Ochna pulchra*), and Kalahari podberry (*Dialium englerianum*) in the woodlands of Kavango-Zambezi Transfrontier Conservation Area (de Cauwer et al. 2016).

*Research and monitoring.*—Better coordination and improvement of the existing monitoring initiatives was recommended for seal populations, mainly aiming to understand mechanisms driving this species' mortality (Kirkman et al. 2011); for cormorants, to better understand their feeding patterns (Sherley et al. 2012); and for small mammals in the Okavango Delta to better understand their life-history attributes and fire responses (Plavsic 2014). With regard to the devastating ecological and commercial effects of the desert locust, monitoring of the insect's population aimed at expanding and contracting edge of the insect's distribution was proposed (Meynard et al. 2017).

Improved monitoring of vegetation dynamics affected by climate change was considered to be a high priority too. This particularly concerned the vulnerable woody vegetation in the Namibian savannas (Burke 2006) and the Okavango Delta (Bartlam-Brooks et al. 2013); and land-use changes in the woodland landscapes of Botswana and the associated impacts on biodiversity (Fox et al. 2017).

Climatically sensitive areas at the transition of woodlands and shrub vegetation in the KAZA TFCA in Namibia and Angola should be increasingly monitored to identify early signs of climate change impacts (de Cauwer et al. 2016). Particular species required to be monitored systematically were *Welwitschia mirabilis* in the Namib Desert (Bombi 2018) and the *Pterocarpus angolensis* in Namibia and Botswana (de Cauwer et al. 2014). The monitoring should aim to identify early signals of decline and extend the knowledge of the adaptive potential of these species.

The ongoing expansion of the Striga weed in Zimbabwe requires increased monitoring and the development of an early warning system combining ground and remote sensing data. These actions are required for the effective containment of the species (Mudereri et al. 2020).

In the marine ecosystem, progressive coral bleaching requires determining the priority areas for conservation, particularly in the southern part of Mozambique (Mcclanahan et al. 2011).

# DISCUSSION

Climate change increasingly threatens global biodiversity (Malhi et al. 2020); however, information about the direction and magnitude of impacts remains incomplete for many regions and ecological systems. This particularly applies to southern Africa, where underdeveloped research infrastructure and human resources limit our understanding and hamper the implementation of knowledge-based adaptation strategies. Our findings highlighted the high diversity of climate change impacts on different species and ecosystems, as well as the high diversity of possible adaptation responses. We found that the current level of understanding is incomplete in many aspects, and further systematic research and monitoring is needed. We further discuss the implications of our findings for climate change adaptation and conservation, and the formulation of future research priorities.

# Literature review

We combined the search outputs from the two bibliographic databases, which suggest that a large proportion of relevant papers could have been identified (Bramer et al. 2017). Still, the number of studies that met all the defined criteria was surprisingly low, given the broadly recognized vulnerability of African ecosystems and large-scale impacts reported by different global assessments (Dai 2011, Brian et al. 2017, Sintayehu 2018). This undoubtedly accounts for the strict criteria for the inclusion of papers, that is, the clear identification of the addressed species or ecosystem, attribution of the impact to climate change, and the provision of management and policy recommendations. Moreover, we considered only papers published in English, which could have discriminated countries where English is not commonly used (e.g., Mozambique and Angola). In our review, we also did not consider publications related to South Africa, where

science production outperforms the remaining region (Sooryamoorthy 2018). However, South Africa shares numerous species, ecosystems, and management practices with the neighboring countries, highlighting the importance of knowledge transfer and transnational collaboration in narrowing the existing knowledge gaps (Boshoff 2010). We discuss such options in the remaining discussion. Finally, we found a relatively high geographical imbalance in the number of identified publications, dominated by Namibia (28%) and Zimbabwe (21%). Such a pattern should not be interpreted in terms of the higher vulnerability of these countries but rather in terms of their size and research environment that outperforms the remaining countries. These limitations need to be considered in the following interpretations.

# Impacts

We found that publications addressing vegetation prevailed (50%) and were mainly focused on increased mortality and range shift. This agrees with Midgely and Thuiller (2011), who suggested that research on plant species in southern Africa is currently further developed than that on animals. On the contrary, we identified only a minor portion of publications addressing aquatic (marine and freshwater) systems. In fact, a number of the papers identified in the initial phase of the literature search (n = 438) focused on different hydrological aspects of climate change impacts, such as changes in river flow, discharge. and water availability (Andersson et al. 2006, 2011, Beck and Bernauer 2011, Zhu and Ringler 2012). Only a few papers, however, addressed the impacts on biodiversity and wildlife. This agrees with Pereira et al. (2010), who noted that quantitative scenarios focusing on the impacts of global change on freshwater and marine organisms are lacking. A similar lack of research was identified for insects; Midgely and Thuiller (2011) noted a dearth of studies addressing the impacts on insect species in southern Africa.

We identified high diversity of impacts, ranging from extinction to range contraction and expansion to changing interspecific competition. Habitat loss and range contraction were the most frequently reported processes, potentially leading to the loss of keystone species such as predators (e.g., African Wild Dog) and pollinators (e.g., *Promerops cafer, Nectarinia famosa,* and Anthobaphes violacea). These impacts were often accompanied by the increase in the abundance of undesired invasive and competitor species. This agrees with Sintayehu (2018), who found that the impacts of climate change have resulted in significant shifts in species' geographical ranges in many parts of Africa. In fact, the shift in geographical locations is the most common response of many species to climate change (Pecl et al. 2017).

The increased temperature is one of the most proximate factors leading to species extinctions globally due to species' physiological intolerance to high temperatures (Cahill et al. 2013). This impact was also distinctly shown in the reviewed papers: local extinctions associated with high temperatures were reported, for example, for coral reefs (Mcclanahan et al. 2011) and Bank Cormorants (Sherley et al. 2012). The combination of heat and drought is particularly threatening (Allen et al. 2015), and it was manifested by increased mortality of African elephants (Shrader et al. 2010), range contraction of the population of the African lion (Peterson et al. 2014), and decline in the distribution range of several woody species (Burke 2006, Chidumayo 2017).

Several publications reported a climatically driven increase in the abundance of harmful species, which cause ecosystem degradation in some parts of the region. For example, the climatically driven bush encroachment in southern African savannas was found to be an essential driver of habitat loss, leading to the potential extinction of large-bodied bird species (Scherer et al. 2016). The prominence of this effect was also highlighted by Muntifering et al. (2005), who indicated that bush encroachment threatens the population of carnivores such as cheetahs (Acinonyx jubatus) in the Namibian savanna, and Sirami et al. (2009), who found that bush encroachment reduces the richness of bird species. The other indications of habitat deterioration concerned the expansion of J. globiflora in the Miombo woodlands, which is an important competitor of the valuable J. paniculate, and the expansion of invasive weed Striga asiata, which deteriorates the productivity of agroecosystems (Chidumayo 2017, Mudereri et al. 2020).

The impacts identified in the reviewed papers represent only some of the climate change effects documented in the literature. This is likely

ECOSPHERE \* www.esajournals.org

related to the limited science production in the target region and our requirement to identify studies that inform about both impacts and management and policy responses. For example, southern Africa is thought to be one of the important pathways of climatically driven biological invasions (Wang et al. 2017, Sintayehu et al. 2020). Our search, however, did not include any publications on this. The same applies, for example, to large-scale projections of species distribution or effects of CO<sub>2</sub> fertilization on future vegetation productivity. Although such studies exist in the study region (Bond and Midgley 2000, 2012, Ndlela et al. 2018, Conradi et al. 2020), they did not explicitly address the connection between impacts and management responses and therefore were not included. Therefore, we recommend future studies considering different selection criteria (e.g., without requiring the connection to management responses) to investigate the impacts on ecosystems more comprehensively.

# Research and management implications

Active human-aided adaption actions are essential in southern Africa to halt the progressive biodiversity loss (Biggs et al. 2008, Bauer and Scholz 2010) and maintain the provision of ecosystem services that support the majority of human populations in the region (Wisely et al. 2018). Adaptation actions need to be closely connected with and guided by research and monitoring (Swart et al. 2014, Janetos 2020). However, such connection is insufficient globally (Swart et al. 2014), and its lack can be critical in regions such as southern Africa.

Most of the publications identified in the initial phase of the literature search (n=438) were rather vague regarding management and policies and mainly aimed to address different ecological processes. The criterion on providing specific policy and management recommendations was thus the most restrictive one, resulting in the severe reduction of the initial dataset. This situation corresponds with the chronically loose connection of research with management and policies, which is recognized across different sectors and disciplines (Arvai et al. 2006, England et al. 2018).

Even though the number of the investigated papers was limited (n=28), they provided a

rather complex perspective on the regional perception of how to face climate change risks. Most importantly, the papers collectively highlighted the importance of connecting active adaptation actions, underlying policy frameworks, and research and monitoring. The review of active management measures demonstrated the high diversity of approaches which need to be considered, including building artificial nesting spots and water points, revising fire management approaches, reintroducing threatened species, or regulating industrial fishing. Although these cases were somewhat fragmented and challenging to synthesize, they may inspire the development of adaptive management plans elsewhere in the region. The limitation of these approaches is that they are mostly recommended based on scientific understanding rather than on their previous implementation experience and testing. Therefore, logistic and policy issues, and inconsistency with traditional practices may limit their applicability.

The reviewed publications repeatedly indicated a limited understanding of climate change impacts and vulnerability of different species and ecosystems as a factor hampering adaptation actions. Therefore, the authors extensively called for more intensive and coordinated monitoring of vegetation and animal populations, which seems to be particularly needed for marine and freshwater ecosystems (Kirkman et al. 2011, Sherley et al. 2012, de Cauwer et al. 2014). In fact, earth monitoring and climate change research infrastructure in the region has significantly advanced in the last decade (Kaspar et al. 2015, Helmschrot et al. 2018, Muche et al. 2018). Still, further development is needed, particularly in moving the focus from the monitoring toward more integrative approaches, which account for the feedback between environmental drivers, biodiversity, ecosystem services, and socioeconomic conditions and developments (Pereira et al. 2010, England et al. 2018).

The implementation of active management measures needs to be embedded within an efficient policy framework, which is often missing in southern Africa (SADC 2008). Therefore, some of the reviewed publications suggested targeted policy improvements to facilitate the operational mitigation of climate change impacts (Huntley and Barnard 2012, Lohmann et al. 2012, Bentley

et al. 2019). The recommendations highlighted the need to incorporate transient ecosystem dynamics into nature conservation and management planning, coordinate transboundary conservation policies, and strengthen and coordinate different monitoring systems. These recommendations are well consistent with the emergent concepts on biodiversity conservation under climate change (Heller and Zavaleta 2009, Watson et al. 2012). These new ideas and their implementation can benefit from the existing policy frameworks, such as the Regional Biodiversity Strategy for SADC (SADC 2008) and the SADC treaty of 1992 (SADC 1992), which collectively highlight the importance of ecosystem management and conservation through regional integration and cooperation.

We found an increasing tendency in the number of publications addressing the interface of climate change and management and policy. Such an increase corresponds with the global recognition of climate change-related threats and the urgency of coordinated actions (Ford et al. 2015, Siders 2019, Nalau and Verrall 2021). We also found that many of the reviewed studies (57%) addressed the projected impacts of climate change, while the remaining papers addressed actual observed impacts. This suggests an increasing recognition of modelbased approaches and the use of climate projections in research in the region, which was previously found marginal (Kusangaya et al. 2014). These facts, along with the development of advanced research and monitoring infrastructure, and the increasing ability of local researchers to acquire external research funding, hold the promise of improved and knowledge-based adaptation strategies and policies in the region.

These positive tendencies do not negate that the level of understanding of climate change impacts and responses remains low. To narrow the major knowledge gaps, we suggest that knowledge transfer from South Africa should be increasingly considered in regional adaptation planning (Boshoff 2010). The South African experience can, for example, help address the knowledge gaps identified herein concerning the control of biological invasions (Bezeng et al. 2020, Mapaura et al. 2020), and infrastructure and capacity building (Ziervogel et al. 2014). Moreover, the cooler climate in South Africa represents potentially important climatic refugium, which should be considered in regional adaptation and conservation strategies, including assisted migration and translocation (Butt et al. 2021). For example, Foden et al. (2007) found the range of *Aloe dichotoma* to contract in Namibia and expand in South Africa, highlighting the importance of transboundary conservation efforts.

Finally, we advise maintaining the database of so-focused publications and update it regularly to support future, more comprehensive synthetic studies. A review of gray literature conducted by the local scientists would also be a valuable input increasing our understanding of climate change impacts and adaptation options in the region (Ford et al. 2015).

# Conclusions

The nine southern African countries investigated here are characterized by an exceptionally diverse natural and cultural environment that is being increasingly threatened by climate change and other pressures. Facing these challenges requires swift and coordinated actions, which must be supported by a sound understanding of anticipated impacts and effects of different management actions. This understanding is currently limited, highlighting the importance of synthetic studies aiming to collate the available and often fragmented knowledge. We collected here publications, which investigated and purposely recommended management and policy responses. This research has demonstrated the high fragmentation of the available knowledge and an urgent need for coordinated research and monitoring actions.

# Acknowledgment

This research was funded by the OPRDE grant number "EVA4.0." No.CZ.02.1.01/0.0/0.0/16\_019/0000 803X.

# LITERATURE CITED

- Abson, D. J., A. J. Dougill, and L. C. Stringer. 2012. Using Principal Component Analysis for information-rich socio-ecological vulnerability mapping in Southern Africa. Applied Geography 35:515–524.
- Allen, C. D., D. D. Breshears, and N. G. McDowell. 2015. On underestimation of global vulnerability to

ECOSPHERE \* www.esajournals.org

December 2021 🛠 Volume 12(12) 🛠 Article e03860

tree mortality and forest die-off from hotter drought in the Anthropocene. Ecosphere 6:1–55.

- Andersson, L., P. Samuelsson, and E. Kjellström. 2011. Assessment of climate change impact on water resources in the Pungwe river basin. Tellus, Series A: Dynamic Meteorology and Oceanography 63:138–157.
- Andersson, L., J. Wilk, M. C. Todd, D. A. Hughes, A. Earle, D. Kniveton, R. Layberry, and H. H. G. Savenije. 2006. Impact of climate change and development scenarios on flow patterns in the Okavango River. Journal of Hydrology 331:43–57.
- Archer, E. R. M., W. Adolf, M. Alexander, J. Malherbe, H. Weepener, P. Maluleke, and F. Maxwell. 2017. Understanding the evolution of the 2014–2016 summer rainfall seasons in southern Africa: key lessons. Climate Risk Management 16:22–28.
- Arvai, J., et al. 2006. Adaptive management of the global climate problem: bridging the gap between climate research and climate policy. Climatic Change 78:217–225.
- Baltazar, C. S., and E. V. Rossetto. 2020. Mozambique Field Epidemiology and Laboratory Training Program as responders workforce during Idai and Kenneth cyclones: a commentary. Pan African Medical Journal 36:36.
- Bartlam-Brooks, H. L. A., M. C. Bonyongo, and S. Harris. 2013. How landscape scale changes affect ecological processes in conservation areas: external factors influence land use by zebra (*Equus burchelli*) in the Okavango Delta. Ecology and Evolution 3:2795–2805.
- Bauer, S., and I. Scholz. 2010. Adaptation to climate change in Southern Africa: new boundaries for sustainable development? Climate and Development 2:83–93.
- Beck, L., and T. Bernauer. 2011. How will combined changes in water demand and climate affect water availability in the Zambezi river basin? Global Environmental Change 21:1061–1072.
- Bellard, C., C. Bertelsmeier, P. Leadley, W. Thuiller, and F. Courchamp. 2012. Impacts of climate change on the future of biodiversity. Ecology Letters 15:365–377.
- Bentley, L. K., M. P. Robertson, and N. P. Barker. 2019. Range contraction to a higher elevation: the likely future of the montane vegetation in South Africa and Lesotho. Biodiversity and Conservation 28:131–153.
- Bezeng, B. S., K. Yessoufou, P. J. Taylor, and S. G. Tesfamichael. 2020. Expected spatial patterns of alien woody plants in South Africa's protected areas under current scenario of climate change. Scientific Reports 10:1–12.
- Biggs, R., H. Simons, M. Bakkenes, R. J. Scholes, B. Eickhout, D. van Vuuren, and R. Alkemade. 2008.

Scenarios of biodiversity loss in southern Africa in the 21st century. Global Environmental Change 18:296–309.

- Bombi, P. 2018. Potential impacts of climate change on Welwitschia mirabilis populations in the Namib Desert, southern Africa. Journal of Arid Land 10:663–672.
- Bond, W. J., and G. F. Midgley. 2000. A proposed CO2controlled mechanism of woody plant invasion in grasslands and savannas. Global Change Biology 6:865–869.
- Bond, W. J., and G. F. Midgley. 2012. Carbon dioxide and the uneasy interactions of trees and savannah grasses. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 367:601–612.
- Boshoff, N. 2010. South-South research collaboration of countries in the Southern African Development Community (SADC). Scientometrics 84:481–503.
- Bramer, W. M., M. L. Rethlefsen, J. Kleijnen, and O. H. Franco. 2017. Optimal database combinations for literature searches in systematic reviews: a prospective exploratory study. Systematic Reviews 6:1–12.
- Brian, C. O., et al. 2017. IPCC reasons for concern regarding climate change risks. Nature Climate Change 7:28–37.
- Burke, A. 2006. Savanna trees in Namibia Factors controlling their distribution at the arid end of the spectrum. Flora: morphology. Distribution, Functional Ecology of Plants 201:189–201.
- Butt, N., A. L. M. Chauvenet, V. M. Adams, M. Beger, R. V. Gallagher, D. F. Shanahan, M. Ward, J. E. M. Watson, and H. P. Possingham. 2021. Importance of species translocations under rapid climate change. Conservation Biology 35:775–783.
- Cahill, A. E., et al. 2013. How does climate change cause extinction? Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 280:20121890.
- Chamaillé-Jammes, S., H. Fritz, and F. Murindagomo. 2007. Climate-driven fluctuations in surface-water availability and the buffering role of artificial pumping in an African savanna: potential implication for herbivore dynamics. Austral Ecology 32:740–748.
- Chari, F., B. S. Ngcamu, and C. Novukela. 2021. Supply chain risks in humanitarian relief operations: a case of Cyclone Idai relief efforts in Zimbabwe. Journal of Humanitarian Logistics and Supply Chain Management 11:29–45.
- Chidumayo, E. N. 2008. Implications of climate warming on seedling emergence and mortality of African savanna woody plants. Plant Ecology 198:61–71.
- Chidumayo, E. N. 2017. Biotic interactions, climate and disturbance underlie the distribution of two

December 2021 🛠 Volume 12(12) 🛠 Article e03860

Julbernardia tree species in miombo woodlands of Africa. Journal of Tropical Ecology 33:1–11.

- Chirwa, P. W., S. Syampungani, and C. J. Geldenhuys. 2008. The ecology and management of the Miombo woodlands for sustainable livelihoods in southern Africa: the case for non-timber forest products. Southern Forests: A Journal of Forest Science 70:237–245.
- Conradi, T., J. A. Slingsby, G. F. Midgley, H. Nottebrock, A. H. Schweiger, and S. I. Higgins. 2020. An operational definition of the biome for global change research. New Phytologist 227:1294– 1306.
- Dai, A. 2011. Drought under global warming: A review. Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Climate Change 2:45–65.
- Dalu, T., and R. J. Wasserman. 2018. Cyanobacteria dynamics in a small tropical reservoir: Understanding spatio-temporal variability and influence of environmental variables. Science of the Total Environment 643:835–841.
- Darkoh, M. B. K. 2009. An overview of environmental issues in Southern Africa. African Journal of Ecology 47:93–98.
- de Cauwer, V., C. J. Geldenhuys, R. Aerts, M. Kabajani, and B. Muys. 2016. Patterns of forest composition and their long term environmental drivers in the tropical dry forest transition zone of southern Africa. Forest Ecosystems 3. https://doi.org/10. 1186/s40663-016-0080-9
- de Cauwer, V., B. Muys, R. Revermann, and A. Trabucco. 2014. Potential, realised, future distribution and environmental suitability for *Pterocarpus angolensis* DC in southern Africa. Forest Ecology and Management 315:211–226.
- Dewees, P. A., B. M. Campbell, Y. Katerere, A. Sitoe, A. B. Cunningham, A. Angelsen, and S. Wunder. 2010. Managing the Miombo Woodlands of Southern Africa: policies, Incentives and Options for the Rural Poor. Journal of Natural Resources Policy Research 2:57–73.
- Dinerstein, E., et al. 2019. A Global Deal for Nature: guiding principles, milestones, and targets. Science Advances 5:1–18.
- England, M. I., A. J. Dougill, L. C. Stringer, K. E. Vincent, J. Pardoe, F. K. Kalaba, D. D. Mkwambisi, E. Namaganda, S. Afionis, and K. E. Vincent. 2018. Climate change adaptation and cross-sectoral policy coherence in southern Africa. Regional Environmental Change 18:2059–2071.
- Foden, W., G. F. Midgley, G. Hughes, W. J. Bond, W. Thuiller, M. T. Hoffman, P. Kaleme, L. G. Underhill, A. Rebelo, and L. Hannah. 2007. A changing climate is eroding the geographical range of the Namib Desert tree Aloe through population

declines and dispersal lags. Diversity and Distributions 13:645–653.

- Ford, J. D., L. Berrang-Ford, A. Bunce, C. McKay, M. Irwin, and T. Pearce. 2015. The status of climate change adaptation in Africa and Asia. Regional Environmental Change 15:801–814.
- Fox, J. T., M. E. Vandewalle, and K. A. Alexander. 2017. Land cover change in Northern Botswana: the influence of climate, fire, and elephants on Semi-Arid Savanna Woodlands. Land 6:73.
- Global Drought Observatory. 2019. GDO Analytical Report: drought in Southern Africa–January 2019.
- Guo, D., J. L. Arnolds, G. F. Midgley, and W. B. Foden. 2016. Conservation of quiver trees in Namibia and South Africa under a changing climate. Journal of Geoscience and Environment Protection 04:1–8.
- Haselip, J., and M. Hughes. 2018. Africa-Europe collaborations for climate change research and innovation: What difference have they made? Pages 81–97 *in* A. Cherry, J. Haselip, G. Ralphs, and I. E. Wagner, editors. Africa-Europe research and innovation cooperation: Global challenges, bi-regional responses. Springer International Publishing, Cham, Switzerland.
- Heller, N. E., and E. S. Zavaleta. 2009. Biodiversity management in the face of climate change: a review of 22 years of recommendations. Biological Conservation 142:14–32.
- Helmschrot, J., S. Thompson, S. Kralisch, and F. Zander. 2018. The SASSCAL data and information portal. Pages 112–113 *in* R. Revermann, K. M. Krewenka, U. Schmiedel, J. M. Olwoch, J. Helmschrot, and N. Jürgens, editors. Climate change and adaptive land management in southern Africa – assessments, changes, challenges, and solutions. Klaus Hess Publishers, Göttingen, Germany, Windhoek, Namibia.
- Hoegh-Guldberg, O., et al. 2019. The human imperative of stabilizing global climate change at 1.5°C. Science 365:eaaw6974.
- Hruska, T., L. Huntsinger, M. Brunson, W. Li, N. Marshall, J. L. Oviedo, and H. Whitcomb. 2017. Rangelands as social-ecological systems. Pages 263–302 *in* D. D. Briske, editor. Rangeland systems: processes, management and challenges. Springer International Publishing, Cham, Switzerland.
- Huntley, B., and P. Barnard. 2012. Potential impacts of climatic change on southern African birds of fynbos and grassland biodiversity hotspots. Diversity and Distributions 18:769–781.
- Inman, E. N., R. J. Hobbs, and Z. Tsvuura. 2020. No safety net in the face of climate change: the case of pastoralists in Kunene Region, Namibia. PLoS Medicine 15:e0238982.

ECOSPHERE \* www.esajournals.org

17

December 2021 \* Volume 12(12) \* Article e03860

- IPCC. 2019. Summary for policymakers. In P. R. I Shukla, J. Skea, E. Calvo Buendia, V. Masson-Delmotte, H.-O. Pörtner, D. C. Roberts, P. Zhai, R. Slade, S. Connors, R. van Diemen, M. Ferrat, E. Haughey, S. Luz, S. Neogi, M. Pathak, J. Petzold, J. Portugal Pereira, P. Vyas, E. Huntley, K. Kissick, M. Belkacemi, and J. Malley, editors. Climate Change and Land: an IPCC special report on climate change, desertification, land degradation, sustain-
- house gas fluxes in terrestrial ecosystems, *in press*. Janetos, A. C. 2020. Why is climate adaptation so important? What are the needs for additional research? Climatic Change 161:171–176.

able land management, food security, and green-

- Jinga, P., J. Palagi, J. P. Chong, and E. D. Bobo. 2020. Climate change reduces the natural range of African wild loquat (*Uapaca kirkiana* Müll. Arg., Phyllanthaceae) in south-central Africa. Regional Environmental Change 20:108.
- Jones, B., and B. C. O'Neill. 2016. Spatially explicit global population scenarios consistent with the Shared Socioeconomic Pathways. Environmental Research Letters 11:1–10.
- Jones, M., L. D. Bertola, and O. Razgour. 2016. Predicting the effect of interspecific competition on habitat suitability for the endangered African wild dog under future climate and land cover changes. Hystrix 27:1–8.
- Kaspar, F., et al. 2015. The SASSCAL contribution to climate observation, climate data management and data rescue in Southern Africa. Advances in Science and Research 12:171–177.
- Kirkman, S. P., W. H. Oosthuizen, M. A. Meÿer, S. M. Seakamela, and L. G. Underhill. 2011. Prioritising range-wide scientific monitoring of the Cape fur seal in southern Africa. African Journal of Marine Science 33:495–509.
- Kupika, O. L., E. Gandiwa, S. Kativu, and G. Nhamo. 2017. Impacts of Climate Change and Climate Variability on Wildlife Resources in Southern Africa: experience from Selected Protected Areas in Zimbabwe. https://doi.org/10.5772/intechopen.70470
- Kusangaya, S., M. L. Warburton, E. Archer van Garderen, and G. P. W. Jewitt. 2014. Impacts of climate change on water resources in southern Africa: a review. Physics and Chemistry of the Earth 67– 69:47–54.
- Kuyah, S., G. W. Sileshi, J. Njoloma, S. Mng'omba, and H. Neufeldt. 2014. Estimating aboveground tree biomass in three different miombo woodlands and associated land use systems in Malawi. Biomass and Bioenergy 66:214–222.
- Lawal, S., C. Lennard, and B. Hewitson. 2019. Response of southern African vegetation to climate change at 1.5 and 2.0° global warming above the pre-industrial level. Climate Services 16:100134.

- Lohmann, D., B. Tietjen, N. Blaum, D. F. Joubert, and F. Jeltsch. 2012. Shifting thresholds and changing degradation patterns: climate change effects on the simulated long-term response of a semi-arid savanna to grazing. Journal of Applied Ecology 49:814–823.
- López-Carr, D., N. G. Pricope, J. E. Aukema, M. M. Jankowska, C. Funk, G. Husak, and J. Michaelsen. 2014. A spatial analysis of population dynamics and climate change in Africa: potential vulnerability hot spots emerge where precipitation declines and demographic pressures coincide. Population and Environment 35:323–339.
- Malhi, Y., J. Franklin, N. Seddon, M. Solan, M. G. Turner, C. B. Field, and N. Knowlton. 2020. Climate change and ecosystems: threats, opportunities and solutions. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 375:20190104.
- Mapaura, A., K. Canavan, D. M. Richardson, V. R. Clark, and S. L. Steenhuisen. 2020. The invasive grass genus Nassella in South Africa: a synthesis. South African Journal of Botany 135:336–348.
- Mavhura, E. 2020. Learning from the tropical cyclones that ravaged Zimbabwe: policy implications for effective disaster preparedness. Natural Hazards 104:2261–2275.
- Mcclanahan, T. R., J. M. Maina, and N. A. Muthiga. 2011. Associations between climate stress and coral reef diversity in the western Indian Ocean. Global Change Biology 17:2023–2032.
- Meynard, C. N., P. E. Gay, M. Lecoq, A. Foucart, C. Piou, and M. P. Chapuis. 2017. Climate-driven geographic distribution of the desert locust during recession periods: subspecies' niche differentiation and relative risks under scenarios of climate change. Global Change Biology 23:4739–4749.
- Midgley, G. F., and W. Thuiller. 2011. Potential responses of terrestrial biodiversity in Southern Africa to anthropogenic climate change. Regional Environmental Change 11:127–135.
- Moher, D., A. Liberati, J. Tetzlaff, and D. G. Altman. 2009. Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses: the PRISMA statement. PLoS Medicine 6:e1000097.
- Muche, G., et al. 2018. SASSCAL WeatherNet: present state, challenges, and achievements of the regional climatic observation network and database. Pages 34–43 in R. Revermann, K. M. Krewenka, U. Schmiedel, J. M. Olwoch, J. Helmschrot, and N. Jürgens, editors. Climate change and adaptive land management in southern Africa – assessments, changes, challenges, and solutions. Klaus Hess Publishers, Göttingen, Germany, Windhoek, Namibia.
- Mudereri, B. T., E. M. Abdel-Rahman, T. Dube, T. Landmann, Z. Khan, E. Kimathi, R. Owino, and S.

ECOSPHERE \* www.esajournals.org

December 2021 🛠 Volume 12(12) 🛠 Article e03860

Niassy. 2020. Multi-source spatial data-based invasion risk modeling of Striga (*Striga asiatica*) in Zimbabwe. Giscience and Remote Sensing 57:553–571.

- Muller, M. 2018. Scale and consequences: Does the distribution of formal powers and functions affect water management outcomes in federal contexts in Southern Africa? Regional Environmental Change 18:1693–1706.
- Muntifering, J. R., A. J. Dickman, L. M. Perlow, T. Hruska, P. G. Ryan, L. L. Marker, and R. M. Jeo. 2005. Managing the matrix for large carnivores: a novel approach and perspective from cheetah (*Aci-nonyx jubatus*) habitat suitability modelling. Animal Conservation 9:103–112.
- Nalau, J., and B. Verrall. 2021. Mapping the evolution and current trends in climate change adaptation science. Climate Risk Management 32:100290.
- Ndlela, S., T. Manyangadze, A. Sachisuko, S. van der Lingen, and I. A. Makowe. 2018. The distribution and management of two invasive pests of eucalyptus: the red gum Lerp Psyllid, *Glycaspis brimblecombei* (Hemiptera: Psylloidae), and the Blue Gum Chalcid Wasp, Leptocybe invasa (Hymenoptera: Eulophidae), in Zimbabwe. African Entomology 26:104–115.
- Nikolau, D. K., C. D. Macamo, S. O. Bandeira, A. Tajú, and H. A. Mabilana. 2017. Mangrove change detection, structure and condition in a protected area of eastern Africa: the case of Quirimbas National Park, Mozambique. WIO Journal of Marine Science 16:47–60.
- Osborne, C. P., T. Charles-Dominique, N. Stevens, W. J. Bond, G. Midgley, and C. E. R. Lehmann. 2018. Human impacts in African savannas are mediated by plant functional traits. New Phytologist 220:10– 24.
- Palazzo, A., et al. 2017. Linking regional stakeholder scenarios and shared socioeconomic pathways: quantified West African food and climate futures in a global context. Global Environmental Change 45:227–242.
- Pecl, G. T., et al. 2017. Biodiversity redistribution under climate change: impacts on ecosystems and human well-being. Science 355:1–9.
- Pereira, H. M., et al. 2010. Scenarios for global biodiversity in the 21st century. Science 330:1496–1501.
- Peterson, A. T., T. Radocy, E. Hall, J. C. Kerbis Peterhans, and G. G. Celesia. 2014. The potential distribution of the Vulnerable African lion Panthera leo in the face of changing global climate. Oryx 48:555–564.
- Plavsic, M. J. 2014. Proximate and ultimate drivers of small-mammal recolonization after fire: microhabitat conditions, rainfall and species traits. Animal Conservation 17:573–582.

- Rosendo, S., L. Celliers, and M. Mechisso. 2018. Doing more with the same: A reality-check on the ability of local government to implement Integrated Coastal Management for climate change adaptation. Marine Policy 87:29–39.
- Runting, R. K., B. A. Bryan, L. E. Dee, F. J. F. Maseyk, L. Mandle, P. Hamel, K. A. Wilson, K. Yetka, H. P. Possingham, and J. R. Rhodes. 2017. Incorporating climate change into ecosystem service assessments and decisions: a review. Global Change Biology 23:28–41.
- Ryan, C. M., R. Pritchard, I. McNicol, M. Owen, J. A. Fisher, and C. Lehmann. 2016. Ecosystem services from southern African woodlands and their future under global change. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 371:20150312.
- SADC. 1992. The declaration and treaty of the southern African development community. SADC, Windhoek, Namibia.
- SADC. 2008. Southern African development community: regional biodiversity strategy. SADC, Gaborone, Botswana.
- Saito, M., S. Luyssaert, B. Poulter, M. Williams, P. Ciais, V. Bellassen, C. M. Ryan, C. Yue, P. Cadule, and P. Peylin. 2014. Fire regimes and variability in aboveground woody biomass in miombo woodland. Journal of Geophysical Research: Biogeosciences 119:1014–1029.
- Scherer, C., F. Jeltsch, V. Grimm, and N. Blaum. 2016. Merging trait-based and individual-based modelling: an animal functional type approach to explore the responses of birds to climatic and land use changes in semi-arid African savannas. Ecological Modelling 326:75–89.
- Sherley, R. B., K. Ludynia, B. M. Dyer, T. Lamont, A. B. Makhado, J. P. Roux, K. L. Scales, L. G. Underhill, and S. C. Votier. 2017. Metapopulation tracking juvenile penguins reveals an ecosystemwide ecological trap. Current Biology 27: 563–568.
- Sherley, R. B., K. Ludynia, L. G. Underhill, R. Jones, and J. Kemper. 2012. Storms and heat limit the nest success of Bank Cormorants: implications of future climate change for a surface-nesting seabird in southern Africa Richard. Journal of Ornithology 153:441–455.
- Shrader, A. M., S. L. Pimm, and R. J. van Aarde. 2010. Elephant survival, rainfall and the confounding effects of water provision and fences. Biodiversity and Conservation 19:2235–2245.
- Siders, A. R. 2019. Adaptive capacity to climate change: a synthesis of concepts, methods, and findings in a fragmented field. Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Climate Change 10:1–18.

ECOSPHERE **\*** www.esajournals.org

December 2021 🛠 Volume 12(12) 🛠 Article e03860

- Sintayehu, D. W. 2018. Impact of climate change on biodiversity and associated key ecosystem services in Africa: a systematic review. Ecosystem Health and Sustainability 4:225–239.
- Sintayehu, D. W., A. Egeru, W.-T. Ng, and E. Cherenet. 2020. Regional dynamics in distribution of *Prosopis juliflora* under predicted climate change in Africa. Tropical Ecology 61:437–445.
- Sirami, C., C. Seymour, G. Midgley, and P. Barnard. 2009. The impact of shrub encroachment on savanna bird diversity from local to regional scale. Diversity and Distributions 15:948–957.
- Sooryamoorthy, R. 2018. The production of science in Africa: an analysis of publications in the science disciplines, 2000–2015. Scientometrics 115:317–349.
- Swart, R., R. Biesbroek, and T. C. Lourenço. 2014. Science of adaptation to climate change and science for adaptation. Frontiers in Environmental Science 2:1–8.
- Tews, J., A. Esther, S. J. Milton, and F. Jeltsch. 2006. Linking a population model with an ecosystem model: Assessing the impact of land use and climate change on savanna shrub cover dynamics. Ecological Modelling 195:219–228.
- Thiaw, I. 2015. Is the changing climate changing African ecosystems? Ecosystem Health and Sustainability 1:1–3.
- Vogel, C., A. Steynor, and A. Manyuchi. 2019. Climate services in Africa: re-imagining an inclusive, robust and sustainable service. Climate Services 15:100107.
- Waldron, A., D. C. Miller, D. Redding, A. Mooers, T. S. Kuhn, N. Nibbelink, J. T. Roberts, J. A. Tobias, and J. L. Gittleman. 2017. Reductions in global biodiversity loss predicted from conservation spending. Nature 551:364–367.

- KAPUKA AND HLÁSNY
- Walther, G. R. 2010. Community and ecosystem responses to recent climate change. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 365:2019–2024.
- Wang, C. J., J. Z. Wan, H. Qu, and Z. X. Zhang. 2017. Modelling plant invasion pathways in protected areas under climate change: implication for invasion management. Web Ecology 17:69–77.
- Wangai, P. W., B. Burkhard, and F. Müller. 2016. A review of studies on ecosystem services in Africa. International Journal of Sustainable Built Environment 5:225–245.
- Warren, R., J. Price, J. VanDerWal, S. Cornelius, and H. Sohl. 2018. The implications of the United Nations Paris Agreement on climate change for globally significant biodiversity areas. Climatic Change 147:395–409.
- Watson, J. E. M., M. Rao, A. L. Kang, and Y. Xie. 2012. Climate change adaptation planning for biodiversity conservation: a review. Advances in Climate Change Research 3:1–11.
- Wendling, Z. A., et al. 2020. Environmental Performance Index. Yale Center for Environmental Law & Policy, New Haven, Connecticut, USA.
- Wisely, S. M., K. Alexander, T. Mahlaba, and L. Cassidy. 2018. Linking ecosystem services to livelihoods in southern Africa. Ecosystem Services 30:339–341.
- Zhu, T., and C. Ringler. 2012. Climate change impacts on water availability and use in the Limpopo River Basin. Water (Switzerland) 4:63–84.
- Ziervogel, G., M. New, E. Archer van Garderen, G. Midgley, A. Taylor, R. Hamann, S. Stuart-Hill, J. Myers, and M. Warburton. 2014. Climate change impacts and adaptation in South Africa. Wires Climate Change 5:605–620.

# DATA AVAILABILITY

Data are available from Zenodo: https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.5558905

# SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Additional Supporting Information may be found online at: http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/ecs2. 3860/full

# 5.3 Climate change threatens the distribution of major woody species and ecosystem services provision in southern Africa



# Climate change threatens the distribution of major woody species and ecosystem services provision in southern Africa



# Alpo Kapuka, Laura Dobor, Tomáš Hlásny\*

Czech University of Life Sciences Prague, Faculty of Forestry and Wood Sciences, Kamýcká 129, Suchdol, 165 00 Prague 6, Czech Republic

#### HIGHLIGHTS

#### GRAPHICAL ABSTRACT

- Future changes in the distribution of eight woody species in Sub-Saharan Africa were evaluated.
- A distinct pattern of loser and winner species was identified.
- Timber production-related species were affected the most.
- Hotspots of ecosystem services vulnerability were located in the Miombo and Mopane woodlands.



## ARTICLE INFO

#### Editor: Elena Paoletti

Keywords: Species distribution models Vegetation Vulnerability Bioclimatic variables Africa

#### ABSTRACT

In southern Africa, woody vegetation provides essential ecological, regulation, and cultural ecosystem services (ES), yet many species and ecosystems are increasingly threatened by climate change and land-use transformations. We investigated the effect of climate change on the distribution of eight species in 18 countries in southern Africa, covering 36% of the continent. We proposed a loser/winner ranking of the species based on the changes in land climatic suitability within their historical distribution and future gains and losses of suitable areas. We interpreted these findings in terms of changes in key ES (timber, food, and energy) provision and identified hotspots of ES provision decline. We used species presence data from the Global Biodiversity Information Facility, climatic data from the AfriClim dataset, and the MaxEnt algorithm to project the changes in species-specific land climatic suitability.

Among the eight investigated species, the baseline suitability range of Mopane (*Colophosperm mopane*) was least affected by climate change. At the same time, the area of its future distribution was projected to double, rendering it a regional winner. Another two species, manketti (*Schinziophyton rautanenii*) and leadwood (*Combreum imberbe*) showed high future gains too; however, the impact on their baseline suitability range differed between the climatic scenarios. The baseline range of African rosewood (*Guibourtia coleosperma*) declined entirely, and the future gains were negligible, rendering the species a regional loser. The effect of climate change was particularly severe on timber-producing species (four out of eight species), while species providing food (four species) and energy (four species) were affected less. Our projections portrayed distinct hotspot and coldspot areas, where climatic suitability for multiple species was concurrently projected to decline or persist. This assessment can inform spatially targeted adaptation and conservation actions and strategies, which are currently lacking in many African regions.

\* Corresponding author.

E-mail address: hlasny@fld.czu.cz (T. Hlásny).

#### http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2022.158006

Received 31 May 2022; Received in revised form 8 August 2022; Accepted 9 August 2022 Available online 12 August 2022 0048-9697/© 2022 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

# 1. Introduction

Climate change profoundly affects the distribution of species and biological diversity globally (IPCC, 2019; Warszawski et al., 2013), Changing climate often drives complex ecosystem reorganizations due to shifting climatic envelopes of species, modified biotic interactions, and changing disturbance regimes (Williams and Jackson, 2007). The underlying processes include drought-induced mortality and range contraction (Anderegg et al., 2019), species expansion due to the relaxed thermal limitations (Hampe and Petit, 2005), but also the invasion of new species, often posing biosecurity issues (Hulme, 2017; Robinson et al., 2020). These dynamics generate a complex pattern of losers and winners, in terms of species losing and gaining their competitive advantage, mainly driven by resource availability changes (Dyderski et al., 2018). Large-scale species replacements imply a functional reorganization of assemblages, impacting the provision of ecosystem services (ES) and disservices (Filgueiras et al., 2021). Humans, particularly the underdeveloped communities relying on local natural resources, will thus increasingly need to cope with the reassembled portfolios of ES provided by the winner species (Díaz et al., 2006).

Southern Africa is a region where risks related to the declining provision of ES are particularly high and where several assessments suggested the presence of climate change hotspots of global importance (Bauer and Scholz, 2010; Hoegh-Guldberg et al., 2019). Moreover, the region contains "crisis" and "very high risk" ecoregions facing severe habitat conversion and low coverage of protected areas (Watson et al., 2016). The anticipated impacts of climate change include, for example, the decline in vegetation productivity (Lawal et al., 2019), with particularly adverse effects on savanna ecosystems (Osborne et al., 2018; Ryan et al., 2016); range contraction and mortality of different tree and shrub species, such as wild loquat (Uapaca kirkiana), velvet raisin (Grewia flava), and wild teak (Pterocarpus angolensis) (Chidumayo, 2008; de Cauwer et al., 2014; Jinga et al., 2020; Tews et al., 2006); or the upward shift of mountain vegetation, for example, in the Great Escarpment of South Africa and Lesotho (Bentley et al., 2019). The direct climatic effects act synergistically with land conversion and exploiting management practices (including the reduction of large herbivores and carnivores; Shrader et al., 2010), amplifying habitat degradation, and the loss of biodiversity and ES (Kapuka and Hlásny, 2021; Sintayehu, 2018). These pressures have profound effects on the livelihoods of the local households (Ribeiro Palacios et al., 2013), compromising the provision of food, medicine, construction material, and energy (Kusangaya et al., 2014; Rosendo et al., 2018).

Although many of these impacts are manifested globally and receive increased research attention, their understanding is remarkably incomplete in southern Africa (except for South Africa; e.g., North et al., 2020; Sooryamoorthy, 2018). This is mainly due to the underdeveloped research and monitoring infrastructure, lacking human resources, political instability, and insufficient involvement of African researchers in international research networks (Haselip and Hughes, 2018; North et al., 2020; Tarkang and Bain, 2019). Such an environment predominantly produces local and descriptive studies, while synthetic, large-scale, and model-based assessments are lacking (Kapuka et al., 2022). Still, recent years have seen an increase in studies relying on Earth-observation systems and employing advanced modelling and forecasting tools (Andries et al., 2022; Balsamo et al., 2018; Dubovik et al., 2021). The increasing availability of highresolution projections of future climates (Platts et al., 2015; Spinoni et al., 2018) and remote sensing-based products (e.g., Hansen et al., 2013) has accelerated the research of vegetation dynamics, including the effects of climate change (Catarino et al., 2021; Pelletier et al., 2019), and helped address some important knowledge gaps.

Species Distribution Models (SDMs), also known as Ecological Niche or Habitat Suitability Models, are one of the main tools providing spatially explicit information about the future environmental suitability for species, particularly when it comes to large-scale assessments (Dyderski et al., 2018; Mammola et al., 2021; Santini et al., 2021). SDMs relate species presence to different climatic and landscape features to assess the characteristic responses and interpret them, identify the most influential predictors, and project species distribution under different climatic scenarios (Elith and Leathwick, 2009; Booth et al., 2014). The applications are diverse and include identifying risks for biodiversity, setting future-oriented conservation and restoration priorities, identifying climatic refugia, and identifying target locations for the translocation of endangered species (Barbet-Massin et al., 2012; Jarvie and Svenning, 2018; Lentini and Wintle, 2015). SDMs can use different climatic and non-climatic variables, though studies employing climate data only prevail (Porfirio et al., 2014). For example, Bucklin et al. (2015) suggested that including non-climatic predictors had only a minor effect on model accuracy and a little to moderate effect on spatial prediction; yet, this finding can be context-specific.

SDMs rely on diverse statistical techniques such as the General Rule Set Production, Fuzzy Habitat Suitability Models, Generalized Additive Models, Random Forests, Generalized Linear Models, and the Maximum Entropy algorithm (MaxEnt) (Guisan et al., 2017). MaxEnt has received the greatest attention (e.g., Heneidy et al., 2019; Khanum et al., 2013; Ray et al., 2018; Tang et al., 2021) due to its high predictive accuracy, simplicity of use, and ability to handle presence-only data (Elith et al., 2006; Merow et al., 2013; Shcheglovitova and Anderson, 2013). Several studies showed that species distribution projections based on different algorithms are highly variable, implying the importance of robust multi-model assessments, which are, however, rare (Ryan et al., 2016). A review by Santini et al. (2021) suggested that 65% of the reviewed studies relied on single models, not considering the fact that future projections can markedly differ depending on the used SDM (Huang et al., 2018). The variability of future projections further depends on the used predictors and strategy for their selection, including treatment of variables' co-linearity, climatic scenarios, and other factors (Santini et al., 2021).

We focused on eight co-occurring woody species in southern Africa with high commercial, ecological, and cultural values. These species play critical ecological roles in local ecosystems, such as determining nutrient cycling and light availability, regulating climate, and creating habitats for other species (Ryan et al., 2016). Therefore, their dominance and distribution changes can trigger a cascade of ecological processes transforming traditional landscapes and threatening biodiversity. Moreover, their spatial reorganization may create new assemblies of ES with hard-to-predict impacts on native human communities.

Our objective was to investigate how climate change threatens these species' potential current and future distributions and identify regional winner and loser species, i.e., species gaining and losing areas with climatically suitable conditions. Next, we aimed to assess the implications for providing crucial ES by identifying areas where conditions for one or several species providing timber, energy, and food, are projected to persist, decline, or expand. We hypothesize that the projected changes will exhibit a distinct spatial pattern, forming hotspots and coldspots of multiple species retreat and persistence. Further, we hypothesize that this pattern will, at least partly, translate into the hotspots and coldspots of ES provision, which are the areas where multiple species providing a specific ES retreat or persist. Such research can inform where local human communities can face severe loss of ES due to the concurrent decline in several key species and where the provision of ES is likely to be sustained.

#### 2. Materials and methods

#### 2.1. Study area

We assessed a large part of sub-Saharan Africa, comprising Angola, Botswana, Congo, Democratic Republic of Congo, Equatorial Guinea, Eswatini, Gabon, Kenya, Lesotho, Malawi, Mozambique, Namibia, Rwanda, South Africa, Tanzania, Uganda, Zambia, and Zimbabwe (Fig. 1). The entire study area covers 36% of the continent. The region includes several biomes, including tropical and subtropical moist broadleaf forests; tropical and subtropical grassland savanna and dry forests; montane grasslands and shrubland; dryland desert; and the Mediterranean woodland (Abson et al., 2012; Olson et al., 2001). The region includes the Miombo and Mopane woodlands harboring exceptional biodiversity



Fig. 1. Study area, state borders, and eco-regions by Olson et al. (2001). The study area's location in the African continent is shown too.

and conservation values, and semi-arid shrublands (Dewees et al., 2010; Munalula et al., 2020; Ryan et al., 2016). The regional woodlands provide around 26% of cash subsistence and income for people in rural areas (Ryan et al., 2016). Therefore, conflicts between nature conservation and human activities, such as agriculture, are frequent and threaten conservation objectives (Wangai et al., 2016).

#### 2.2. Methods

#### 2.2.1. Species selection and occurrence data

We focused on eight indigenous woody species (Chirwa et al., 2014): Baikiaea plurijuga, Guibourtia coleosperma, Schinziophyton rautanenii, Combretum imberbe, Brachystegia spiciformis, Colophospermum mopane, and Strychnos cocculoides (Table 1). They have high ecological and socioeconomic values and provide construction material, fuel, food, and medicine to local communities and international markets (Chirwa et al., 2008, 2014; Ryan et al., 2016). The criteria for selecting the species were: (i) they provide a range of ES and goods, (ii) they occur over large climatic gradients, and (iii) there is a sufficient number of occurrence records available, allowing us to model their current and future distributions (Table 1).

The species' occurrence data were obtained from The Global Biodiversity Information Facility (GBIF.org, 2021a, b, c, d, e, f, g, 2022) (Fig. A.1). The GBIF data were collated from various sources, such as museum specimens, direct observations, and different published materials. We extracted records from all available sources. We removed duplicate records and records tagged as having suspicious coordinates. Further, we spatially rarefied the selected records, i.e., we replaced the clusters of points within the distance of 10 km (as suggested by Brown, 2014) with a single record. This operation was intended to reduce the spatial bias in the occurrence data known to have an adverse effect on SDM calibration (Boria et al., 2014; Brown et al., 2017).

#### 2.2.2. Climatic variables

The gridded climate data were obtained from the AFRICLIM 3.0 dataset, which provides climate projections with the resolution of 30' for entire Africa

and several baseline datasets based on past observations (Platts et al., 2015). The dataset includes monthly temperature and precipitation grids and 21 bioclimatic variables (Table B.1). The baseline datasets are for different periods and include CRU CL 2.0 (1961–1990), TAMSAT TARCAT v2.0 (1983–2012), (1983–2012), and WorldClim v. 1.4 (1950–2000). Here we used AFRICLIM ENSEMBLES 3.0 based on WorldClim.

The climate projections are based on 18 combinations of five Regional Climate Models (RCMs) and ten General Circulation Models (GCMs). The projections are driven by two Representative Concentration Pathways of the IPCC-AR5: RCP4.5 and RCP8.5 (Moss et al., 2010). The highresolution climate maps for the future were produced by the delta-change method (Platts et al., 2015) combining information from RCM results with the baseline observation-based data (Worldclim v. 1.4 in this study). First, the difference between the simulated future and past climatologies were calculated based on the RCM data, referred to as anomalies. Then, spline-interpolation of anomalies was used to produce high-resolution gridded anomaly maps (see also Hutchinson et al., 1996). Finally, the baseline observation-based maps were modified by the interpolated anomaly maps (Platts et al., 2015). This procedure was applied to monthly temperature and precipitation grids. Then, the projected temperature and precipitation grids were used to calculate future projections of all bioclimatic indices (Appendix B).

In this study, we used data for 2071–2100 calculated as the average of 18 projections (GCM-RCM pairs) separately for RCP4.5 and RCP8.5. We selected a subset of available bioclimatic variables by inspecting their correlation matrix and preserving those with Pearson's correlation below 0.8 (Raes and Aguirre Gutierrez, 2018) (Fig. B.1). We retained six variables, which represented temperature and water-related constraints, and characterized the initial set of 21 variables (Table 2). This approach is supported by Brun et al. (2020), who suggested keeping the number of predictors in SDMs reasonably small and their collinearity low.

#### 2.2.3. Species distribution modelling

We used a MaxEnt algorithm (Phillips et al., 2006; Phillips and Dudík, 2008) to model the investigated species' current and future climatic

Species addressed by this study, their habitats, number of occurrence records after rarefying, and social-ecological importance. Climatic limits (P, T) refer to the climatic conditions from 1950 to 2000 in species' current distribution. Source (GBIF.org; IUCN, 2021; Orwa et al., 2009).

Habitat and ecology No. Species Uses No. of records 1 A source of timber and charcoal. Bark is used for medicine and Rhodesian-teak (Baikiaea Semi-deciduous tree. Dominant in tropical dry deciduous forest. 95 plurijuga) P: 600-1100 mm; T: 27-30°C; E: 900-1200 m a.s.l. tanning traditional leather. 2 African rosewood Semi-evergreen tree. Occurs in open woodlands and deep Kalahari Important timber species. Roots are used for medicine. Seed oil is 114 (Guibourtia coleosperma) sands. P: 450-1100 mm; T: 20-28°C; E: 750-1400 m a.s.l. used for cooking. 3 Manketti (Schinziophyton Deciduous tree. Occurs mainly on Kalahari sandy woodlands, and Fruits are an important food source, and are used to produce a 49 rautanenii) grasslands, P: 150-1000 mm: T: 18-30°C: E: 200-1500 m a.s.l. traditional alcohol, Roots are used in the traditional medicine, Wood is used for woodcrafts. Leadwood (Combretum Semi-deciduous shrub or tree. Common in open woodlands, wooded Source of construction material, firewood, and charcoal. Roots, 4 297 savanna, and along streams and rivers. P: 450-700 mm; T: 18-24°C; leaves, and bark are used in traditional medicine, and foliage for imberbe) E: <1000 m a.s.l. animal fodder. An important source of fiber, fuelwood, timber, fodder, and 5 Zebrawood (Brachystegia Deciduous shrub or tree. Occurs mainly in Kalahari woodlands on 355 spiciformis) ridges and escarpments. P: 600-1200 mm; T: 14-28°C; E: 50-2000 m medicine. a.s.l. Deciduous medium-to-large tree. Occurs mainly in savanna 6 Mopane (Colophospermum Mopane worms is an important source of food and income for local 340 woodlands, and river valleys of central and southern Africa. people. Wood is used for timber, fuelwood, construction, and mopane) P: 250-700 mm; T: 26-36°C; E: 300-1000 m a.s.l. charcoal. Leaves are used in medicin. 7 Corky monkey - orange Tropical evergreen shrub or small tree. Mainly occur in tropical The fruits have economic importance and serve as a food source. 114 (Strychnos cocculoides) deciduous woodlands and lowlands of Africa. P: 600-1200 mm.; Roots are used in medicine. T: 16-28°C; E: 400-2000 m a.s.l. 8 Wild teak (Pterocarpus Medium-to-large deciduous tree. Occurs in wooded grasslands and Key timbers species. Bark is used for medicine, leaves are used as 349 angolensis) savannas. P: 700-1500 mm; T: 12-32°C; E: <1800 m a.s.l. animal fodder

Pr - mean annual rainfall; Te - mean annual temperature; El -elevation above sea level.

suitability. MaxEnt applies the principle of maximum entropy distribution to predict the relative suitability values for a species based on species presence records and environmental predictors (Merow et al., 2013; Phillips et al., 2006). MaxEnt is a machine learning method used for making predictions or inferences from information that is often incomplete, such as species occurrence and biodiversity data (Chetan et al., 2014; Phillips et al., 2006). It uses an approach based on the presence-background data (Guillera-Arroita et al., 2014), with presence data representing observations and background data sampled at background locations either regularly or addressing known biases in the sampling process. MaxEnt's raw outputs represent relative suitability for a species, yet, modifications allowing for interpretation in terms of likelihood occurrence were proposed too (Royle et al., 2012).

We developed a MaxEnt model for each species using occurrence records from the GBIF (Table 1) and bioclimatic variables from AFRICLIM (Table 2). Based on the iterative testing of different combinations of feature classes and regularization multipliers, we used linear, quadratic, product, and hinge feature classes, and a regularization multiplier 1. These settings were found to maintain an appropriate balance between model simplicity and complexity (i.e., avoiding under- and overfitting) (Chłond and Junkiert, 2015; Kramer-Schadt et al., 2013; Levinsky et al., 2013). We applied a 10-fold cross-validation for each model building, partitioning the data into a training and a testing data set (Chetan et al., 2014; Chłond and Junkiert, 2015; Raes and Aguirre Gutierrez, 2018).

The models' predictive performance was evaluated by the Area Under the Curve (AUC) of the Receiver Operating Characteristic (ROC) (Kramer-Schadt et al., 2013; Porfirio et al., 2014; Raes and Aguirre Gutierrez,

Table 2

Bioclimatic variables used for the species distribution modeling. The variables were selected out of the 21 candidate variables included in the AFRICLIM 3.0 dataset.

Code	Variable description	Unit
BIO1	Mean annual temperature (Mean of monthly means)	°C
BIO3	Isothermality (100 $ imes$ Mean annual rainfall / Annual	°C
	temperature range)	
BIO5	Maximum temperature of the warmest month	°C
BIO10	Mean temperature of the warmest quarter (Any	°C
	consecutive three-month period)	
PET	Potential evapotranspiration (Hargreaves, 1985)	mm
MI	Annual moisture index (Mean annual rainfall / PET $ imes$ 100)	$mm mm^{-1} \times 100$

2018), and the True Skill Statistics (TSS) (Allouche et al., 2006). The AUC measures the probability that a randomly drawn presence record has a higher predicted probability of occurrence than a randomly drawn absence (Raes and Aguirre Gutierrez, 2018). The metric ranges from 0 to 1, with values below 0.5 indicating that the model performs no better than the random model. Values between 0.7 and 0.9 are interpreted as a good performance and above 0.9 as perfect discrimination (Phillips et al., 2006; Phillips and Dudík, 2008). However, the AUC's use as a performance indicator of models relying on pseudoabsence data can be misleading due to the inflation of false absences (Elith et al., 2006), and other reasons discussed by Lobo et al. (2008). Therefore, we also used the TSS defined as:

$$TTS = sensitivity + specificity - 1$$
 (1)

where sensitivity is the fraction of correctly predicted presences and specificity is the fraction of correctly predicted absences.

We used two complementary metrics to evaluate the relative importance of climatic predictors to the models: percent contribution and permutation importance (Phillips et al., 2006; Raes and Aguirre Gutierrez, 2018). The percent contribution is calculated during the model building that incrementally increases the model's gain by modifying the coefficients of a single variable, assigning the gains to the variable, and recalculating the gains to percentages at the end of the training. The permutation importance uses a randomization procedure, where the values of the investigated variable are randomly permutated, and model performances with the original and permutated variable are compared.

We used a logistic output of MaxEnt, which provides continuous distribution maps with suitability values ranging from 0 (unsuitable) to 1 (highly suitable) (Kong et al., 2021; Yuan et al., 2015). We deployed the trained models with future climate data to produce the maps of species-specific climatic suitability for 2071–2100. We used MaxEnt v.3.4.4 (Phillips et al., 2004, 2006; Phillips and Dudík, 2008).

#### 2.2.4. Postprocessing of modelling outputs

To discriminate between areas considered suitable and unsuitable for a species, we applied a 10th percentile threshold calculated from the training data, excluding 10% of the occurrence records with the lowest probability of occurrence from the predicted occurrence range (Phillips et al., 2006; Raes and Aguirre Gutierrez, 2018; Ray et al., 2018). Previous studies recommended such a value as outperforming thresholds based, for example, on

Table 3

The investigated species and main categories of ecosystem services they provide.

Species	Ecosystem service		ce
	Timber	Food	Energy (fuelwood, charcoal)
Rhodesian-teak (Baikiaea plurijuga)	Х		Х
African rosewood (Guibourtia coleosperma)	х	х	
Manketti (Schinziophyton rautanenii)		х	
Leadwood (Combretum imberbe)			Х
Zebrawood (Brachystegia spiciformis)			Х
Mopane (Colophospermum mopane)	Х	Х	Х
Corky monkey - orange (Strychnos cocculoides)		Х	
Wild Teak (Pterocarpus angolensis)	Х		

minimum training presence, equal training sensitivity and specificity, and 0.5 logistic probability (Escalante et al., 2013; Raes and Aguirre Gutierrez, 2018).

The binary suitability maps (depicting suitable and unsuitable areas discriminated by the threshold above) for the period 2071–2100 were compared with the baseline suitability maps to identify areas of range contraction, range expansion, and areas of no change; this has been done separately for the two RCP scenarios.

To identify winner and loser species, we ranked the species based on two indicators: (i) '(baseline range area – contraction area) / baseline range area', which describes the level of vulnerability of the baseline range; and (ii) '(expansion area – contraction area) / baseline range area', which indicates how the species can benefit from climate change in terms of its future gains of the suitable areas.

Next, we combined the projected ranges of all species to identify areas where climatic suitability for multiple species was projected to decline (hotspots), and areas where climatic suitability for multiple species was projected to persist (coldspots). We set the arbitrary threshold of four species retreating from or persisting within their baseline range to produce a binary classification of hotspots and coldspots. We focused this assessment on the central part of the study area, where at least four out of eight target species co-occurred under the baseline climate (3.4 million km<sup>2</sup>, Fig. D.1b).

Finally, we extended this assessment by considering the major ES provided by the species, i.e., timber, food, and energy. We assigned an attribute to each species representing the category of ES or goods it provides (Table 3). Then, we identified areas where the potential for the provision of a given ES was projected to decline due to the decline in land's climatic suitability for one or multiple species and where the provisioning potential is expected to persist at the baseline level.

All analyses were conducted in ArcGIS Desktop v. 10.8 (ESRI, 2020), SDMToolbox v.2.4 (Brown et al., 2017; http://sdmtoolbox.org/), and Statistica 13.4 (TIBCO Software Inc., 2018).

#### 3. Results

#### 3.1. Models performance and predictor importance

The mean AUC calculated based on ten replicated runs ranged between species from 0.8 to 0.96 and TSS from 0.42 to 0.85 (Table C.1). The highest

values were reached for *Baikiaea plurijuga* (AUC 0.96, TSS 0.85) and *Guibourtia coleosperma* (AUC 0.96, TSS 0.82). A model for *Pterocarpus angolensis* had the lowest performance with AUC 0.82 and TSS 0.42.

The relative contribution of underlying climate variables evaluated based on the permutation importance differed among species (Table C.2). Isothermality was the most influential for *S. rautanenii* (52.5%), *C. imberbe* (24.6%), *S. cocculoides* (38.5%), and *P. angolensis* (39.6%). Annual moisture index was the most influential for *B. plurijuga* (49.6%), *B. spiciformis* (39.7%), and *C. mopane* (50.6%). The potential evapotranspiration had the greatest effect on the distribution of *G. coleosperna* (60%). The importance values for the remaining variables are in Appendix C.

The assessments based on the jackknife analysis and the relative percent contribution are indicated in Table C.3 and Fig. C.1. The overall pattern does not differ from the results based on the permutation importance.

#### 3.2. Species distribution ranges

The baseline ranges of suitability markedly differed among species, with S. cocculoides occupying the largest area of 5 million km<sup>2</sup> and B. plurijuga occupying the smallest area of 0.6 million km<sup>2</sup> (Table 4, Fig. A1). Climate change substantially modified the modelled baseline suitability. Yet, the impact differed among species and between RCPs (Fig. 2). The baseline suitability range of G. coleosperma was projected to disappear entirely under both climatic scenarios in 2071-2100. The new suitable conditions appeared in Angola and on large areas east of the baseline range under RCP4.5 but not RCP8.5. The baseline range of B. plurijuga was halved under RCP4.5 and nearly disappeared under RCP8.5. At the same time, conditions suitable for the species significantly expanded in the future under both RCPs (Table 4), mainly into Angola, Zambia, Zimbabwe, and South Africa. The baseline range of P. angolensis, was projected to decline under both RCPs, mainly in northern Namibia; western, southern, and eastern Angola; and central and southern parts of Zambia. Future suitable areas showed only minor gains (12% and 13% under the two RCPs, Table 4). The baseline range of B. spiciformis declined under both RCPs, while future gains in suitable areas were minor (9 and 6%), mainly between Angola and Zambia, and southeast of South Africa. Future suitable areas were rather fragmented compared to the remaining species. Finally, the baseline ranges of S. rautanenii and C. mopane were the least affected by climate change, while their area of future suitability nearly doubled.

From the perspective of winner and loser species (see the two indicators described in Methods), the baseline suitability range of *C. mopane* was least affected by climate change. At the same time, the area of its future distribution was projected to double. This pattern was consistent under both RCPs, rendering this species a regional winner (Fig. 3). *C. imberbe* and *S. rautaniemi* showed high future gains, too; however, the impact on their baseline suitability range differed between RCPs. The distribution of *G. coleosperma* was most affected: its baseline range has declined entirely, and the future gain was negligible, rendering the species a regional loser. The remaining species were projected to experience baseline range reduction by 30 and 80% and an expansion of 40 to 120% relative to the baseline range, with significant differences between RCPs. It is noteworthy that the two evaluated aspects, i.e., the vulnerability of the baseline range and the ability to benefit

#### Table 4

Predicted changes (%) in climatically suitable areas of the studied species relative to the baseline suitability range under two climatic scenarios.

	•						
Species	Baseline range (million km <sup>2</sup> )	Expansion (%)		Contraction (%)		No change (%)	
		RCP4.5	RCP8.5	RCP4.5	RCP8.5	RCP4.5	RCP8.5
Rhodesian-teak (Baikiaea_plurijuga)	0.6	39.0	31.7	47.7	93.5	52.3	6.5
African rosewood (Guibourtia_coleosperma)	0.7	66.1	1.6	100.0	100.0	0.0	0.0
Manketti (Schinziophyton_rautanenii)	2.1	79.8	50.5	4.6	35.3	95.4	64.7
Leadwood (Combretum_imberbe)	2.9	27.5	52.8	33.2	25.4	66.8	74.6
Zebrawood (Brachystegia_spiciformis)	3.8	8.7	6.1	55.5	62.7	44	37.3
Mopane (Colophospermum_mopane)	1.6	65.2	102.8	6.7	19.7	93.3	80.3
Corky monkey — orange (Strychnos_cocculoides)	5.0	6.9	3.7	32.0	67.9	68.0	32.1
Wild teak (Pterocarpus_angolensis)	4.3	12.0	13.0	38.9	40.4	61.1	59.6



Fig. 2. Changes in the distribution of climatically suitable areas for eight woody species in southern Africa under two climatic scenarios: (A) RCP4.5, and (B) RCP8.5. State boundaries are displayed too.



Fig. 3. Ranking of the investigated species by the values of (A) "(baseline range area – contraction area) / baseline range area" indicating the vulnerability of the baseline range; and (B) "(expansion area – contraction area) / baseline range area" indicating how the species can benefit from climate change in terms of future range relative to the baseline range. The species are ranked by the RCP8.5 projection.

from climate change in terms of future gains of suitable areas, produced the same species ranking.

#### 3.3. A multi-species perspective

The major hotspot zone, i.e., the area where land climatic suitability was projected to decline in 2071–2100 for more than four out of the eight addressed species (see Methods section) formed an east-west oriented belt along the borders of Angola, Namibia, Botswana, Zambia, and Zimbabwe (Fig. 4). This pattern was present in both RCPs. The hotspot covered parts of the Baikiaea-mopane woodlands and the Miombo woodland in central southern Africa. It also partly stretched into the montane forests on the east, which belong to the Eastern Afromontane Biodiversity Hotspot (Mittermeier et al., 2011).

The coldspot area, where conditions suitable for at least four out of eight species were projected to persist, differed distinctly between the two RCPs (Fig. 4). It formed three distinct zones under the RCP4.5 distributed (i) along the west-central of Angola; (ii) in the border area of Angola, Zambia, Botswana, and Namibia in the Baikiaea-Mopane woodland; and (iii) in the area passing from the north of South Africa to Zambia. The latter zone consisted of many fragmented areas covering a range of ecosystems from the South African montane forests, Baikiaea-Mopane and Miombo woodlands, to the coastal forests (see Fig. 1). Under the RCP8.5, the coldspot areas distinctly shrunk and created a fragmented pattern scattered across the study region.

#### 3.4. Ecosystem services perspective

Timber provision, which is mainly related to *B. plurijuga*, *G. coleosperma*, *C. mopane*, and *P. angolensis* (Table 3), was the most affected ES due to the



Fig. 4. Hotspot areas, where climate suitable for multiple species was projected to retreat in 2071–2100, and coldspot areas, where climate suitable for multiple species was projected to persist. The results are based on aggregating species-specific projections for 2071–2100 relative to the period 1950–2000. Two climatic scenarios were considered: (A) RCP4.5 and (B) RCP8.5.

extensive decline in land climatic suitability for the former three species (Fig. 5A–B). The most affected areas formed an east-west belt in southern Angola, northern Namibia and Botswana, and southern and westem parts of Zambia. While this zone was relatively small under the RCP4.5 and was mostly located in the north of Namibia, it enlarged several-fold under the RCP8.5, covering an area of 1 million km<sup>2</sup>. The coldspot (least affected) areas of timber provision were absent under RCP4.5 (Fig. 5C–D), and were fragmentarily distributed in the eastern montane forests, bushes, and the Miombo and Mopane woodlands under RCP8.5. We identified several coldspot areas of food provision, related to the presence of *G. coleosperma, S. rautanenii, S. cocculoides*, and *C. mopane*. However, no significant hotspot area was identified. We did not identify any distinct hotspot or coldspot pattern related to the species used for energy provision.

#### 4. Discussion

In this study, we explored the anticipated changes in land climatic suitability for eight woody species known to provide a broad range of regulatory, provision, and cultural services. We proposed a novel methodology for identifying the most and least vulnerable areas from ecological and ES perspectives. We highlighted that vulnerabilities and risks exhibit distinct spatial patterns, which may need to be considered by managers, policymakers, funding organizations, and individual donors seeking sciencebased guidance (Jantz et al., 2015; Leisher et al., 2022). We further discuss the implications and methodological limitations of our findings.

#### 4.1. Methodological limitation

Using correlative models (i.e., models predicting species distribution as a function of environmental conditions) such as MaxEnt assumes that species occurrence data characterize species fundamental niche adequately, i.e., the entire range of conditions where species can survive was sampled

(Booth et al., 2014). This is not true for many species because the sampling often does not cover their current distribution entirely, and their current distribution often does not correspond with their fundamental niche (Botella et al., 2020; Costa et al., 2010). The latter effect can be particularly severe in African species used for timber and charcoal with human-altered distributions such as C. mopane, P. angolensis, and G. coleosperma (Pelletier et al., 2019). Lacking knowledge of species phenotypic plasticity and local adaptation is another potentially important factor when it comes to species persistence and expansion under changing climatic conditions (des Roches et al., 2017). However, such processes are rarely considered in SDM-based projections (e.g., Benito Garzón et al., 2019; Valladares et al., 2014), mainly because intraspecific trait data are too scarce to allow parametrizing such models. Provenance experiments, where species are intentionally translocated to conditions different from their original sites, can elucidate these effects' importance; such experiments are, however, rare in southern Africa (Akinnifesi et al., 2004). Generally, models considering species phenotypic plasticity and local adaptation are likely to deliver less alarming messages than models neglecting this information (Benito Garzón et al., 2019); a fact that warrants attention in interpreting the outcomes of SDM projections.

The quality of climate data and choice of a dataset are other aspects affecting the presented predictions (Abdulwahab et al., 2022; Datta et al., 2020). For example, the used AFRICLIM contains an RCM-based climate change signal (Platts et al., 2015), making it superior to Worldclim, which uses GCM-based anomaly values (see Methods). On the other hand, the used version of AFRICLIM uses Worldclim 1.4 as a baseline, though Worldclim 2.1 based on a denser station network has already been released (Fick and Hijmans, 2017). The effect of differences between Worldclim versions on SDM outputs has been assessed for Europe (Cerasoli et al., 2022), yet the transferability of these findings to sub-Saharan Africa with different station density (Kaspar et al., 2022) can be limited. Finally, the 30' resolution of the used climate data limits smaller scale assessment,



Fig. 5. Areas where climatic suitability for multiple species providing specific ecosystem service was projected to retreat (A–B) and persist (C–D). The results are based on aggregating species-specific projections for 2071–2100 relative to the period 1950–2000. Two climatic scenarios were considered: RCP4.5 (A, C) and RCP8.5 (B, D).

such as the identification of microclimatic refugia (Barrows et al., 2020), yet this limitation should not be severe in the presented large-scale assessment. Using higher-resolution data that better captures the effects of terrain-induced climate transitions, water bodies, and other features would increase these projections' applicability at smaller scales. Still, the so-called effective resolution that depends on the density of underlying station data (Daly, 2006) is particularly limiting in sub-Saharan Africa, where monitoring infrastructure is largely underdeveloped (Haselip and Hughes, 2018; Posada et al., 2018).

We considered two RCP scenarios to capture the variability of future developments. Yet, we used the average ensemble of climate projections produced by different combinations of GCMs and RCMs driven by each RCP. This averaging likely underestimated future projections' variability, particularly concerning precipitation-related variables, which typically vary between the RCM-GCM pairs more than between the RCPs (Saini et al., 2015). Future studies could consider all or a subset of the underlying climate projections, which, even if combined with different SDMs, can capture the future uncertainty of vegetation responses more comprehensively (Jiang et al., 2012).

Although we considered climate predictors only, model performance was high, supporting the validity of our findings. Previous studies have supported the prominence of climate in determining species distribution

on a large scale, for example, those focused on the distribution of palm species in Africa (Blach-Overgaard et al., 2010) and vertebrate species in Florida (Bucklin et al., 2015). Still, land-use, soil conditions, and nonenvironmental constraints should be considered, particularly at smaller scales and for species with azonal and man-altered distributions (Pelletier et al., 2019; Sieben, 2019; Hageer et al., 2017).

We proposed a methodology for mapping species distribution vulnerability hotspots and coldspots by identifying areas where climatic conditions for multiple species were projected to persist or decline. Although this approach is straightforward, the interpretations should be cautious. This approach, for example, assumes that the baseline species pool is equal across the study region and that the social or ecological impact of different species retreats is similar. However, compensatory dynamics emerging from species diversity and functional asynchrony, which may involve species not included in this analysis, can potentially mitigate some impacts and stabilize the provision of ES (Gonzalez and Loreau, 2008; Winfree and Kremen, 2008). This is particularly relevant for highly diverse and species-rich ecosystems such as the Miombo and Mopane woodlands, where such dynamics can be anticipated (Gonçalves et al., 2017). Therefore, the identified hotspot and coldspot areas need to be interpreted with respect to the baseline distribution of the eight addressed species, which is obviously limiting. We strived to mitigate this limitation by carefully selecting ecologically and socially relevant species, which could thus approximate the overall pattern of future risks.

#### 4.2. Ecological and social implications

Our projection highlighted remarkable differences in climatic sensitivity of species distribution, rendering a specific pattern of winners and losers and the distinct geographical pattern of multi-species vulnerability. Generally, the distribution of species with a small baseline range, such as B. plurijuga, and G. coleosperma, were found to be the most threatened by climate change, i.e., the climatic suitability within their baseline range declined, and future gains were insignificant. At the same time, species with large baseline distributions, such as S. rautanenii, C. imberbe, and C. mopane, benefited from climate change in terms of (i) the persistence of suitable conditions within their baseline range and (ii) large future gains. This finding supports the hypothesis of the positive relationship between the niche breadth and range size, which, although generally positive, was found to largely vary between the species (Slatyer et al., 2013; Staude et al., 2020). Among the studied species, for example, S. cocculoides and P. angolensis occupied relatively large ranges under the baseline climate; they, however, did not benefit from climate change in terms of future gains. Our assessment indicated that C. mopane is a regional winner, which is particularly important regarding the broad range of ES the species provides, including timber, food, medicine, and energy (Makhado et al., 2014; Sekonya et al., 2020). A similar result was presented by Ngarega et al. (2021), who considered a broader range of climatic and non-climatic predictors in their assessment, and found species distribution relatively resistant to climate change. Yet, their estimate of species expansion was more conservative than ours.

Although we considered the expansion of climatically suitable areas for the species, this information should be treated cautiously because of numerous constraints on the physical species expansion (Gonçalves et al., 2021; Weiskopf et al., 2020). These include, for example, landscape fragmentation, new biotic interactions, and a fast pace of climate change, which many species are unable to track (Littlefield et al., 2019). Still, the presented expansion patterns may inform assisted migration and species translocation efforts by identifying suitable target locations (Hällfors et al., 2016); this application is less constrained by the factors thereof.

In the recent decade, the identification of "hotspot" regions that are particularly vulnerable to climate change and where human security can be at risk has received significant attention as a tool for communicating climatic exposure, multivariate risks, and multi-sectoral vulnerabilities (de Sherbinin, 2014; Hlásny et al., 2021; Piontek et al., 2014). The hotspot maps were also found to be a transparent, science-based, and defensible tool for priority setting for donor organizations and individuals (Barnett et al., 2008). Here we identified several distinct hotspots of species range vulnerability, where climatic suitability for multiple species was projected to decline, and coldspots of potential species persistence. Interestingly, while coldspot were unstable under the two RCPs, and their area shrunk significantly under RCP8.5, the hotspot areas exhibited high stability. The central hotspot area was located at the borders of Angola, Zambia, Namibia, and Botswana in the Miombo and Mopane woodlands. This finding is alarming because of the potential loss of vital ecological functions over the large areas of the woodlands, which support the livelihood of ca 10 million rural people and 50 million urban dwellers (Ryan et al., 2016). In fact, the high vulnerability of these woodlands has been reported in previous studies, including risks such as phenological disruption and species turnover driven by a shorter and shifted growing season, reduced water availability, and fire regime shift (Prichard et al., 2017). However, Ryan et al. (2016) suggested that these projections can be uncertain given many unknown responses and feedbacks, including the positive CO2 fertilization effect (Scheiter et al., 2020), and ambiguous results of studies on remote sensing-based assessment of vegetation conditions (e.g., Zhu et al., 2016). Therefore, further research on the emergent biotic interactions and implications for ES is needed in southern Africa to reduce some of the most pronounced known uncertainties in assessing future impacts of climate change (Carpenter et al., 2012).

The uncertainties in ecological responses make the assessment of the impact on ES even more problematic (Ryan et al., 2016). Still, we identified the hotspots and coldspots of ES provision by considering the decline and persistence of land climatic suitability for species providing specific ES. Species important for timber production (B. plurijuga, P. angolensis, and G. coleosperma – but not C. mopane) were affected the most, rendering this ecosystem service the most vulnerable. The high risks to key timber species of the Miombo woodland in Angola and Zimbabwe were also highlighted by Catarino et al. (2021), and Pelletier et al. (2019). The former authors particularly underscored the vulnerability of G. coleosperma due to its restricted distribution and high market value; we identified this species as a regional loser. The major hotspot emerged in the same area as the species retreat hotspot discussed above, and it was significantly larger under RCP8.5 than under RCP4.5. At the same time, the coldspot areas of timber provision were rather unstable under the two RCPs. Interestingly, although the projected changes in land climatic suitability for single species providing food and energy were substantial, they did not form any significant hotspot or coldspot pattern.

Assessments of these impacts did not consider the high species richness in parts of southern Africa and options for the emergent compensatory dynamics (i.e., one species functionally replacing the other) in terms of ecological functions and ES (Gonzalez and Loreau, 2008; Winfree and Kremen, 2008). This could result in a compensation of some losses or certain shifts in the traditional portfolios of ecosystem services (Filgueiras et al., 2021), potentially mitigating some impacts. However, such processes need to be intensively monitored to inform policies and management strategies supporting the use of alternative resources. The compensatory dynamics emerging from species richness, diversity, asynchrony, and complementarity is an important knowledge gap in southern Africa, which can be crucial for informing new adaptation strategies.

#### 5. Conclusions

Climate change alters species distribution and the provision of ES globally, yet, our understanding of these effects remains limited in many regions of southern Africa. These limitations hamper the formulation of knowledge-based adaptation strategies and the provision of adequate guidance for implementing adaptation and mitigation projects. Our projections portrayed distinct regional differences in species range vulnerability, including hotspot and coldspot areas, where climatic suitability for multiple species was projected to decline or persist. Although the coldspot areas may represent opportunities for adaptation planning, their instability between the RCPs questions this option. From the ES perspective, the timber

production-related species were most affected, posing a significant risk for local communities and regional economies. Further research should aim to better understand intraspecific variability, including phenotypic plasticity and local adaptation of species, novel interspecific interactions, and possible compensatory dynamics emerging from species and functional diversity, which can mitigate some of the presented impacts. However, this requires improving regional research and monitoring infrastructure and options for using more advanced mechanistic models for identifying future risks.

#### Data availability

The species occurrence data used for this research have been archived in the Zenodo repository: DOI. https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.6586927.

#### CRediT authorship contribution statement

Alpo Kapuka: Data curation, Formal analysis, Investigation, Methodology, Validation, Visualization, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. Laura Dobor: Validation, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. Tomáš Hlásny: Conceptualization, Investigation, Methodology, Supervision, Validation, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing.

#### Data availability

The species occurrence data used for this research have been archived in the Zenodo repository: DOI. https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.6586927

#### Declaration of competing interest

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

#### Acknowledgment

This research was funded by the OPRDE grant number "EVA4.0." No. CZ.02.1.01/0.0/0.0/16\_019/0000803X.

#### Appendix A. Supplementary data

Supplementary data to this article can be found online at https://doi. org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2022.158006.

#### References

- Abdulwahab, U.A., Hammill, E., Hawkins, C.P., 2022. Choice of climate data affects the performance and interpretation of species distribution models. Ecol. Model. 471, 110042. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ECOLMODEL.2022.110042
- Abson, D.J., Dougill, A.J., Stringer, L.C., 2012. Using principal component analysis for information-rich socio-ecological vulnerability mapping in Southern Africa. Appl. Geogr. 35, 515–524. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apgeog.2012.08.004.Akinnifesi, F.K., Kwesiga, F.R., Mhango, J., Mkonda, A., Chilanga, T., Swai, R., 2004. Domes-
- Akinnifesi, F.K., Kwesiga, F.R., Mhango, J., Mkonda, A., Chilanga, T., Swai, R., 2004. Domesticating priority for miombo indigenous fruit trees as a promising livelihood option for small-holder farmers in Southern Africa. Acta Hortic. 632, 15–30. https://doi.org/10. 17660/actahortic.2004.632.1.
- Allouche, O., Tsoar, A., Kadmon, R., 2006. Assessing the accuracy of species distribution models: prevalence, kappa and the true skill statistic (TSS). J. Appl. Ecol. 43, 1223–1232. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1365-2664.2006.01214.X.
- Anderegg, W.R.L., Anderegg, L.D.L., Kerr, K.L., Trugman, A.T., 2019. Widespread droughtinduced tree mortality at dry range edges indicates that climate stress exceeds species' compensating mechanisms. Glob. Chang. Biol. 25, 3793–3802. https://doi.org/10. 1111/GCB.14771.
- Andries, A., Morse, S., Murphy, R.J., Lynch, J., Woolliams, E.R., 2022. Using data from Earth observation to support sustainable development indicators: an analysis of the literature and challenges for the future. Sustainability (Switzerland) 14. https://doi.org/10.3390/ SU14031191.
- Balsamo, G., Agusti-Panareda, A., Albergel, C., Arduini, G., Beljaars, A., Bidlot, J., et al., 2018. Satellite and in situ observations for advancing global earth surface modelling: a review. Remote Sens. 10, 2038. https://doi.org/10.3390/RS10122038.

- Barbet-Massin, M., Jiguet, F., Albert, C.H., Thuiller, W., 2012. Selecting pseudo-absences for species distribution models: how, where and how many? Methods Ecol. Evol. 3, 327–338. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.2041-210X.2011.00172.x.
- Barnett, J., Lambert, S., Fry, I., 2008. The hazards of indicators: insights from the environmental vulnerability index. Ann. Assoc. Am. Geogr. 98, 102–119. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 00045600701734315.
- Barrows, C.W., Ramirez, A.R., Sweet, I.C., Morelli, T.L., Millar, C.I., Frakes, N., et al., 2020. Validating climate-change refugia: empirical bottom-up approaches to support management actions. Front. Ecol. Environ. 18, 298–306. https://doi.org/10.1002/FEE.2205.
- Bauer, S., Scholz, I., 2010. Adaptation to climate change in Southern Africa: new boundaries for sustainable development? Clim. Dev. 2, 83–93. https://doi.org/10.3763/cdev.2010. 0040.
- Benito Garzón, M., Robson, T.M., Hampe, A., 2019. ATraitSDMs: species distribution models that account for local adaptation and phenotypic plasticity. New Phytol. 222, 1757–1765. https://doi.org/10.1111/NPH.15716.
- Bentley, LK, Robertson, M.P., Barker, N.P., 2019. Range contraction to a higher elevation: the likely future of the montane vegetation in South Africa and Lesotho. Biodivers. Conserv. 28, 131–153. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10531-018-1643-6. Blach-Overgaard, A., Svenning, J.C., Dransfield, J., Greve, M., Balslev, H., 2010. Determinants
- Blach-Overgaard, A., Svenning, J.C., Dransfield, J., Greve, M., Balslev, H., 2010. Determinants of palm species distributions across Africa: the relative roles of climate, non-climatic environmental factors, and spatial constraints. Ecography 33, 380–391. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/J.1600-0587.2010.0627.3.X.
- Booth, T.H., Nix, H.A., Busby, J.R., Hutchinson, M.F., 2014. Biodim: the first species distribution modelling package, its early applications and relevance to most current MaxEnt studies. Divers. Distrib. 20, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1111/DDL12144.
  Boria, R.A., Olson, L.E., Goodman, S.M., Anderson, R.P., 2014. Spatial filtering to reduce
- Boria, R.A., Olson, L.E., Goodman, S.M., Anderson, R.P., 2014. Spatial filtering to reduce sampling bias can improve the performance of ecological niche models. Ecol. Model. 275, 73–77. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2013.12.012.
  Botella, C., Joly, A., Monestiez, P., Bonnet, P., Munoz, F., 2020. Bias in presence-only niche
- Botella, C., Joly, A., Monestiez, P., Bonnet, P., Munoz, F., 2020. Bias in presence-only niche models related to sampling effort and species niches: lessons for background point selection. PLoS ONE 15, 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0232078.Brown, J.L, Bennett, J.R., French, C.M., 2017. SDMtoolbox 2.0: the next generation Python-
- Brown, J.L., Bennett, J.R., French, C.M., 2017. SDMtoolbox 2.0: the next generation Pythonbased GIS toolkit for landscape genetic, biogeographic and species distribution model analyses. PeerJ 2017. https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.4095.
- Brown, J.L., 2014. SDMtoolbox: a python-based GIS toolkit for landscape genetic, biogeographic and species distribution model analyses. Methods Ecol. Evol. 5, 694–700. https://doi.org/10.1111/2041-210X.12200.
- Brun, P., Thuiller, W., Chauvier, Y., Pellissier, L., Wüest, R.O., Wang, Z., et al., 2020. Model complexity affects species distribution projections under climate change. J. Biogeogr. 47, 130–142. https://doi.org/10.1111/JBI.13734. Bucklin, D.N., Basille, M., Benscoter, A.M., Brandt, L.A., Mazzotti, F.J., Romañach, S.S., et al.,
- Bucklin, D.N., Bæille, M., Benscoter, A.M., Brandt, L.A., Mazzotti, F.J., Romañach, S.S., et al., 2015. Comparing species distribution models constructed with different subsets of environmental predictors. Divers. Distrib. 21, 23–35. https://doi.org/10.1111/DDI.12247. Carpenter, S.R., Folke, G., Norström, A., Olsson, O., Schultz, L., Agarwal, B., et al., 2012. Pro-
- Carpenter, S.R., Folke, C., Norström, A., Olsson, O., Schultz, L., Agarwal, B., et al., 2012. Program on ecosystem change and society: an international research strategy for integrated social-ecological systems. Curr. Opin. Environ. Sustain. 4, 134–138. https://doi.org/10. 1016/J.COSUST.2012.01.001.
- Catarino, S., Romeiras, M.M., Pereira, J.M.C., Figueira, R., 2021. Assessing the conservation of Miombo timber species through an integrated index of anthropogenic and climatic threats. Ecol. Evol. 11, 9332–9348. https://doi.org/10.1002/ECE3.7717.
- Cerasoli, F., D'Alessandro, P., Biondi, M., 2022. Worldclim 2.1 versus Worldclim 1.4: climatic niche and grid resolution affect between-version mismatches in habitat suitability models predictione acrose Furgene Ecol Evol 12, e8/200, https://doi.org/10.1002/EF2.8/200
- predictions across Europe. Ecol. Evol. 12, e8430. https://doi.org/10.1002/ECE3.8430.
  Chetan, N., Praveen, K.K., Vasudeva, G.K., 2014. Delineating ecological boundaries of hanuman langur species complex in peninsular India using MaxEnt modeling approach. PLoS ONE 9, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0087804.
- Chidumayo, E.N., 2008. Implications of climate warming on seedling emergence and mortality of African savanna woody plants. Plant Ecol. 198, 61–71. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s11258-007-9385-7.
- Chirwa, P.W., Syampungani, S., Geldenhuys, C.J., 2014. Managing Southern African woodlands for biomass production: the potential challenges and opportunities. In: Seifert, T. (Ed.), Bioenergy from Wood: Sustainable Production in the Tropics. Springer, Dordrecht, pp. 67–87 https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-007-7448-3\_4.
  Chirwa, P.W., Syampungani, S., Geldenhuys, C.J., 2008. The ecology and management of the
- Chirwa, P.W., Syampungani, S., Geldenhuys, C.J., 2008. The ecology and management of the Miombo woodlands for sustainable livelihoods in southern Africa: the case for nontimber forest products. South. For. J. For. Sci. 70, 237–245. https://doi.org/10.2989/ SF.2008.70.3.7.668.
- Chłond, D., Junkiert, L., 2015. Current and potential geographical distribution of Platymeris biguttatus (Linnaeus, 1767) with description of nymphs. Zool. Stud. 54. https://doi. org/10.1186/s40555-014-0092-5.
- Costa, G.C., Nogueira, C., Machado, R.B., Colli, G.R., 2010. Sampling bias and the use of ecological niche modeling in conservation planning: a field evaluation in a biodiversity hotspot. Biodivers. Conserv. 19, 883–899. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10531-009-9746-8. Daly, C., 2006. Guidelines for assessing the suitability of spatial climate data sets. Int.
- Daly, C., 2006. Guidelines for assessing the suitability of spatial climate data sets. Int. J. Climatol. 26, 707–721. https://doi.org/10.1002/JOC.1322.
- Datta, A., Schweiger, O., Kühn, I., 2020. Origin of climatic data can determine the transferability of species distribution models. NeoBiota 59, 61–76. https://doi.org/10.3897/ NEOBIOTA.59.36299.
- de Cauwer, V., Muys, B., Revermann, R., Trabucco, A., 2014. Potential, realised, future distribution and environmental suitability for Pterocarpus angolensis DC in southern Africa. For. Ecol. Manag. 315, 211–226. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2013.12.032.
- de Sherbinin, A., 2014. Climate change hotspots mapping: what have we learned? Clim. Chang. 123, 23–37. https://doi.org/10.1007/S10584-013-0900-7/TABLES/1.
- des Roches, S., Post, D.M., Turley, N.E., Bailey, J.K., Hendry, A.P., Kinnison, M.T., et al., 2017. The ecological importance of intraspecific variation. Nat. Ecol. Evol. 2, 57–64. https:// doi.org/10.1038/s41559-017-0402-5 2017 2:1.

- Dewees, P.A., Campbell, B.M., Katerere, Y., Sitoe, A., Cunningham, A.B., Angelsen, A., et al., 2010. Managing the Miombo woodlands of southern Africa: policies, incentives and options for the rural poor. J. Nat. Resour. Policy Res. 2, 57–73. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 19390450903350846.
- Díaz, S., Fargione, J., Chapin, F.S., Tilman, D., 2006. Biodiversity loss threatens human wellbeing. PLoS Biol. 4, 1300–1305. https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PBIO.0040277.
- Dubovik, O., Schuster, G.L., Xu, F., Hu, Y., Bösch, H., Landgraf, J., et al., 2021. Grand challenges in satellite remote sensing. Front. Remote Sens. 2, 619818. https://doi.org/10. 3389/FRSEN.2021.619818.
- Dyderski, M.K., Paź, S., Frelich, L.E., Jagodziński, A.M., 2018. How much does climate change threaten European forest tree species distributions? Glob. Chang. Biol. 24, 1150–1163. https://doi.org/10.1111/GCB.13925.
- Elith, J., Leathwick, J.R., 2009. Species distribution models: ecological explanation and prediction across space and time. 40, pp. 677–697. https://doi.org/10.1146/Annurev. Ecolsys.110308.120159.
- Elith, J.H., Graham, C.P., Anderson, R., Dudík, M., Ferrier, S., Guisan, A.J., et al., 2006. Novel methods improve prediction of species' distributions from occurrence data. Ecography 29, 129–151. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.2006.0906-7590.04596.X.
- Escalante, T., Rodríguez-Tapia, G., Linaje, M., Illoldi-Rangel, P., González-López, R., 2013. Identification of areas of endemism from species distribution models: threshold selection and nearctic mammals. TIP 16, 5–17. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1405-888X(13)72073-4.
- ESRI, 2020. ArcGIS Desktop: Release 10.8. Environmental Systems Research Institute, Redlands, CA.
- Fick, S.E., Hijmans, R.J., 2017. WorldClim 2: new 1-km spatial resolution climate surfaces for global land areas. Int. J. Climatol. 37, 4302–4315. https://doi.org/10.1002/JOC.5086. Figueiras, B.K.C., Peres, C.A., Melo, F.P.L., Leal, I.R., Tabarelli, M., 2021. Winner-loser species
- regidenas, b.k.c., retes, c.k., mes, r.k., i.e.a, i.e., i.e. adateu, w. 2021. White-noe: species replacements in human-modified landscapes. Trends Ecol. Evol. 36, 545–555. https:// doi.org/10.1016/J.TREE.2021.02.006.
- GBIF.org, 2022. GBIF Occurrence Download: Strychnos cocculoides Baker. https://doi.org/ 10.15468/dl.vnkhtz. (Accessed 31 January 2022).
- GBIF.org, 2021. GBIF Occurrence Download: Baikiaea plurijuga Harms. https://doi.org/10. 15468/dl.ewxbrw. (Accessed 27 October 2021).
- GBIF.org, 2021. GBIF Occurrence Download: Schinziophyton rautanenii (Schinz) Radcl.-Sm. https://doi.org/10.15468/dl.r2dstp.
- GBIF.org, 2021. GBIF Occurrence Download: Colophospermum mopane (J.Kirk ex Benth.) J. Léonard. https://doi.org/10.15468/dl.ecyt46. (Accessed 27 October 2021).GBIF.org, 2021. GBIF Occurrence Download: Combretum imberbe Wawra. https://doi.org/
- 10.15468/dl.rjhjeq (27 October 2021). GBIF.org, 2021. GBIF Occurrence Download: Brachystegia spiciformis Benth. https://doi.
- org/10.15468/dl.8kzxa7. (Accessed 27 October 2021). GBIF.org, 2021. GBIF Occurrence Download: Pterocarpus angolensis DC, https://doi.org/10.
- 15468/dl.emuy5z. (Accessed 10 July 2021).
- GBF.org, 2021. GBIF Occurrence Download. Guibourtia coleosperma (Benth.) J.Léonard. https://doi.org/10.15468/dl.s9um88. (Accessed 26 November 2021).
- Gonçalves, F., Sales, L.P., Galetti, M., Pires, M.M., 2021. Combined impacts of climate and land use change and the future restructuring of neotropical bat biodiversity. Perspect. Ecol. Conserv. 19, 454–463. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.PECON.2021.07.005.
- Gonçalves, F.M.P., Revermann, R., Gomes, A.L., Aidar, M.P.M., Finckh, M., Juergens, N., 2017. Tree species diversity and composition of Miombo woodlands in South-Central Angola: a chronosequence of forest recovery after shifting cultivation. Int. J. For. Res. 2017. https://doi.org/10.1155/2017/6202093.
- Gonzalez, A., Loreau, M., 2008. The causes and consequences of compensatory dynamics in ecological communities. Annu. Rev. 40, 393–414. https://doi.org/10.1146/ANNUREV. ECOLSYS.39.110707.173349.
- Guillera-Arroita, G., Iahoz-Monfort, J.J., Elith, J., 2014. Maxent is not a presence–absence method: a comment on Thibaud et al. Methods Ecol. Evol. 5, 1192–1197. https://doi. org/10.1111/2041-210X.12252.
- Guisan, A., Thuiller, W., Zimmermann, N.E., 2017. Habitat Suitability and Distribution Models. Cambridge University Press https://doi.org/10.1017/9781139028271.
- Hageer, Y., Esperón-Rodríguez, M., Baumgartner, J.B., Beaumont, L.J., 2017. Climate, soil or both? Which variables are better predictors of the distributions of Australian shrub species? PeerJ 2017 (6). https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.3446.
- Hällfors, M.H., Aikio, S., Fronzek, S., Hellmann, J.J., Ryttäri, T., Heikkinen, R.K., 2016. Assessing the need and potential of assisted migration using species distribution models. Biol. Conserv. 196, 60–68. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BIOCON.2016.01.031.
- Hampe, A., Petit, R.J., 2005. Conserving biodiversity under climate change: the rear edge matters. Ecol. Lett. 8, 461–467. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1461-0248.2005.00739.X.
- Hansen, A.M.C., Potapov, P.V., Moore, R., Hancher, M., Turubanova, S.A., Thau, D., et al., 2013. High-resolution global maps of 21st-century forest cover change. Science 342, 850–853. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1244693 342(6160 (15).
- Haselip, J., Hughes, M., 2018. In: Cherry, A., Haselip, J., Ralphs, G., Wagner, I.E. (Eds.), Africa-Europe Collaborations for Climate Change Research and Innovation: What Difference Have They Made?Springer International Publishing, Cham, pp. 81–97. https://doi. org/10.1007/978-3-319-69929-5\_5
- Heneidy, S.Z., Halmy, M.W.A., Fakhry, A.M., El-Makawy, A.M., 2019. The status and potential distribution of Hydrocotyle umbellata L. and Salvinia auriculata Aubl. under climate change scenarios. Aquat. Ecol. 53, 509–528. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10452-019-09705-4.
- Hlásny, T., Mokroš, M., Dobor, L., Merganičová, K., Lukac, M., 2021. Fine-scale variation in projected climate change presents opportunities for biodiversity conservation in Europe. Sci. Rep. 11, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-96717-6.
- Hoegh-Guldberg, O., Jacob, D., Taylor, M., Guillén Bolaños, T., Bindi, M., Brown, S., et al., 2019. The human imperative of stabilizing global climate change at 1.5°C. Science 365, eaaw6974. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aaw6974.
- Huang, Q., Fleming, C.H., Robb, B., Lothspeich, A., Songer, M., 2018. How different are species distribution model predictions?—application of a new measure of dissimilarity and

#### Science of the Total Environment 850 (2022) 158006

level of significance to giant panda Ailuropoda melanoleuca. Ecol. Inform. 46, 114-124. https://doi.org/10.1016/JECOINF.2018.06.004. Hulme, P.E., 2017. Climate change and biological invasions: evidence, expectations, and

- Hulme, P.E., 2017. Climate change and biological invasions: evidence, expectations, and response options. Biol. Rev. 92, 1297–1313. https://doi.org/10.1111/BRV.12282.
- Hutchinson, M.F., Nix, H.A., McMahon, J.P., Ord, K.D., 1996. The development of a topographic and climate database for Africa. Proceedings of the Third International Conference/Workshop on Integrating GIS and Environmental Modeling. NCGIA, Santa Barbara Calif. (Accessed 20 July 2022).
- Barbara, Calif. (Accessed 20 July 2022).
  IPCC, 2019. Summary for policymakers. In: Shukla, P.R., Skea, J., Calvo Buendia, E., Masson-Delmotte, V., Roberts, C., et al., Peortner, H.-O.D. (Eds.), Climate Change and Land: An IPCC Special Report on Climate Change, Desertification, Land Degradation, Sustainable Land Management, Food Security, and Greenhouse Gas Fluxes in Terrestrial Ecosystems in press.

IUCN, 2021. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species.

- Jantz, S.M., Barker, B., Brooks, T.M., Chini, L.P., Huang, Q., Moore, R.M., et al., 2015. Future habitat loss and extinctions driven by land-use change in biodiversity hotspots under four scenarios of climate-change mitigation. Conserv. Biol. 29, 1122–1131. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/COBI.12549.
- Jarvie, S., Svenning, J.C., 2018. Using species distribution modelling to determine opportunities for trophic rewilding under future scenarios of climate change. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci. 373. https://doi.org/10.1098/RSTE.2017.0446.
- Kapuka, A., Hlásny, T., Helmschrot, J., 2022. Climate change research in southern Africa in recent two decades: progress, needs, and policy implications. Reg. Environ. Chang. 22, 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1007/S10113-022-01886-3/FIGURES/7.
- Jiang, Y., Zhuang, Q., Schaphoff, S., Sitch, S., Sokolov, A., Kicklighter, D., et al., 2012. Uncertainty analysis of vegetation distribution in the northern high latitudes during the 21st century with a dynamic vegetation model. Ecol. Evol. 2 (3), 593. https://doi.org/10. 1002/ECE3.85.
- Jinga, P., Palagi, J., Chong, J.P., Bobo, E.D., 2020. Climate change reduces the natural range of African wild loquat (Uapaca kirkiana Müll. Arg., Phyllanthaceae) in south-central Africa. Reg. Environ. Change 20 (3), 108. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10113-020-01700-y.
- Kapuka, A., Hlásny, T., 2021. Climate change impacts on ecosystems and adaptation options in nine countries in southern Africa: what do we know? Ecosphere 12, e03860. https:// doi.org/10.1002/ECS2.3860.
- Kaspar, F., Andersson, A., Ziese, M., Hollmann, R., 2022. Contributions to the improvement of climate data availability and quality for Sub-Saharan Africa. Front. Clim. 3, 201. https:// doi.org/10.3389/FCLIM.2021.815043/BIBTEX.
- Khanum, R., Mumtaz, A.S., Kumar, S., 2013. Predicting impacts of climate change on medicinal asclepiads of Pakistan using Maxent modeling. Acta Oecol. 49, 23–31. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.actac.2013.02.007.
- Kong, F., Tang, L., He, H., Yang, F., Tao, J., Wang, W., 2021. Assessing the impact of climate change on the distribution of Osmanthus fragrans using Maxent. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 28, 34655–34663. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-021-13121-3.
- Kramer-Schadt, S., Niedballa, J., Pilgrim, J.D., Schröder, B., Lindenborn, J., Reinfelder, V., et al., 2013. The importance of correcting for sampling bias in MaxEnt species distribution models. Divers. Distrib. 19, 1366–1379. https://doi.org/10.1111/ddi.12096.
- Kusangaya, S., Warburton, M.L., Archer van Garderen, E., Jewitt, G.P.W., 2014. Impacts of climate change on water resources in southern Africa: a review. Phys. Chem. Earth 67–69, 47–54. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pce.2013.09.014.
- Lawal, S., Lennard, C., Hewitson, B., 2019. Response of southern African vegetation to climate change at 1.5 and 2.0° global warming above the pre-industrial level. Clim. Serv. 16, 100134. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cliser.2019.100134.
- Leisher, C., Robinson, N., Brown, M., Kujirakwinja, D., Schmitz, M.C., Wieland, M., et al., 2022. Ranking the direct threats to biodiversity in sub-Saharan Africa. Biodivers. Conserv. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10531-022-02394-w. Lentini, P.E., Winde, B.A., 2015. Spatial conservation priorities are highly sensitive to choice
- Lentini, P.E., Winde, B.A., 2015. Spatial conservation priorities are highly sensitive to choice of biodiversity surrogates and species distribution model type. Ecography 38, 1101–1111. https://doi.org/10.1111/ECOG.01252. Levinsky, I., Araújo, M.B., Nogués-Bravo, D., Haywood, A.M., Valdes, P.J., Rahbek, C., 2013.
- Levinsky, I., Araújo, M.B., Nogués-Bravo, D., Haywood, A.M., Valdes, P.J., Rahbek, C., 2013. Climate envelope models suggest spatio-temporal co-occurrence of refugia of African birds and mammals. Glob. Ecol. Biogeogr. 22, 351–363. https://doi.org/10.1111/geb. 12045.
- Littlefield, C.E., Krosby, M., Michalak, J.L., Lawler, J.J., 2019. Connectivity for species on the move: supporting climate-driven range shifts. Front. Ecol. Environ. 17, 270–278. https:// doi.org/10.1002/FEE.2043.
- Lobo, J.M., Jiménez-valverde, A., Real, R., 2008. AUC a misleading measure of the performance of predictive distribution models. Glob. Ecol. Biogeogr. 17, 145–151. https:// doi.org/10.1111/j.1466-8238.2007.00358.x.
- Makhado, R.A., Mapaure, I., Potgieter, M.J., Luus-Powell, W.J., Saidi, A.T., 2014. Factors influencing the adaptation and distribution of Colophospermum mopane in southerm Africa's mopane savannas - a review. Bothalia Afr. Biodivers. Conserv. 44, 1–9. https:// doi.org/10.4102/ABC.V441.152.
- Mammola, S., Pétillon, J., Hacala, A., Monsimet, J., Marti, S.L., Cardoso, P., et al., 2021. Challenges and opportunities of species distribution modelling of terrestrial arthropod predators. Divers. Distrib. 27, 2596–2614. https://doi.org/10.1111/DDI.13434.
- Merow, C., Smith, M.J., Silander, J.A., 2013. A practical guide to MaxEnt for modeling species' distributions: what it does, and why inputs and settings matter. Ecography 36, 1058-1069. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0587.2013.07872.x.
  Mittermeier, R.A., Turner, W.R., Larsen, F.W., Brooks, T.M., Gascon, C., 2011. Global biodi-
- Mittermeier, R.A., Turner, W.R., Larsen, F.W., Brooks, T.M., Gascon, C., 2011. Global biodiversity conservation: the critical role of hotspots. In: Zachos, F.E., Habel, J.C. (Eds.), Biodiversity Hotspots: Distribution and Protection of Conservation Priority Areas. Springer, Heidelberg, pp. 3–22. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-20992-5 (27 October 2021).
- Moss, R.H., Edmonds, J.A., Hibbard, K.A., Manning, M.R., Rose, S.K., van Vuuren, D.P., et al., 2010. The next generation of scenarios for climate change research and assessment. Nature 463, 747–756. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature08823.

- Munalula, F., Seifert, T., Meincken, M., 2020. Inter-annual growth response of three Miombo tree species to climatic effects. South. For. J. For. Sci. 82, 135–147. https://doi.org/10. 2989/20702620.2020.1814111.
- Ngarega, B.K., Masocha, V.F., Schneider, H., 2021. Forecasting the effects of bioclimatic characteristics and climate change on the potential distribution of Colophospermum mopane in southern Africa using Maximum Entropy (Maxent). Ecol. Inform. 65, 101419. https:// doi.org/10.1016/J.ECOINF.2021.101419.
- North, M.A., Hastie, W.W., Hoyer, L., 2020. Out of Africa: the underrepresentation of african authors in high-impact geoscience literature. Earth Sci. Rev. 208, 103262. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.earscirev.2020.103262.
- Olson, D.M., Dinerstein, E., Wikramanayake, E.D., Burgess, N.D., Powell, G.V.N., Underwood, E.C., et al., 2001. Terrestrial ecoregions of the world: a new map of life on Earth. Bioscience 51, 933–938. https://doi.org/10.1641/0006-3568(2001)061[0933, TEOTWA]2.0.CO;2. Orwa, et al., 2009. Agroforestree Database: A Tree Reference and Selection Guide Version 4.0.
- Orwa, et al., 2009. Agrotorestree Database: A Tree Reference and Selection Guide Version 4.0. Osborne, C.P., Charles-Dominique, T., Stevens, N., Bond, W.J., Midgley, G., Lehmann, C.E.R., 2018. Human impacts in African savannas are mediated by plant functional traits. New Phytol. 220, 10–24. https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.15236.
- Pelletier, J., Chidumayo, E., Trainor, A., Siampale, A., Mbindo, K., 2019. Distribution of tree species with high economic and livelihood value for Zambia. For. Ecol. Manag. 441, 280–292. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FORECO.2019.03.051.
- Phillips, S.J., Dudík, M., 2008. Modeling of species distributions with Maxent: new extensions and a comprehensive evaluation. Ecography 31, 161–175. https://doi.org/10.1111/J. 0906-7590.2008.5203.X.
- Phillips, S.B., Aneja, V.P., Kang, D., Arya, S.P., 2006. Maximum entropy modeling of species geographic distributions. Ecol. Model. 190, 231–259. https://doi.org/10.1016/J. ECOLMODEL.2005.03.026.
- Phillips, S.J., Dudik, M., Schapire, R.E., 2004. A maximum entropy approach to species distribution modeling. Proceedings, Twenty-First International Conference on Machine Learning, ICML 2004, pp. 655–662.Piontek, F., Müller, C., Pugh, T.A.M., Clark, D.B., Deryng, D., Elliott, J., et al., 2014.
- Piontek, F., Müller, C., Pugh, T.A.M., Clark, D.B., Deryng, D., Elliott, J., et al., 2014. Multisectoral climate impact hotspots in a warming world. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 111, 3233–3238. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1222471110.
- Platts, P.J., Omeny, P.A., Marchant, R., 2015. AFRICILM: high-resolution climate projections for ecological applications in Africa. Afr. J. Ecol. 53, 103–108. https://doi.org/10.1111/ AJE.12180.
- Porfirio, L.L., Harris, R.M.B., Lefroy, E.C., Hugh, S., Gould, S.F., Lee, G., et al., 2014. Improving the use of species distribution models in conservation planning and management under climate change. PLoS ONE 9, 113749. https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL. PONE.0113749.
- Posada, R., Riede, J.O., Kaspar, F., Mhanda, A., Radithupa, M., Stegling, J., et al., 2018. Cooperation of meteorological services within SASSCAL on improving the management of observed climate data. In: Revermann, R., Krewenka, K.M., Schmiedel, U., Olwoch, J.M., Helmschrot, J. (Eds.), Climate Change and Adaptive Land Management in Southern Africa – Assessments, Changes, Challenges, and Solutions. Klaus Hess Publishers, Göttingen & Windhoek, pp. 22–29.
- Prichard, S.J., Stevens-Rumann, C.S., Hessburg, P.F., 2017. Tamm review: shifting global fire regimes: lessons from reburns and research needs. For. Ecol. Manag. 396, 217–233. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FORECO.2017.03.035.
- Raes, N., Aguirre Gutierrez, J., 2018. A modeling framework to estimate and project species distributions in space and time. In: Hoom, C., Perrigo, P., Antonelli, A. (Eds.), Mountains, Climate and Biodiversity. Wiley, pp. 309–320.
- Ray, D., Behera, M.D., Jacob, J., 2018. Evaluating ecological niche models: a comparison between Maxent and GARP for predicting distribution of Hevea brasiliensis in India. Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. India Sect. B Biol. Sci. 88, 1337–1343. https://doi.org/10.1007/ S40011-017-0869-5/FIGURES/4.
- Ribeiro Palacios, M., Huber-Sannwald, E., García Barrios, L., Peña de Paz, F., Carrera Hemández, J., Galindo Mendoza, M.de G., 2013. Landscape diversity in a rural territory: emerging land use mosaics coupled to livelihood diversification. Land Use Policy 30, 814–824. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.LANDUSEPOL.2012.06.007.
- Robinson, T.B., Martin, N., Loureiro, T.G., Matikinca, P., Robertson, M.P., 2020. Double trouble: the implications of climate change for biological invasions. NeoBiota 62, 463–487. https://doi.org/10.3897/NEOBIOTA.62.55729 in press.
- Rosendo, S., Celliers, L., Mechisso, M., 2018. Doing more with the same: a reality-check on the ability of local government to implement integrated coastal management for climate change adaptation. Mar. Policy 87, 29–39. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol.2017.10.001. Royle, J.A., Chandler, R.B., Yackulic, C., Nichols, J.D., 2012. Likelihood analysis of species oc-
- Royle, J.A., Chandler, R.B., Yackulle, C., Nichols, J.D., 2012. Likelihood analysis of species occurrence probability from presence-only data for modelling species distributions. Methods Ecol. Evol. 3, 545–554. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.2041-210X.2011.00182.X. Ryan, C.M., Pritchard, R., McNicol, I., Owen, M., Fisher, J.A., Lehmann, C., 2016. Ecosystem
- Ryan, C.M., Pritchard, R., McNicol, I., Owen, M., Fisher, J.A., Lehmann, C., 2016. Ecosystem services from southern African woodlands and their future under global change. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci. 371, 20150312. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2015.0312.
- Saini, R., Wang, G., Yu, M., Kim, J., 2015. Comparison of RCM and GCM projections of boreal summer precipitation over Africa J. Geophys. Res. Atmos. 120 (9), 3679–3699. https:// doi.org/10.1002/2014JD022599.

- Santini, L., Benítez-López, A., Maiorano, L., Čengić, M., Huijbregts, M.A.J., 2021. Assessing the reliability of species distribution projections in climate change research. Divers. Distrib. 27, 1035–1050. https://doi.org/10.1111/DDI.13252.
- Scheiter, S., Moncrieff, G.R., Pfeiffer, M., Higgins, S.I., 2020. African biomes are most sensitive to changes in CO2 under recent and near-future CO2 conditions. Biogeosciences 17, 1147–1167. https://doi.org/10.5194/bg-17-1147-2020.
- Sekonya, J.G., McClure, N.J., Wynberg, R.P., 2020. New pressures, old foodways: governance and access to edible mopane caterpillars, imbrasia (gonimbrasia) Belina, in the context of commercialization and environmental change in South Africa. Int. J. Commons 14, 139–153. https://doi.org/10.5334/JJC.978/METRICS/.
- Shcheglovitova, M., Anderson, R.P., 2013. Estimating optimal complexity for ecological niche models: a jackknife approach for species with small sample sizes. Ecol. Model. 269, 9–17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2013.08.011.
- Shrader, A.M., Pimm, S.L., van Aarde, R.J., 2010. Elephant survival, rainfall and the confounding effects of water provision and fences. Biodivers. Conserv. 19, 2235–2245. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10531-010-9836-7.
- Sieben, E.J.J., 2019. Zonal and azonal vegetation revisited: how is wetland vegetation distributed across different zonobiomes. Austral Ecol. 44, 449–460. https://doi.org/10.1111/ AEC.12679.
- Sintayehu, D.W., 2018. Impact of climate change on biodiversity and associated key ecosystem services in Africa: a systematic review. Ecosyst. Health Sustain. 4, 225–239. https://doi.org/10.1080/20964129.2018.1530054.
- Slatyer, R.A., Hirst, M., Sexton, J.P., 2013. Niche breadth predicts geographical range size: a general ecological pattern. Ecol. Lett. 16, 1104–1114. https://doi.org/10.1111/ELE. 12140.
- Sooryamoorthy, R., 2018. The production of science in Africa: an analysis of publications in the science disciplines, 2000–2015. Scientometrics 115, 317–349. https://doi.org/10. 1007/s11192-018-2675-0.
- Spinoni, J., Vogt, J.V., Naumann, G., Barbosa, P., Dosio, A., 2018. Will drought events become more frequent and severe in Europe? Int. J. Climatol. 38, 1718–1736. https://doi.org/10. 1002/JOC.5291.
- Staude, I.R., Navarro, L.M., Pereira, H.M., 2020. Range size predicts the risk of local extinction from habitat loss. Glob. Ecol. Biogeogr. 29, 16–25. https://doi.org/10.1111/GEB.13003.
- Tang, X., Yuan, Y., Li, X., Zhang, J., 2021. Maximum entropy modeling to predict the impact of climate change on pine wilt disease in China. Front. Plant Sci. 12. https://doi.org/10. 3389/fpis.2021.652500.
- Tarkang, E.E., Bain, L.E., 2019. The bane of publishing a research article in international journals by African researchers, the peer-review process and the contentious issue of predatory journals: a commentary. Pan Afr. Med. J. 32, 1937–8688. https://doi.org/10. 11604/pamj.2019.32.119.18351.
- Tews, J., Esther, A., Milton, S.J., Jeltsch, F., 2006. Linking a population model with an ecosystem model: assessing the impact of land use and climate change on savanna shrub cover dynamics. Ecol. Model. 195, 219–228. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ecolmodel.2005.11.025.

TIBCO Software Inc., 2018. Statistica, Software Release 13.4.

- Valladares, F., Matesanz, S., Guilhaumon, F., Araújo, M.B., Balaguer, L., Benito-Garzón, M., et al., 2014. The effects of phenotypic plasticity and local adaptation on forecasts of species range shifts under climate change. Ecol. Lett. 17, 1351–1364. https://doi.org/10.1111/ ELE.12348.
- Wangai, P.W., Burkhard, B., Müller, F., 2016. A review of studies on ecosystem services in Africa. Int. J. Sustain. Built Environ. 5, 225–245. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijsbe.2016. 08005
- Warszawski, L., Friend, A., Ostberg, S., Frieler, K., Lucht, W., Schaphoff, S., et al., 2013. A multi-model analysis of risk of ecosystem shifts under climate change. Environ. Res. Lett. 8, 044018. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/8/4/044018.Watson, J.E.M., Jones, K.R., Fuller, R.A., Marco, M.D., Segan, D.B., Butchart, S.H.M., et al.,
- Watson, J.E.M., Jones, K.R., Fuller, R.A., Marco, M.D., Segan, D.B., Butchart, S.H.M., et al., 2016. Persistent disparities between recent rates of habitat conversion and protection and implications for future global conservation targets. Conserv. Lett. 9, 413–421. https://doi.org/10.1111/conl.12295.
- Weiskopf, S.R., Rubenstein, M.A., Crozier, L.G., Gaichas, S., Griffis, R., Halofsky, J.E., et al., 2020. Climate change effects on biodiversity, ecosystems, ecosystem services, and natural resource management in the United States. Sci. Total Environ. 733, 137782. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.137782.
- Williams, J.W., Jackson, S.T., 2007. Novel climates, no-analog communities, and ecological surprises. Front. Ecol. Environ. 5, 475–482. https://doi.org/10.1890/070037.
- Winfree, R., Kremen, C., 2008. Are ecosystem services stabilized by differences among species? A test using crop pollination. Proc. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci. 276, 229–237. https:// doi.org/10.1098/RSPB.2008.0709.
- Yuan, H.S., Wei, Y.L., Wang, X.G., 2015. Maxent modeling for predicting the potential distribution of Sanghuang, an important group of medicinal fungi in China. Fungal Ecol. 17, 140–145. https://doi.org/10.1016/i.funecc.2015.06.001.
- Zhu, Z., Piao, S., Myneni, R.B., Huang, M., Zeng, Z., Canadell, J.G., et al., 2016. Greening of the Earth and its drivers. Nat. Clim. Chang. 6, 791–795. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nclimate3004.

# 5.4 Social Vulnerability to Natural Hazards in Namibia: A District-Based Analysis





# Article

# Social Vulnerability to Natural Hazards in Namibia: A District-Based Analysis

## Alpo Kapuka and Tomáš Hlásny \*

Faculty of Forestry and Wood Sciences, Czech University of Life Sciences Prague, Kamýcká 129, 165 00 Praha 6–Suchdol, Czech Republic; kapuka@fld.czu.cz

\* Correspondence: hlasny@fld.czu.cz

Received: 17 April 2020; Accepted: 12 June 2020; Published: 16 June 2020



Abstract: Southern Africa is one of the world's poorest and most vulnerable regions with severe barriers to its sustainable development. We strived to understand here the patterns and drivers of social vulnerability to natural hazards in Namibia, which is the most arid sub-Saharan country with large social inequalities. We used a total of 12 indicators that characterized social, economic and demographic settings of the 14 districts in the country. Further, we evaluated the countrywide pattern of most relevant natural hazards, including wildfires, floods and drought. We identified the main factors driving social vulnerability in the districts, and we evaluated how the socio-economic fitness of populations coincided with the distribution of high-hazard areas. We found that populations with the poorest socio-economic performance were mostly distributed in the country's northern districts, which are also exposed to the highest frequency and severity of natural hazards, particularly to floods and wildfires. This coincidence of highly sensitive populations with high exposure to hazards renders these populations particularly vulnerable. That the frequency of natural hazards increases with climate change, and implementation of programs enhancing the social resilience is insufficient, underscores the urgency of actions targeted at the priority areas identified herein.

Keywords: hazard-prone areas; social inequality; adaptation; southern Africa; vulnerability index

#### 1. Introduction

The world has been experiencing an unprecedented increase in the frequency and intensity of natural hazards that threaten the stability of many human populations [1,2]. These hazards have increasingly affected economies, the environment, infrastructure and human wellbeing and they have caused annual damages amounting to billions of US dollars globally [3]. Understanding the patterns and mechanism of social vulnerability to natural hazards has, thus, become an important part of the research agenda with implications for policy and decision making [4]. It also plays a crucial role in the development of adaptation and resilience strategies enhancing the population's capacity to respond to natural disasters [5].

While the biophysical dimension of vulnerability has been extensively studied [6,7], our understanding of the social dimension remains limited [8]. The increasing size of the population affected by diverse stressors, however, highlights the prominence of this topic [9]. Previous studies have focused, for example, on patterns and drivers of vulnerability to specific hazard types, such as floods [8,10], drought [11] and wildfires [12]. Others shed light on the main drivers of social vulnerability [13,14], including changes in demographic composition [14,15] income and poverty [11,13,15], the proportion of elderly people in the community [16–18] and access to resources, such as information, technologies and knowledge [19].

The concept of vulnerability has been increasingly applied in social science research and management of natural hazards [19,20]. Social vulnerability to hazards is defined as the probability

www.mdpi.com/journal/sustainability
of a population being negatively affected by hazards [15], or as the capacity of a population to cope with and adapt to hazards [21,22]. There is an agreement that the vulnerability is determined by the interaction of three components: exposure, sensitivity and carrying (adaptive) capacity [21,23]. Assessing the vulnerability of any social system thus requires understanding the biophysical (exposure component) as well as the social, economic and demographic settings (sensitivity and adaptive capacity of the system) [24]. In the current study, we defined the overall vulnerability of the population as a property emerging from the level of exposure to natural hazards (based on hazard occurrence or impact) and the level of social vulnerability (i.e., ability to adapt and recover from the impact), which is based on the social, economic and demographic settings of the population.

Social vulnerability is characterized by a large number of factors, which interact and vary in space and over time in manifold ways (e.g., Cutter et al. [18], Rygel [25], Otto et al. [26]). This complexity, however, makes it difficult to measure vulnerability and compare different assessments [27]. Difficulties emerge, for example, from the selection of partial vulnerability indicators, their preprocessing (transformation, dimensionality reduction, etc.) and determination of their relative importance [28,29] Vulnerability assessments may, for example, use an entire suite of indicators to evaluate vulnerability profiles for different geographical entities (e.g., districts) [30]. Social scientists also strive to formulate composite indices which capture the essence of information provided by the underlying factors (e.g., Cutter & Finch [9], Rygel [25], Cutter et al. [15] and Fekete [31]). The latter approach has recently received increased attention, and different approaches to the construction of vulnerability indices have been developed and tested [15,32–35]. Composite indices are, for example, advised to be used to identify the most vulnerable countries, to assist the adaptation efforts or to obtain an entry point for systemic vulnerability studies [29]. The use of composite indices, however, may lead to an oversimplified understanding of the investigated systems and misplaced overconfidence in the conclusions [35]. For example, qualitatively different combinations of underlying variables, which require different responses, may generate the same index value. We, therefore, combined in this study a composite index approach with an assessment of complex vulnerability profiles.

Human populations that exhibit high social vulnerability to natural hazards often occur in developing parts of the world [36], including Africa [37,38]. The frequency and intensity of natural hazards such as floods and droughts have increased for most of the African continent [12,39,40]. Poor infrastructure development, inadequate adaptative capabilities and high dependence on natural resources are the main factors that exacerbate these populations' vulnerability, and increase, for example, the risk of food insecurity [41–43]. In sub-Saharan Africa, natural hazards are increasingly affecting essential economic sectors such as agriculture [44–46]. It is estimated that more than ten million people in Southern Africa reside within hazard-prone areas, and their livelihoods vitally depend on hazard-exposed agricultural practices [47].

Namibia is one of the countries with the greatest social and economic inequalities in the world [48]. Its semi-arid environment, along with poor socio-economic conditions, often leads to the overexploitation of scarce resources and threatens the stability of human populations [49]. In recent years, the country has increasingly been experiencing erratic rainfall patterns, extreme droughts and wildfires [50,51]. These events have had a major impact on the main sources of livelihood, particularly for the elderly, women, children and those with compromised health conditions [52,53]. Many households have, thus, become unable to secure their essential needs [42]. Social issues, such as HIV/AIDS and unemployment, particularly among the youth, are of great concern too. This social vulnerability is exacerbated by the underdeveloped infrastructure; for example, more than 60% of the population in rural areas depends on firewood and charcoal as a source of energy.

Despite the recurrent incidence of different natural hazards and overall intensification of disturbance regimes, the patterns and drivers of social vulnerability (SV) are not well understood. This hinders implementations of adaptation and resilience strategies and compromises the options for sustainable development of local communities [50,54,55]. In light of these facts, we aim to extend our understanding of SV of the Namibian population and, thus, support the development of

knowledge-driven management strategies and policies. In particular, we aim to (i) identify patterns of SV in the country based on a suite of demographic, economic and other indicators; (ii) identify the main drivers that influence the SV and their variability between the administrative districts; and (iii) evaluate the relationship between SV and the distribution of high-hazard areas in the country. Our results are intended to support the development of national and regional management strategies and the formulation of research and investment priorities, and to contribute towards achieving the Sustainable Development Goals [56,57].

#### 2. Materials and Methods

### 2.1. Study Area

Namibia has an area of 824,292 km<sup>2</sup> and a population of 2.5 million inhabitants. It is one of the most sparsely populated countries in the world and the driest country in sub-Saharan Africa [43,58] (Figure 1). Elevation of the country increases from the coast towards the inland. The north-central part forms the Cuvelai-Etosha Basin, which is shared with southern Angola. The basin is made up of a drainage system that originates from central Angola and enters the north-central part of Namibia. Then, it spreads through the flat areas of the Kalahari sands into the Etosha Pan [59].

The climate is hot and dry, with uneven rainfall. The average annual air temperature ranges from 16 °C along the coast to 22 °C in the north-central and northeastern part of the country [58]. In the interior, the climate is continental with high summer temperatures and cold winters. Mean annual rainfall ranges from 25 mm in the southern and coastal areas to 600 mm in the Northeast. The most erratic rainfall (inter-annual range >35%) occurs in the transition between the south-western coastal areas and the inland regions. Rainfall is more stable and predictable in the North and Northeast. The wettest period of the year is December to March.

Despite the country's harsh weather, it harbors a remarkable number of species of fauna and flora. The country is divided into three vegetation zones: desert (16%), savannah (64%), dry woodlands and forests (20%). The country comprises four biomes: tree and shrub savanna (60%), Nama Karoo (dominated by grass, shrubland and quiver trees *Aloidendron dichotomum*) (24%), the Namib Desert and the Succulent Karoo (mainly dominated by succulents, dwarf shrubs and quiver trees) (2%) (Figure 1). The latter biome is acknowledged as a biodiversity hotspot and the only arid hotspot in the world [60].

The largest ethnic group is Owambo (50%), which mainly occupies the north-central part of the country. Kavangos (9%) are mostly found in the Northeast and Hereros (7%) in the central-east and north-west parts. Damaras (7%) and Namas (5%) mainly occupy the southern part, and Caprivians (4%) the Zambezi district in the far East. The San people (3%), who are one the most marginalized and disadvantaged groups of the population, mostly occupy the northern and central-eastern territories [61]; they are assumed to be the oldest inhabitants of Southern Africa [62]. Other ethnicities include Whites 6%, Basters 2% and Tswanas 5% [63].

The distribution of ethnic groups has been mainly influenced by historical migrations and, to some extent, the dislocation of groups such as the Ovaherero, Damaras and Nama. The dislocations were happening particularly in the eastern, central, and southern parts of the country during the colonial era [64,65]. Moreover, the distribution of some ethnic groups was influenced by the apartheid regime, which, for example, introduced the controversial "redline", the veterinary cordon fence, that separates communal and commercial farming lands [66]. In the North, the abundance of natural resources such as arable land was the main factor attracting the early settlers. Extensive indigenous knowledge of ethnics such as Owambo, Kavangos and Caprivians allowed them to adapt and persist here even under harsh environmental conditions [67].

More than 54% of the Namibian population reside in rural areas [58], where rainfall-dependent subsistence farming is the main source of livelihood. Namibia has extreme income inequality [48,50], with about 30% of the population living below the poverty line [68,69]. The socio-economic system has been influenced by the apartheid system, which largely compromised all spheres of development.

The main sources of income for most of the population in urban areas are small informal businesses. Other sources of income include tourism, mining, agriculture and construction. Poverty is extreme, particularly in rural underdeveloped areas [70]. The most vulnerable groups of the population are female-headed households, the San community, the youth, the elderly and people with disabilities. Poor and severely poor populations account for 29% and 15% of the total population, respectively [70], with poverty hotspots being located in the northern districts (Figure 1).



Figure 1. Administrative districts, main towns and biomes of Namibia. District codes: 1—Erongo,
2—Hardap, 3—Karas, 4—Kavango East, 5—Kavango West, 6—Khomas, 7—Kunene, 8—Ohangwena,
9—Omaheke, 10—Omusati, 11—Oshana, 12—Oshikoto, 13—Otjozondjupa, 14—Zambezi. The inset figure shows the location of Namibia in the African continent. Map of biomes [71].

## 2.2. Natural Hazard Regime

Flood frequency has increased in recent years in Namibia, affecting around 70,000 people annually [68]. Floods triggered by seasonal torrential rains, often amplified by deforestation, have particularly affected the northern part of the country [68]. For example, the 2011 flood affected here nearly 500,000 people, with over 60,000 displaced, 19,000 in relocation camps and 65 flood-related deaths [72]. North-central Namibia experiences seasonal floods, which relate to the hydrological regime of the Cuvelai Basin. It accumulates water from central Angola during heavy rains and spreads further through the floodplains of Namibia [73]. Floods in north-eastern Namibia mainly relate to the hydrological regime of the Okavango river system (Kavango East and Kavango West) and to the Zambezi river in the far Northeast. The floods are less frequent here than in the north-central part of the country [74]. The far Northeast is part of the Zambezi basin, where floods typically occur during the rainfall season in January and February [75]. The floods, for example, disrupt water supplies, damage sewerage systems in the cities and trigger outbreaks of water-borne diseases such as cholera and malaria (e.g., 2008 flood season) [76].

Recurrent droughts affect most of the Namibian territory and cause livestock deaths, crop failures, poverty and food insecurity [77]. Droughts related to erratic rainfall patterns and increasing evaporation demand occur in most of the country. These effects are further modulated by the El Niño–Southern Oscillation (ENSO), as was the case in the 2015/2016 season [53]. For example, drought events in the period 2013–2016 affected about 450,000 people and caused massive food insecurity [78]. During the season 2018/2019, below-average rainfall caused one of the worst drought events over the previous 40 years, which caused deaths of over 80,000 livestock, and largely compromised household food security [77,79].

Wild and man-induced fires have important impacts on the Namibian ecosystems and economies and, at the same time, have indispensable ecological functions [80]. It is estimated that more than 1 million hectares of forest and open land is burned every year, though the area burned fluctuates depending on weather and actual fuel loads (e.g., 1.1 million hectares in 2016, 2.1 million hectares in 2017) [81]. Most of the fires occur in the fire-driven savanna ecosystems in northern Namibia, which were found to be resilient to a wide range of fire regimes [82]. Most of the fires (90%), particularly in the north-central and north-eastern parts, are anthropogenic and relate, for example, to slash-and-burn agriculture practices [83] or are ignited accidentally [84]. The use of fire in agriculture, however, often leads to uncontrollable spread with undesired consequences [85]. Fires mostly occur during the dry and windy seasons of May-July (early dry season: low intensity fires) and August-September (late dry season: high-intensity fires) [80]. The most fire-prone areas are the communal lands in the north-central and north-eastern parts of the country [85]. Depending on the intensity and timing, wildfires may cause environmental degradation and loss of biodiversity, which impact the livelihood of local communities, national and regional economies [53]. Adverse effects include, for example, the disruption of plant regeneration and damage to commercially valuable tree species such as Burkea pterocarpus and Baikiaea plurijuga in the northern woodlands [80,83].

## 2.3. Material and Methods

#### 2.3.1. Social Vulnerability Indicators

We used a set of 29 candidate variables (see Supplementary material, Table S1) that characterized the social, economic and demographic conditions of districts in the country (Figure 1). The data were obtained from the Namibia Inter-censal Demographic Survey of 2016 conducted by the Namibia Statistics Agency (NSA). We refined this initial set of variables based on several criteria to arrive at the final list of twelve variables listed in Table 1. Rather than using factors or other analyses for dataset reduction [15,31], we preferred to select a subset of original variables that adequately represented the entire initial dataset (e.g., Sebesvari et al. [6], Rufat et al. [10] and Fatemi et al. [32]). Such an approach allowed for a more straightforward and intuitive interpretation of the final findings.

Table 1. Variables characterizing social, economic and demographic settings of the Namibian districts. The variables were selected to represent a broader set of 29 variables listed in Supplementary material, Table S1.

Category	Variable	Unit	Abbrev.	Mean	Median	Min	Max.	Var. Coef.
Demographic	Population density	inhabitants/km <sup>2</sup>	PopD	6.81	4.30	0.50	23.90	107.49
	Population in rural area	%	PopRur	61.50	64.50	5.00	99.00	44.21
	Female population	%	FemPop	50.23	49.45	46.70	55.00	5.51
	<4 years old	%	Age < 5	14.36	13.60	12.30	20.10	15.26
	>60 years old	%	Age > 60	6.42	6.35	3.30	9.90	23.81
Social	Total unemployment	%	Unemp	36.06	37.05	21.90	52.20	24.51
	Population with disabilities	%	Disab	4.77	4.60	2.30	7.60	32.92
	HIV level	%	HIV	13.34	12.45	7.30	23.70	29.78
	Literacy rate	%	LitR	85.66	85.55	66.50	96.70	9.86
Economic	Pension dependent	%	Pens\$	16.14	14.00	4.00	31.00	49.72
	Average household income (2015)	USD	House\$	1210	867	560	3506	63.49
	Farming dependent	%	Farm	20.86	21.50	1.00	60.00	74.07

6 of 20

First, we discarded variables that were obviously redundant (e.g., income per household vs. income per capita). From each group of redundant variables, we preserved a single variable, which had better support in the literature as an indicator of SV (Supplementary material, Table S1). The retained variables were grouped into the categories "social", "economic" and "demographic". Within each category, we evaluated the redundancy of variables using Spearman's rank correlation coefficient with a threshold value of 0.7. From each pair of correlated variables, we retained the variable that showed a greater inter-district variability, i.e., it better discriminated between the districts (Table 1).

Alongside evaluating the districts' SV profiles using the entire set of variables listed in Table 1, we also calculated the SV index (SVI) for each district by aggregating these variables. We first normalized the values of each variable into the unit range using the following formula:

$$Z_i = \frac{x_i - \min(x)}{\max(x) - \min(x)} \tag{1}$$

where  $Z_i$  is the normalized *i*th value of the variable Z,  $x_i$  is the *i*th value of the variable Z, and min(x) and max(x) are the minimum and maximum values of the variable Z.

Rescaling was conducted so that a value of 1 indicated the highest vulnerability, and vice versa. Such an approach required reverting the normalized values of some variables. This applied for average household income and literacy rate, where the highest value indicated the lowest vulnerability (in contrast to, for example, HIV level, where the highest value indicates the highest vulnerability). The SVI was calculated as the weighted median of the normalized variables. Because normalization based on the Equation (1) unified the variability of variables, we used the variation coefficient (Table 1) as the weight. This allowed for downweighing variables with a small inter-district variability, such as the percent of female population, and attaching a greater importance to variables that strongly discriminated between the districts.

## 2.3.2. Natural Hazard Indicators

We explored various sources of data to collect a number of indicators related to flood, wildfire and drought incidence in the districts (Supplementary material, Table S2). Because of limited data availability, the data covered different periods of time or were available for a single year only. This can seriously limit use of these data as indicators of the long-term disturbance regime in the districts. We, therefore, critically assessed each of the available indicators using previous studies and statistics (Section 2.2; Appendix A). Based on this, we retained seven indicators that were found to represent the characteristic regime of natural hazards in a given district or a broader region (i.e., the recorded events were not isolated episodic occurrences) (Table 2).

Hazard	Variable	Period	Unit	Abbrev.	Mean	Median	Min	Max	Weight
Fire	Average area burned	2007-2017	km <sup>2</sup>	AreaB	2160	701	0.0	9108	0.33
Drought	Livestock deaths	2018-2019	number of livestock	LivestD	6301	3590	0.0	17,955	0.165
	Food insecure population	2013	number of people	FInsP	29,403	20,497	4928	80,720	0.165
Floods	Human mortality	2009	number of people	HumM	7.5	0.0	0.0	48.0	0.083
	Schools affected	2008	number of schools	ScholA	7.5	0.0	0.0	44.0	0.083
	People displaced by floods	2017	number of people	PopDis	238	0.0	0.0	2,655	0.083
	Estimated damages	2009	millions of US \$	EstDam	10.7	6.6	0.0	37.2	0.083

**Table 2.** Variables characterizing the incidence of the most prominent natural hazards in the Namibian districts. Weights are used to calculate a composite indicator of natural hazards for each district.

Apart from investigating district-specific hazard profiles based on the whole set of indicators, we also calculated a composite hazard indicator by averaging the underlying indicators rescaled to the unit range. Because the three hazard categories (fire, drought and floods) were represented by a

different number of variables (Table 2), we applied weights to equally model the effect of each group of hazards on the final indicator value (column Weight in Table 2). This weighting was applied to compensate for the different data availability on different hazard types rather than to model their equal impact.

## 2.3.3. District-Based Vulnerability Assessment

Finally, we evaluated the vulnerability of the Namibian population based on the interaction between socio-economic conditions approximated by the SVI and the level of exposure to natural hazards approximated by the introduced hazard index. Based on district positions in the space defined by the SVI and the aggregate hazard index, we categorized the districts into three vulnerability classes using the K-means clustering technique. In the final evaluation, we conducted the analysis based on composite indices with socio-economic or hazard profiles constructed for each district using the full set of underlying variables.

All presented analyses were conducted in Statistica 13.4 [86], R-Language [87] and ArcGIS Desktop [88].

## 3. Results

## 3.1. District-Based Pattern of Social Vulnerability

The SVI reached its highest values in the northern districts of the country, with maximums in the Omusati and Ohangwena districts (Figure 2a). While all categories of indicators (i.e., social, economic and demographic) were nearing their maximum in Ohangwena, the vulnerability of populations in Omusati was mainly driven by economic and demographic factors (Figure 3).



Figure 2. Spatial distribution of the composite index of social vulnerability (a) and natural hazards (b) within the districts of Namibia.

The effect of underlying indicators was variable in a group of districts with medium SVI values (Oshikoto to Zambezi, Figure 3). A common pattern was that a small subset of indicators drove the overall SV rather than being equally affected by a large number of factors. The remaining four districts (Hardap to Khomas, Figure 3) with low SV formed a cluster located in the central and west-central parts of the country. The least vulnerable districts were Khomas and Erongo (Figures 2 and 3). In summary, there was no common pattern of SV pattern applicable for all Namibian districts, and the districts' vulnerability profiles were highly variable.



**Figure 3.** Relative contribution of twelve indicators to the overall level of social vulnerability in the Namibian districts. The districts are ordered by the magnitude of the composite index of social vulnerability based on all underlying variables. Colors indicate three groups of variables—social, demographic and economic. Abbreviations of the variables are explained in Table 1.

#### 3.2. Exposure to Natural Hazards

The highest exposure to natural hazards was in the northern districts of the country, where multiple hazard indicators culminated (Figure 2b). On the contrary, the lowest level of exposure occurred in the central and southern districts of Khomas and Hardap, where all indicators were zero (Figure 4), i.e., no hazard was recorded here during the period covered by the used data (Table 2). The risk of hazard was typically driven by two out of three main hazard types, with floods and drought being the most frequent combination. The main hazard categories, i.e., drought, fire and floods, showed a differential spatial pattern across the country (Appendix A). While fire incidence was highest in the northern districts (Kavango East and Kavango West), flood risk was mainly pronounced in the north-central and northeastern districts [72]. Drought exposure was highest in the South and Northwest of the country, while central districts Khomas and Hardap exhibited relatively low drought impacts.

#### 3.3. Vulnerability Assessment

The final vulnerability assessment showed a positive relationship between most of the used hazard indicators and the level of SV indicated by the SVI (Figure 5). This applied to all hazard indicators except for drought-induced livestock mortality, where the relationship was negative (Figure 5).

Investigation of the district positions in a space defined by the SVI and the composite hazard indicator showed that the districts formed three distinct categories characterized by different levels of SV and exposure to hazards (Figure 6a). These groups of districts displayed a distinct South–North zonal pattern, with most vulnerable populations being distributed in the North of the country (Figure 6b). These districts covered 10% of the country's area but included 32% of the total population. Districts with the lowest vulnerability were in the southern part of the country (Erongo, Khomas, Hardap, Karas) and covered 45% of the Namibian territory (Figure 6b). At the same time, they included 33% of the total population. These districts are also the economic, social and political centers, with major cities of the country (see Figure 1). The remaining six districts, which form the medium vulnerability cluster,



showed relatively low levels of exposure (0.1–0.25). The only exception was Otjozondjupa, where the level of exposure was 0.32.

**Figure 4.** Relative magnitude of different indicators of natural hazards in the Namibian districts. The districts are ordered from lowest to highest exposure based on the composite index of natural hazards. The greater the area of the segment the greater the effect of the given hazard type.



**Figure 5.** Response of individual indicators of natural hazards to the composite index of social vulnerability calculated for the Namibian districts.



**Figure 6.** Position of the Namibian districts in space defined by the socio-economic conditions of populations and their exposure to natural hazards (a). The groups of districts were identified using the K-means clustering technique. The map indicates spatial distribution of the identified vulnerability classes (b).

## 4. Discussion

We conducted our investigation in Namibia, a sub-Saharan country where many ecosystems and populations persist at their social and ecological margins [89,90]. These conditions can be further exacerbated by climate change, which may cause the social-ecological resilience limits to be exceeded [91]. We strived to extend our understanding of SV to natural hazards in the country by exploiting a large set of heterogeneous, and often incomplete, information available from public sources. Consistently with national strategic materials, such as the National Disaster Risk Management Plan [56] and the National Disaster Risk Management Policy [76], we found that macro-regions with specific magnitudes of vulnerability exist in the country, which require different treatment and management responses [56,76]. We also highlighted large differences among the districts in their overall vulnerability, as well as in the relative contributions of underlying social factors and hazard types. Most importantly, we found that socially the most vulnerable populations, which cannot take effective emergency and adaptation actions, occurred in high-hazard areas of the country. This fact further underscores the vulnerability of the entire region.

### 4.1. Population Vulnerability Patterns

We found that although SV and hazard exposure varied between the districts, there were characteristic large-scale patterns that deserve attention in strategic planning. Social vulnerability reached its highest values in the northern districts and culminated in Ohangwena and Omusati. Due to the prominence of these districts, they also received increased attention in previous studies [48,50,92–94]. Vulnerability profiles in the northern districts, however, did not show any common pattern, and the overall SV was driven by different combinations of factors. This suggests that one-size-fits-all solutions are not applicable, and tailor-made systems of measures are required for different districts. For example, a high prevalence of the elderly population (10%) is a key contributing factor in Omusati, while high HIV/AIDS levels (24%) drive social vulnerability in Zambezi. High levels of populations with disabilities are typical of the Kavango West and Ohangwena districts, while low household income drives social vulnerability in the entire north-central and northeastern parts of Namibia. On the contrary, the southern districts Khomas, Erongo, Karas and Hardap were found to have, relative to the remaining parts of the country, good capacities to cope with and respond to natural hazards (see also Angula and Menjono [54], Namibia Statistics Agency [70], Angula [95]). This is related to factors such

as high employment and literacy rates and lower numbers of young, elderly and disabled persons in the population.

Exposure to natural hazards showed a distinct geographical pattern too. While flood- and fire-prone districts occurred in two non-overlapping clusters in the North, drought risk was high across the entire country. Lower drought risk in the central districts Khomas and Hardap should be interpreted with caution due to the limited temporal coverage of the used data. The most frequent combination of hazards was drought and flood, while the combination of drought and fire occurred in Otjozondjupa, Kavango East and Kavango West only. The latter two districts also showed a minor exposure to floods, which makes them the most hazard-prone districts in the country from the view of both magnitude of the impact and the number of participating hazards. For example, drought here affects both crop and livestock farming and local populations; thus, they frequently experience food insecurity [96]. Although the flood and fire hazard patterns identified herein are relatively robust (Appendix A), limitations related to data availability still need to be considered.

The previous patterns imply that a large part, socially, of the highly vulnerable population (32%) occurred in high-hazard areas of the country, and vice versa. This pattern was mainly driven by flood risk, which showed the tightest positive relationship with the level of social vulnerability. Reasons of such a situation likely stem from the historical attraction of communities to water resources (i.e., migration along rivers in Namibia), which facilitated the agriculture expansion, yet also increased the size of the population and infrastructure exposed to floods [97]. Moreover, the rapid development of cities such as Oshakati in the flood-prone regions triggers immigration, which, along with lacking infrastructure and poor planning, increases the pressure on natural resources and exacerbates population vulnerability [75].

In the case of drought, the relationship with the SVI was tight for the number of food insecure people but not for drought-induced livestock mortality. The reason is that livestock farming is mainly used in Erongo, Karas, and Kunene, which have relatively good socio-economic conditions. Moreover, the high level of livestock mortality needs to be thought of as a legacy of previous years with sufficient rains, which may have caused overstocking. These facts, thus, highlight the need for broader contextual considerations in the assessment of social vulnerability to hazards, which may not have been obvious in our investigation.

The total burned area during the period 2007–2017 was associated with the SVI only loosely. The most exposed districts were Kavango East and West, where the level of social vulnerability was moderate. The frequency of wildfires decreased southward mainly due to the decreasing management intensity and the presence of the desert [85,98]. We note that although the pattern of fire-prone districts was rather robust, the used dataset did not differentiate between the causes and impacts of the fire (i.e., only the burned area was reported). Most of the fires occurred in the fire-driven savanna ecosystem, where they formed a characteristic disturbance regime [84]; however, the social impacts were not sufficiently documented. Still, previous studies indicate substantial effects of fire on human wellbeing (Section 2.2), which justifies the use of this dataset as a proxy of social exposure to fire hazards.

In total, 32% of the total population of Namibia was found to be distributed in four districts belonging to the highest vulnerability class. Although being geographically close, the social and hazard profiles showed substantial differences between these districts. This situation represents a rather complex challenge to adaptation and resilience management, which needs to cope with highly diverse local contexts, high population density, exposure to multiple concurrent hazards and social barriers to implementation [90,99]. For example, some ethnic groups with strong cultural and religious beliefs are often unwilling to take adaptive measures, such as to reduce the livestock herd size during droughts. The reasons are, for example, low market prices and problematic access to the markets but also a fear of losing prestige in the community [93,100]. Such a cultural background further exacerbates the overall vulnerability of this region.

The coincidence of high social vulnerability and exposure to hazards generates a chain of other issues that puts additional pressure on human and infrastructure resources. These include, for example,

aggravating conflicts between agriculture development and nature conservation, risks to biodiversity and tourism, food insecurity and exposure to water-borne diseases [101,102]. For example, the most vulnerable districts identified here overlapped with areas harboring exceptional biodiversity values such as the Etosha National Park. On the other hand, the spatially restricted size of these priority areas can be thought of as an opportunity as it may allow for better concentration of resources, which can generate synergies and thus amplify the final effect [50].

The presented patterns of vulnerability were based on data from previous decades, when different social-ecological systems have already experienced effects of changing climate [103,104]. These effects may further increase in the future as the studied systems are sensitive to climate. For example, natural hazard regimes can be intensified under climate change and trigger a chain of social responses [105]. This requires consideration of the presented assessment in the context of transient ecological and social conditions, including limitations related to the static nature of the data used herein.

## 4.2. Methodological Aspects

Our analysis used a coarse resolution of administrative districts, which was determined by the availability of used data. Although such a scale of assessment can support strategic planning, including targeting of investments from external sources, finer-scale studies addressing the diversity of local contexts are needed for efficient implementation [27,101]. The scale of districts is particularly limiting if inhabitants are unevenly dispersed across their territory, and within-district variation in social and biophysical vulnerability is large. Moreover, districts in Namibia are influenced by the colonial era, where indigenous people were being largely relocated, without respect to their cultural, ethnic and historical background [64]. Use of district-specific data in vulnerability and other studies has, therefore, obvious limitations and findings should be interpreted with caution. However, as census and other data are typically available for districts, this scale will remain important in the future. To obtain a more complex picture of social vulnerability in Namibia, our assessment can be confronted with previous finer-scale studies, such as Hegga et al. [92], aiming at climate change adaptation in the Omusati district, or Angula and Kaundjua [93] aiming at north-central Namibia (Ohangwena, Oshana and Omusati).

We characterized SV using a number of social, economic and demographic indicators, which is a frequent practice in social vulnerability research (e.g., Cutter et al. [7], Chakraborty et al. [106] and Dwyer [107]). There are, however, other aspects of SV not considered here, such as the broader institutional context, quality of governance, law enforcement, dependence on humanitarian donations [96], level of rural development or existing international collaborative networks [108]. Such district-specific data were not available in the current study though these factors obviously determine SV in Namibia. For example, factors such as institutional development, match between the level of regional development and actual needs of the regions, and participation of vulnerable populations in hazard management largely vary between the districts, thus depicting another dimension of SV.

One factor affecting our analyses was temporal mismatch between SV and natural hazard indicators. While social, economic and demographic data were collected in the census in 2016, the natural hazard data came from different sources and covered different periods. While snapshot data should not be limiting in the case of social attributes (see, e.g., Rufat et al. [10]) (although volatile political and market environment may trigger rapid social changes), this may not be the case for natural hazard data, which often characterize episodic events with erratic temporal fluctuations.

We evaluated relative differences in districts' exposure to natural hazards by combining several hazard indicators (see, e.g., [109,110]). The most robust data were available for wildfires, which covered a 10-year period of time. These data thus differentiated well between fire-prone and the remaining districts in the country. Moreover, the high fire incidence in the northern districts (Appendix A) was also corroborated by previous studies [80,84,85,98]. In the case of flood risk, we mitigated the limited temporal coverage of data by aggregating different flood indicators from different years (2007, 2008 and 2009) and thus obtained a more robust estimate of the overall flood risk. Moreover,

flood incidence is generally driven by the hydrological conditions of the country (Section 2.2); this fact, along with numerous previous studies (e.g., [72,74,75,77]), supports the flood risk pattern identified herein (Appendix A). Drought impacts were approximated by livestock mortality (2018–2019) and the food insecure population (2013), which limits the robustness of this dataset. Moreover, interpreting the livestock mortality as an indicator of drought should be taken with caution, as there are also other factors, most prominently diseases [111], that lead to livestock death. Still, the source statistical reports indicated drought as the main reason for livestock mortality in the season 2018–2019, without referring to any disease outbreak, which supports the use of this indicator. Although further extension of the used dataset would be a great asset in assessing the patterns and drivers of natural hazards, dealing with low-resolution or incomplete data will remain one of the important challenges in research and management planning in many parts of Africa (e.g., Hosegood & Madhavan [112]).

Finally, recent research has increasingly emphasized the importance of resilience as a prerequisite for sustainable development [113]. Resilience goes beyond the vulnerability framework and considers the complex abilities of populations to reduce the severity of impacts and recover rapidly from losses [114]. Further research can use the data and approaches presented here to address the resilience of the Namibian population and, thus, provide more comprehensive support in decision and policy making.

## 5. Conclusions

Understanding the interactions between the social conditions of human populations and the dynamics of natural hazards is one of the key preconditions for sustainable development. This particularly applies for populations living at their social margins, which can be driven to collapse by minor fluctuations in resource availability. We showed that the pattern of natural hazards was highly variable among the districts of Namibia, as were the factors determining the social and economic fitness of the population. Adaptation strategies, therefore, need to consider the diversity of regional contexts, which is high even between adjacent districts with similar natural and cultural conditions. We found that macro-regions exist in the country, where multiple adverse effects coincided, including critically low socio-economic performance, high population density and the concurrent incidence of different hazard types. The increasing risk of natural disasters, which is often mediated by climate change, implies that tipping points can be exceeded in such environments and social and ecological harm can be beyond repair. Our findings can inform national and regional policies on how to develop better targeted management actions that recognize the diversity of the social and hazard-related conditions described herein.

Supplementary Materials: The following are available online at http://www.mdpi.com/2071-1050/12/12/4910/s1, Table S1: Description of candidate indicators of social vulnerability, Table S2: Description of candidate indicators of natural hazards.

**Author Contributions:** Conceptualization, T.H.; data curation, A.K.; formal analysis, A.K. and T.H.; investigation, A.K. and T.H.; methodology, T.H.; supervision, T.H.; writing—original draft, A.K.; writing—review & editing, T.H. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding: This research was funded by the OPRDE grant number "EVA4.0", No. CZ.02.1.01/0.0/0.0/16\_019/0000803X.

Acknowledgments: We are thankful to Martin Mokroš and Jiří Trombik for their kind help with the operation of R language and GIS software.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest.



## Appendix A. District-Based Patterns of Main Hazard Types

**Figure A1.** District-based pattern of the main hazard types in Namibia based on hazard indicators listed in Table 2. Average standardized indicator values for each hazard category are shown.

The collected hazard indicators characterize the most prominent natural hazards in Namibia. The patterns in Figure A1 are based on several often heterogenous indicators with limited temporal coverage. Because these patterns are vital to the vulnerability assessment presented in this study, we provide here an additional justification of the relevance of these patterns.

- Wildfire: Wildfire data are derived from the regular monitoring conducted by the Remote Sensing Department of the Ministry of Agriculture, Water and Forestry of Namibia, based on satellite imagery. This assessment is rather robust as it based on 10 years of observations. Identical patterns of fires were also identified in previous studies, particularly Sheuyange et al. [84] for the northeastern districts, Pricope et al. [53] and Siljander [80] for the Zambezi district, and Verlinden et al. [85] for the northern districts.
- Floods: Flood impact patterns were based on different indicators from flood seasons 2008, 2009 and 2017. The most flood-prone districts are Oshikoto, Oshana, Omusati and Ohangwena, which belong to the Cuvelai Basin floodplains. High flood incidence was documented here also by [68,73,77]. The remaining districts Kavango East, Kavango West and Zambezi, which belong to the Kavango and Zambezi river basins, showed high levels of risk too, though lower than the

previous region [74]. The current dataset does not indicate any flood impact in the remaining districts, although authors in [115] indicate infrequent floods, for example, in the Kuiseb catchment in the Namib Desert. In summary, the flood pattern identified based on the used indicators is highly consistent with previous studies.

Drought: Drought impacts were characterized based on the records from two drought seasons, 2013 and 2018–2019. These data indicate that the entire country was affected to a certain degree, though differences between districts existed. A lower level of drought impacts was observed in the central districts Khomas, Hardap and Omahake with relatively good social-economic conditions. The lower impact of drought here was therefore likely related to the higher adaptive capacity of the population relative to the remaining districts. With regard to the underlying data, drought patterns are the least robust and need to be interpreted with caution. Given the large-scale drivers of drought, which often affects multiple countries in southern Africa [116,117], all districts in Namibia need to be thought of as highly drought-exposed.

## References

- Balica, S.F.; Douben, N.; Wright, N.G. Flood vulnerability indices at varying spatial scales. *Water Sci. Technol.* 2009, 60, 2571–2580. [CrossRef]
- Chang, S.E.; Mcdaniels, T.L.; Mikawoz, J.; Peterson, K. Infrastructure failure interdependencies in extreme events: Power outage consequences in the 1998. *Nat. Hazards* (Dordr.) 2006, 41, 337–358. [CrossRef]
- Botzen, W.J.W.; Deschenes, O.; Sanders, M. The economic impacts of natural disasters: A review of models and empirical studies. *Rev. Environ. Econ. Policy* 2019, 13, 167–188. [CrossRef]
- Yuan, X.C.; Sun, X. Climate change impacts on socioeconomic damages from weather-related events in China. Nat. Hazards (Dordr.) 2019, 99, 1197–1213. [CrossRef]
- Zhang, M.; Xiang, W.; Chen, M.; Mao, Z. Measuring social vulnerability to flood disasters in China. Sustainability 2018, 10, 2676. [CrossRef]
- Sebesvari, Z.; Renaud, F.G.; Haas, S.; Tessler, Z.; Hagenlocher, M.; Kloos, J.; Szabo, S.; Tejedor, A.; Kuenzer, C. A review of vulnerability indicators for deltaic social–Ecological systems. *Sustain. Sci.* 2016, *11*, 575–590. [CrossRef]
- Cutter, S.L.; Mitchell, J.T.; Scott, M.S. Revealing the vulnerability of people and places: A case study of Georgetown. Ann. Assoc. Am. Geogr. 2000, 90, 713–737. [CrossRef]
- Ahmad, T.; Pandey, A.C.; Kumar, A. Flood hazard vulnerability assessment in Kashmir Valley, India using geospatial approach. *Phys. Chem. Earth* 2018, 105, 59–71. [CrossRef]
- Cutter, S.L.; Finch, C. Temporal and Spatial Changes in Social Vulnerability to Natural Hazards. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 2018, 105, 2301–2306. [CrossRef]
- Rufat, S.; Tate, E.; Burton, C.G.; Maroof, A.S. Social vulnerability to floods: Review of case studies and implications for measurement. *Int. J. Disaster Risk Reduct.* 2015, 14, 470–486. [CrossRef]
- Ahmadalipour, A.; Moradkhani, H. Multi-Dimensional assessment of drought vulnerability in Africa: 1960–2100. *Sci. Total Environ.* 2018, 644, 520–535. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Scholze, M.; Knorr, W.; Arnell, N.W.; Prentice, I.C. A climate-change risk analysis for world ecosystems. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 2006, 103, 13116–13120. [CrossRef]
- Gaillard, J.C.; Cadag, J.R.D.; Rampengan, M.M.F. People's capacities in facing hazards and disasters: An overview. *Nat. Hazards (Dordr.)* 2018, 95, 863–876. [CrossRef]
- Clar, C. How demographic developments determine the management of hydrometeorological hazard risks in rural communities: The linkages between demographic and natural hazards research. Wires Water 2019, 1–20. [CrossRef]
- Cutter, S.L.; Boruff, B.J.; Shirley, W.L. Social Vulnerability to Environmental Hazards. Soc. Sci. Q. 2003, 84, 242–261. [CrossRef]
- Mayhorn, C.B. Cognitive aging and the processing of hazard information and disaster warnings. Nat. Hazards Rev. 2005, 6, 165–170. [CrossRef]
- 17. Seplaki, C.L.; Goldman, N.; Weinstein, M.; Lin, Y. Before and after the 1999 Chi-Chi earthquake: Traumatic events and depressive symptoms in an older population. *Soc. Sci. Med.* 2006, *62*, 3121–3132. [CrossRef]

- Cutter, S.L.; Barnes, L.; Berry, M.; Burton, C.; Evans, E.; Tate, E.; Webb, J. A Place-Based model for understanding community resilience to natural disasters. *Glob. Environ. Chang.* 2008, 18, 598–606. [CrossRef]
- Wahid, Y.; Hossain, M.B.; Hasan, M.U. Social vulnerability in the coastal region of Bangladesh: An investigation of social vulnerability index and scalar change effects. *Int. J. Disaster Risk Reduct.* 2019, 41, 1–14. [CrossRef]
- Wang, Z.; Lam, N.S.N.; Obradovich, N.; Ye, X. Are vulnerable communities digitally left behind in social responses to natural disasters? An evidence from Hurricane Sandy with Twitter data. *Appl. Geogr.* 2019, 108, 1–8. [CrossRef]
- Birkmann, J. Measuring vulnerability to promote disaster-resilient societies: Conceptual frameworks and definitions. In *Measuring Vulnerability to Natural Hazards: Towards Disaster Resilient Societies*, 2nd ed.; Birkmann, J., Ed.; UNU-Press: Tokyo, Japan, 2006; pp. 7–54.
- 22. Kantamaneni, K. Evaluation of social vulnerability to natural hazards: A case of Barton on Sea, England. *Arab. J. Geosci.* 2019, 12, 628. [CrossRef]
- Pachauri., R.K.; Allen, M.R.; Barros, V.R. Climate Change 2014: Synthesis Report. Contribution of Working Groups I, II and III to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change; ISBN 9789291691432. IPCC: Geneva, Switzerland, 2014.
- Török, I. Qualitative assessment of social vulnerability to flood hazards in Romania. Sustainability 2018, 10, 3780. [CrossRef]
- Rygel, L.; O'Sullivan, D.; Yarnal, B. A Method for constructing a social vulnerability index: An application to hurricane storm surges in a developed country. *Mitig. Adapt. Strat. Glob. Chang.* 2006, 11, 741–764. [CrossRef]
- Otto, I.M.; Reckien, D.; Reyer, C.P.O.; Marcus, R.; Le Masson, V.; Jones, L.; Norton, A.; Serdeczny, O. Social vulnerability to climate change: A review of concepts and evidence. *Reg. Environ. Chang.* 2017, 17, 1651–1662. [CrossRef]
- Malone, E.L.; Engle, N.L. Evaluating regional vulnerability to climate change: Purposes and methods. Wires Clim. Chang. 2011, 2, 462–474. [CrossRef]
- Stanickova, M.; Melecký, L. Understanding of resilience in the context of regional development using composite index approach: The case of European Union NUTS-2 regions. *Reg. Stud. Reg. Sci.* 2018, 5, 231–254. [CrossRef]
- Brooks, N.; Adger, W.N.; Kelly, P.M. The determinants of vulnerability and adaptive capacity at the national level and the implications for adaptation. *Glob. Environ. Chang.* 2005, 151–163. [CrossRef]
- Adger, W.N.; Brooks, N.; Bentham, G.; Agnew, M. New indicators of vulnerability and adaptive capacity. Final Project Report. *Tyndal Cent. Clim. Chang.* 2004.
- Fekete, A. Validation of a Social Vulnerability Index in Context to River-floods in Validation of a social vulnerability index in context to River-Floods in Germany. *Nat. Hazards Earth Syst. Sci.* 2009, *9*, 393–403. [CrossRef]
- Fatemi, F.; Ardalan, A.; Aguirre, B.; Mansouri, N.; Mohammadfam, I. Social vulnerability indicators in disasters: Findings from a systematic review. *Int. J. Disaster Risk Reduct.* 2017, 22, 219–227. [CrossRef]
- Kodavalla, V.; Meshram, I.I.; Gottimukkula, M.; Kodavanti, M.R.; Kakani, S.; Avula, L. Development of composite index and ranking the districts using nutrition survey data in Madhya Pradesh, India. *Indian J. Community Health* 2015, 27, 204–210.
- Krishnan, V. Constructing an Area-Based Socioeconomic Index: A Principal Components Analysis Approach. Early Child Development Mapping Project Alberta, Edmonton, Canada, 2010. Available online: https://www.ualberta.ca/-/media/ualberta/faculties-and-programs/centres-institutes/communityuniversity-partnership/research/ecmap-reports/seicupwebsite10april13-1.pdf (accessed on 27 January 2020).
- Krishnan, V. Development of a multidimensional living conditions index (LCI). Soc. Indic. Res. 2015, 120, 455–481. [CrossRef]
- De Silva, M.M.G.T.; Kawasaki, A. Socioeconomic vulnerability to disaster risk: A case study of flood and drought impact in a rural Sri Lankan community. *Ecol. Econ.* 2018, *152*, 131–140. [CrossRef]
- Mertz, O.; Halsnæs, K.; Olesen, J.E.; Rasmussen, K. Adaptation to climate change in developing countries. Environ. Manag. 2009, 43, 743–752. [CrossRef] [PubMed]

- Herslund, L.B.; Jalayer, F.; Jean-Baptiste, N.; Jørgensen, G.; Kabisch, S.; Kombe, W.; Lindley, S.; Nyed, P.K.; Pauleit, S.; Printz, A.; et al. A Multi-Dimensional assessment of urban vulnerability to climate change in Sub-Saharan Africa. *Nat. Hazards (Dordr.)* 2016, 82, 149–172. [CrossRef]
- Luetkemeier, R.; Stein, L.; Drees, L.; Liehr, S. Blended drought index: Integrated drought hazard assessment in the Cuvelai-Basin. *Climate* 2017, 5, 51. [CrossRef]
- Davis-Reddy, C.L.; Vincent, K. Climate Risk and Vulnerability: A Handbook for Southern Africa, 2nd ed.; ISBN 9780620765220. Council for Scientific and Industrial Research: Pretoria, South Africa, 2017.
- Dintwa, K.F.; Letamo, G.; Navaneetham, K. Quantifying social vulnerability to natural hazards in Botswana: An application of cutter model. Int. J. Disaster Risk Reduct. 2019, 37, 1–12. [CrossRef]
- 42. Luetkemeier, R.; Liehr, S. Household Drought Risk Index (HDRI): Social-ecological assessment of drought risk in the Cuvelai-Basin. J. Nat. Resour. Dev. 2018, 8, 46–68. [CrossRef]
- Reid, H.; Sahlén, L.; Stage, J.; MacGregor, J. Climate change impacts on Namibia' s natural resources and economy. *Clim. Policy* 2008, *8*, 452–466. [CrossRef]
- 44. Hummel, D.; Doevenspeck, M.; Samimi, C. *Climate Change, Environment and Migration in the Sahel: Selected Issues with a Focus on Senegal and Mali;* working paper No. 1; Micle: Frankfurt, Germany, 2012.
- Kamali, B.; Abbaspour, K.C.; Wehrli, B.; Yang, H. A Quantitative analysis of Socio-Economic determinants influencing crop drought vulnerability in Sub-Saharan Africa. *Sustainability* 2019, *11*, 6135. [CrossRef]
- Rapolaki, R.S.; Blamey, R.C.; Hermes, J.C.; Reason, C.J.C. A classification of synoptic weather patterns linked to extreme rainfall over the Limpopo River Basin in southern Africa. *Clim. Dyn.* 2019, 53, 2265–2279. [CrossRef]
- Global Drought Observatory. GDO Analytical Report: Drought in Southern Africa–January 2019; Copernicus: Göttingen, Germany, 2019. Available online: https://www.gdacs.org/Public/download.aspx?type=DC&id= 144 (accessed on 6 January 2020).
- Lendelvo, S.; Angula, M.N.; Mogotsi, I.; Aribeb, K. Towards the reduction of vulnerabilities and risks of climate change in the Community-Based tourism, Namibia. In *Natural Hazards—Risk Assessment and Vulnerability Reduction*; do Carmo, J.S.A., Ed.; BoD—Books on Demand: London, UK, 2018; pp. 87–105. ISBN 978-1-78984-820-5.
- Liehr, S.; Röhrig, J.; Mehring, M.; Kluge, T. How the Social-Ecological systems concept can guide transdisciplinary research and implementation: Addressing water challenges in central northern Namibia. *Sustainability* 2017, 9, 1109. [CrossRef]
- Angombe, S.T. Evaluation of drought indices using the 40-percentile threshold for the North-Central regions of Namibia. J. Stud. Humanit. Soc. Sci. 2012, 1, 2026–7215.
- Landman, W.A.; Barnston, A.G.; Vogel, C.; Savy, J. Use of El Niño–Southern Oscillation related seasonal precipitation predictability in developing regions for potential societal benefit. *Int. J. Clim.* 2019, 39, 5327–5337. [CrossRef]
- Nhamo, L.; Mabhaudhi, T. Preparedness or repeated short-term relief aid? Building drought resilience through early warning in southern Africa. Water SA 2019, 45, 75–85. [CrossRef]
- Pricope, N.G.; Gaughan, A.E.; All, J.D.; Binford, M.W.; Rutina, L.P. Spatio-temporal analysis of vegetation dynamics in relation to shifting inundation and fire regimes: Disentangling environmental variability from land management decisions in a southern African transboundary watershed. *Land* 2015, *4*, 627–655. [CrossRef]
- Angula, M.N.; Menjono, E. Gender, culture and climate change in rural Namibia. J. Stud. Humanit. Soc. Sci. 2014, 3, 225–238.
- Mabuku, M.P.; Senzanje, A.; Mudhara, M.; Jewitt, G. Rural households' flood preparedness and social determinants in Mwandi district of Zambia and Eastern Zambezi Region of Namibia. *Int. J. Disaster Risk Reduct.* 2018, 28, 284–297. [CrossRef]
- Government Republic of Namibia (GRN), National Disaster Risk Management Plan; Government Republic of Namibia: Windhoek, Namibia, 2011.
- Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO). Food and Agriculture: Key to Achieving the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development; Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations: Rome, Italy, 2016.
- 58. Government Republic of Namibia. *Climate Change Vulnerability & Adaptation Assessment: Namibia;* Government Republic of Namibia: Windhoek, Namibia, 2008.

- Awadallah, A.G.; Tabet, D. Estimating flooding extent at high return period for ungauged braided systems using remote sensing: A case study of Cuvelai Basin, Angola. *Nat. Hazards (Dordr.)* 2015, 77, 255–272. [CrossRef]
- Mittermeier, R.A.; Turner, W.R.; Larsen, F.W.; Brooks, T.M.; Gascon, C. Global biodiversity conservation: The critical role of hotspots. In *Biodiversity Hotspots: Distribution and Protection of Conservation Priority Areas*; Zachos, F.E., Habel, J.C., Eds.; Springer: Heidelberg, Germany, 2011; pp. 3–22. ISBN 978-3-642-20991-8.
- Scraping the Pot: San in Namibia Two Decades After Independence; Dieckmann, U.; Thiem, M.; Dirkx, E.; Hays, J. (Eds.) Legal Assistance Centre (LAC): Windhoek, Namibia, 2014; ISBN 978-99945-61-52-0.
- Lee, R.B.; Hitchcock, R.K. African Hunter-Gatherers: Survival, history and the politics of identity. *Afr. Study Monogr.* 2001, 26, 257–280.
- Central Inteligence Agency. The World Factbook. Available online: https://www.cia.gov/library/publications/ the-world-factbook/geos/wa.html (accessed on 5 June 2020).
- 64. Melber, H. Colonialism, land, ethnicity, and class: Namibia after the second national land conference. *Afr. Spectr.* **2019**, *54*, 73–86. [CrossRef]
- Hoole, A.; Berkes, F. Breaking down fences: Recoupling Social–Ecological systems for biodiversity conservation in Namibia. *Geoforum* 2009, 41, 304–317. [CrossRef]
- 66. Namibia's Red Line: The History of a Veterinary and Settlement Border; Giorgio, M. (Ed.) Palgrave MacMillan: London, UK, 2012.
- Newsham, A.J.; Thomas, D.S.G. Knowing, farming and climate change adaptation in North-Central Namibia. Glob. Environ. Chang. 2011, 21, 761–770. [CrossRef]
- Hooli, L.J. Resilience of the poorest: Coping strategies and indigenous knowledge of living with the floods in Northern Namibia. *Reg. Environ. Chang.* 2015, *16*, 695–707. [CrossRef]
- Van Rooy, G.; Roberts, B.; Schier, C.; Swartz, J.; Levine, S. Income Poverty and Inequality in Namibia; Discussion Paper No. 1: Windhoek, Namibia, 2007.
- Namibia Statistics Agency. Poverty Dynamics in Namibia: A Comparative Study Using 1993/1994, 2003/04 and the 2009/10 NHIES Surveys; Namibia Statistics Agency: Windhoek, Namibia, 2012.
- Mendelsohn, J.; Jarvis, A.; Roberts, C.; Robertson, T. Atlas of Namibia: A Portrait of the Land and Its People; David Philip Publishers: Cape Town, South Africa, 2002.
- Taukeni, S.; Chitiyo, G.; Chitiyo, M.; Asino, I.; Shipena, G. Post-Traumatic stress disorder amongst children aged 8–18 affected by the 2011 northern-Namibia floods. Jàmbá. J. Disaster Risk Stud. 2011, 8, 1–6. [CrossRef]
- Kluge, T.; Liehr, S.; Lux, A.; Moser, P.; Niemann, S.; Umlauf, N.; Urban, W. IWRM concept for the Cuvelai Basin in northern Namibia. *Phys. Chem. Earth* 2008, 33, 48–55. [CrossRef]
- Vallejo Orti, M.; Negussie, K.G. Temporal statistical analysis and predictive modelling of drought and flood in Rundu–Namibia. *Clim. Dyn.* 2019, 53, 1247–1260. [CrossRef]
- Speranza, C.I. Flood disaster risk management and humanitarian interventions in the Zambezi River Basin: Implications for adaptation to climate change. *Clim. Dev.* 2010, 2, 176–190. [CrossRef]
- Government Republic of Namibia. A Policy for Disaster Risk Management in Namibia 2009; Office of the Prime Minister—Directorate Disaster Risk Management: Windhoek, Namibia, 2009.
- Awala, S.K.; Hove, K.; Wanga, M.A.; Valombola, J.S.; Mwandemele, O.D. Rainfall trend and variability in Semi-Arid northern Namibia: Implications for smallholder agricultural production. *Welwitschai Int. J. Agric. Sci.* 2019, 5–25.
- Luetkemeier, R.; Liehr, S. Integrated Responses to Drought Risk in Namibia and Angola; ISOE—nstitute for Social-Ecological Research: Frankfurt, Germany, 2019; pp. 1–7.
- 79. Government Republic of Namibia. Agricultural Inputs and Household Food Security Situation Report; Government Republic of Namibia: Windhoek, Namibia, 2019.
- Siljander, M. Predictive fire occurrence modelling to improve burned area estimation at a regional scale: A case study in East Capriv, Namibia. Int. J. Appl. Earth Obs. Geoinf. 2009, 11, 380–393. [CrossRef]
- Government Republic of Namibia. National Forest and Veld Fire Management Policy and Strategy; Government Republic of Namibia: Windhoek, Namibia, 2019.
- van Wilgen, B.W. The evolution of fire management practices in savanna protected areas in South Africa. S. Afr. J. Sci. 2009, 105, 343–349. [CrossRef]
- 83. Government Republic of Namibia. *Fire Management Strategy for Namibia's Protected Areas;* Government Republic of Namibia: Windhoek, Namibia, 2016.

- Sheuyange, A.; Oba, G.; Weladji, R.B. Effects of anthropogenic fire history on savanna vegetation in northeastern Namibia. J. Environ. Manag. 2005, 75, 189–198. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Verlinden, A.; Laamanen, R. Long term fire scar monitoring with remote sensing in northern namibia: Relations between fire frequency, rainfall, land cover, fire management and trees. *Environ. Monit. Assess.* 2006, 112, 231–253. [CrossRef]
- 86. TIBCO Software Inc. Statistica, Software release 13.4. 2018.
- R Core Team. A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing; R Core Team: Vienna, Austria, 2017.
- 88. ESRI ArcGIS Desktop: Release 10.8. Redlands, CA: Environmental Systems Research Institute 2020.
- Bunting, E.; Steele, J.; Keys, E.; Muyengwa, S.; Child, B.; Southworth, J. Local perception of risk to livelihoods in the Semi-Arid landscape of Southern Africa. *Land* 2013, *2*, 225–251. [CrossRef]
- O'Brien, K.; Quinlan, T.; Ziervogel, G. Vulnerability interventions in the context of multiple stressors: Lessons from the Southern African Vulnerability Initiative (SAVI). *Environ. Sci. Policy* 2009, *12*, 23–32. [CrossRef]
- Davies, J.E.; Spear, D.; Ziervogel, G.; Hegga, S.; Angula, N.; Kunamwene, I.; Togarepi, C.; Elaine, J.; Spear, D.; Ziervogel, G.; et al. Avenues of understanding: Mapping the intersecting barriers to adaptation in Namibia. *Clim. Dev.* 2020, 12, 268–280. [CrossRef]
- Hegga, S.; Ziervogel, G.; Angula, M.; Spear, D.; Nyamwanza, A.; Ndeunyema, E.; Kunamwene, I.; Togarepi, C.; Morchain, D. Vulnerability and Risk Assessment in Omusati Region. In *Namibia: Fostering People-Centred Adaptation to Climate Change*; CARIAA: Ottawa, ON, Canada, 2016.
- Angula, M.N.; Kaundjua, M.B. The changing climate and human vulnerability in North-Central Namibia. Jàmbá. J. Disaster Risk Stud. 2016, 8, 1–7. [CrossRef]
- 94. Taapopi, M.; Kamwi, J.M.; Siyambango, N. Perception of farmers on conservation agriculture for climate change adaptation in Namibia. *Environ. Nat. Resour. Res.* 2018, *8*, 33–43. [CrossRef]
- Angula, M. Gender and Climate Change: Namibia Case Study; Heinrich böll Foundation southern Africa: Cape Town, South Africa, 2010.
- Nhemachena, C.; Matchaya, G.; Nhemachena, C.R.; Karuaihe, S.; Muchara, B.; Nhlengethwa, S. Measuring baseline Agriculture-Related sustainable development goals index for southern Africa. *Sustainability* 2018, 10, 849. [CrossRef]
- Dilshad, T.; Mallick, D.; Udas, P.B.; Goodrich, C.G.; Prakash, A.; Gorti, G.; Bhadwal, S.; Anwar, M.Z.; Khandekar, N.; Hassan, S.M.T.; et al. Growing social vulnerability in the river basins: Evidence from the Hindu Kush Himalaya (HKH) Region. *Environ. Dev.* 2019, *31*, 19–33. [CrossRef]
- Mayr, M.; Le Roux, J.; Samimi, C. The Effect of Land Use Practices on the Spatial and Temporal Characteristics of Savanna Fires in Namibia; University of Bayreuth: Bayreuth, Germany, 2015.
- Eriksen, S.; Silva, J.A. The vulnerability context of a savanna area in Mozambique: Household drought coping strategies and responses to economic change. *Environ. Sci. Policy* 2009, 12, 33–52. [CrossRef]
- 100. Davies, J.; Spear, D.; Chappel, A.; Joshi, N.; Togarepi, C.; Kunamwene, I. Considering religion and tradition in climate smart Agriculture: Insights from Namibia. In *The Climate-Smart Agriculture Papers: Investigating the Business of a Productive, Resilient and Low Emission Future*; Rosenstock, T.S., Nowak, A., Girvetz, E., Eds.; Springer Nature Switzerland AG: Gewerbestrasse, Switzerland, 2019; pp. 187–197. ISBN 9783319927985.
- Osbahr, H.; Twyman, C.; Adger, W.N.; Thomas, D.S.G. Evaluating successful livelihood adaptation to climate variability and change in Southern Africa. *Ecol. Soc.* 2010, 15, 1–20. [CrossRef]
- 102. Gan, T.Y.; Ito, M.; Hülsmann, S.; Qin, X.; Lu, X.X.; Liong, S.-Y.; Rutschman, M.D.; Koivusalo, H. Possible climate change/variability and human impacts, vulnerability of Drought-Prone regions, water resources and capacity building for Africa. *Hydrol. Sci. J.* 2016, *61*, 1209–1226. [CrossRef]
- 103. Zinyengere, N.; Crespo, O.; Hachigonta, S. Crop response to climate change in southern Africa: A comprehensive review. *Glob. Planet. Chang.* 2013, 111, 118–126. [CrossRef]
- Kusangaya, S.; Warburton, M.L.; van Garderen, E.A.; Jewitt, G.P.W. Impacts of climate change on water resources in southern Africa: A review. *Phys. Chem. Earth Parts A/B/C* 2014, 67–69, 47–54. [CrossRef]
- Serdeczny, O.; Adams, S.; Baarsch, F.; Coumou, D.; Robinson, A.; Hare, W.; Schaeffer, M.; Perrette, M.; Reinhardt, J. Climate change impacts in Sub-Saharan Africa: From physical changes to their social repercussions. *Reg. Environ. Chang.* 2017, 17, 1585–1600. [CrossRef]

- 106. Chakraborty, L.; Rus, H.; Henstra, D.; Thistlethwaite, J.; Scott, D. A Place-Based socioeconomic status index: Measuring social vulnerability to flood hazards in the context of environmental justice. *Int. J. Disaster Risk Reduct.* 2019, 43, 1–12. [CrossRef]
- Dwyer, A.; Zoppou, C.; Nielsen, O.; Day, S.; Robert, S. Quantifying Social Vulnerability: A methodology for identifying those at risk to natural hazards; Geoscience Australia: Canberra, Australia, 2004; ISBN 1-920871-09-8.
- Bauer, S.; Scholz, I. Adaptation to climate change in Southern Africa: New boundaries for sustainable development? *Clim. Dev.* 2010, 2, 83–93. [CrossRef]
- Skilodimou, H.D.; Bathrellos, G.D.; Chousianitis, K.; Youssef, A.M.; Pradhan, B. Multi-hazard assessment modeling via Multi-Criteria analysis and GIS: A case study. *Environ. Earth Sci.* 2019, 78, 1–21. [CrossRef]
- Bathrellos, G.D.; Skilodimou, H.D.; Chousianitis, K.; Youssef, A.M.; Pradhan, B. Suitability estimation for urban development using Multi-Hazard assessment map. *Sci. Total Environ.* 2017, 575, 119–134. [CrossRef]
- 111. Government Republic of Namibia. *Disaster Risk Management Plan;* Office of the Prime Minister—Directorate Disaster Risk Management: Windhoek, Namibia, 2011.
- Hosegood, V.; Madhavan, S. Data availability on men's involvement in families in Sub-Saharan Africa to inform Family-Centred programmes for children affected by HIV and AIDS. J. Int. Aids Soc. 2010, 13, 1–7. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Obrist, B.; Pfeiffer, C.; Henley, R. Multi-layered social resilience: A new approach in mitigation research. Prog. Dev. Stud. 2010, 10, 283–293. [CrossRef]
- 114. Saja, A.M.A.; Goonetilleke, A.; Teo, M.; Ziyath, A.M. A critical review of social resilience assessment frameworks in disaster management. *Int. J. Disaster Risk Reduct.* 2019, 35, 101096. [CrossRef]
- 115. Grodek, T.; Benito, G.; Botero, B.A.; Jacoby, Y.; Porat, N.; Haviv, I.; Cloete, G. The last millennium largest floods in the hyperarid Kuiseb River basin, Namib Desert. J. Quat. Sci. 2013, 28, 258–270. [CrossRef]
- 116. Archer, E.R.M.; Landman, W.A.; Tradross, M.A.; Malherbe, J.; Weepener, H.; Maluleke, P.; Marumbwa, F.M. Understanding the evolution of the 2014–2016 summer rainfall seasons in southern Africa: Key lessons. *Clim. Risk Manag.* 2017, *16*, 22–28. [CrossRef]
- Fara, K. How Natural Are 'Natural Disasters'? Vulnerability to Drought of Communal Farmers in Southern Namibia. *Risk Manag.* 2001, 3, 47–63. [CrossRef]



© 2020 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

# **6** Discussions

## 6.1 Summary of addressed knowledge gaps and objectives

Southern Africa is particularly vulnerable to the impacts of climate change due to the populations' high dependence on climatically vulnerable natural resources, high levels of poverty, and low adaptive capacity. This thesis contributed to the knowledge of the dynamics of southern African social-ecological systems exposed to climate change in. The thesis particularly focused on:

- (i) understanding the temporal development of climate change research, its geographical differences, coverage of different thematic areas, and level of research internationalization southern African countries, and how international collaboration and the role of African authors in climate change research have been developing between 2000-2019. The thesis further evaluated how publication performance was associated with different demographic, economic, and other characteristics of the investigated countries;
- (ii) understanding observed and projected impacts of climate change on various species, populations, and ecosystems, with management and policy recommendations aiming to mitigate these impacts in southern African countries;
- (iii) investigating how climate change threatens major woody species' potential current and future distributions and identify regional winner and loser species, i.e., species gaining and losing areas with climatically suitable conditions, and assess the implications for providing crucial ecosystem services by identifying areas where conditions for one or several species providing various ecosystem services are projected to persist, decline, or expand, and
- (iv) identifying patterns of social vulnerability of the Namibian population based on a number of demographic, economic and other indicators, identify the main drivers that influence the social vulnerability and their variability between the administrative districts of Namibia, and evaluate the relationship between social vulnerability and the distribution of high-hazard areas in the country.

The thesis' objectives were addressed through the original set of studies published in scientific journals with Impact Factors. The publications were in line with the topic of the dissertation, focusing on various aspects of climate change impacts and adaptation in southern Africa.

# 6.2 Summary of used methodological approaches

Integrative and interdisciplinary approaches are required to understand the impacts of climate change on social-ecological systems and to support the formulation of effective adaptation mechanisms. This thesis therefore utilized such interdisciplinary research which explores the concept of social-ecological systems, with the main aim of enhancing the understanding of dynamics of social-ecological systems under climate change in southern Africa. Transdisciplinary research approaches were used to examine the characteristics of selected southern African social-ecological under climate change. The thesis employed various research approaches, including systematic literature review of publications extracted from Scopus and Web of Science databases based on the PRISMA framework, vulnerability assessment based on the concept of "exposure-sensitivity-adaptive capacity", and ecosystem modelling based on the MaxEnt algorithm. The social-ecological systems in the face of climate change. The social-ecological framework was used to answer the main question addressed by the dissertation: "*How different social-ecological systems are influenced by climate change in southern Africa and how the societies respond to these challenges*?" The dissertation was guided by the following key activities:

- i. collection of social-economic, natural conditions, including climate and other data on southern Africa.
- ii. creation of geodatabases in MS access and Arc GIS for the whole of southern African region to address specific research objectives.
- iii. statistical analyses of the collected data using STATISTICA software and spatial analysis in ArcGIS.
- iv. study trips aimed at the presentation of research findings and developing international collaborations.
- v. publication of research findings and their presentations on different media.

# 6.2.1 Limitations of the methodological approaches

Despite the use of application of integrative and interdisciplinary approaches in our analyses, the methodological approaches still had their shortcomings. The systematic review of the impacts of climate change on ecosystems utilized the search outputs from the two bibliographic databases, which suggest that a large proportion of relevant papers could have been identified (Bramer et al., 2017). Still, the number of studies that met all the defined criteria was surprisingly low, given the broadly recognized vulnerability of African ecosystems and large-scale impacts reported by different global assessments (Dai, 2011; Sintayehu, 2018). This undoubtedly accounts for the strict criteria for the inclusion of papers that was applied in this analysis, that is, the clear identification of the addressed species or ecosystem, attribution of the impact to climate change, and the provision of management and policy recommendations. Moreover, we considered only papers published in English, which could have discriminated countries where English is not commonly used (e.g., Mozambique and Angola). In our review, we also did not consider publications related to South Africa, where science production outperforms the remaining region (Sooryamoorthy, 2018). However, South Africa shares numerous species, ecosystems, and management practices with the rest of the southern African countries, therefore, highlighting the importance of knowledge transfer and transnational collaboration in narrowing the existing knowledge gaps (Boshoff, 2010).

Another limitation in the applied methodology involved the use of correlative models (i.e. models predicting species distribution as a function of environmental conditions) such as MaxEnt. Such models assume that species occurrence data characterize species fundamental niche adequately, i.e., the entire range of conditions where species can survive was sampled (Booth, 2014). This is not true for many species because the sampling often does not cover their current distribution entirely, and their current distribution often does not correspond with their fundamental niche (Botella et al., 2020). The quality of climate data and choice of a dataset are other aspects affecting the presented predictions (Abdulwahab et al., 2022; Datta et al., 2020). For example, the used AFRICLIM contains an RCM-based climate change signal (Platts et al., 2015), making it superior to Worldclim, which uses GCM-based anomaly values. On the other hand, the used version of AFRICLIM uses Worldclim 1.4 as a baseline, though Worldclim 2.1 based on a denser station network has already been released (Fick & Hijmans, 2017). Further, the 30' resolution of the used climate data limits smaller scale assessment such as the identification of microclimatic refugia (Barrows et al., 2020), yet this limitation should not be severe in the presented large-scale assessment. Using higher-resolution data that better captures the effects of terrain-induced climate transitions, water bodies, and other features would increase these projections' applicability at smaller scales. However, effective resolution that depends on the density of underlying station data (Daly, 2006) is particularly limited in sub-Saharan Africa, where monitoring infrastructure is largely underdeveloped (Haselip & Hughes, 2018; Posada et al., 2018).

Our analysis considered two Representative Concentration Pathway (RCP) scenarios to capture the variability of future developments. However, we used the average ensemble of climate projections produced by different combinations of General Circulation Models (GCMs) and Regional Climate Models (RCMs) driven by each RCP. This averaging likely underestimated future projections' variability, particularly concerning precipitation-related variables, which typically vary between the RCM-GCM pairs more than between the RCPs (Saini et al., 2015).

The proposed methodology for mapping species distribution vulnerability hotspots and coldspots by identifying areas where climatic conditions for multiple species were projected to persist or decline. Although this approach is straightforward, the interpretations should be cautious. This approach, for example, assumes that the baseline species pool is equal across the study region and that the social or ecological impact of different species retreats is similar. However, compensatory dynamics emerging from species diversity and functional asynchrony, which may involve species not included in this analysis, can potentially mitigate some impacts, and stabilize the provision of ecosystem services (Gonzalez & Loreau, 2008; Winfree & Kremen, 2008). This is particularly relevant for highly diverse and species-rich ecosystems such as the Miombo and Mopane woodlands, where such dynamics can be anticipated (Gonçalves et al., 2017). Therefore, the identified hotspot and coldspot areas need to be interpreted with respect to the baseline distribution of the eight addressed species, which is obviously limiting. We strived to mitigate this limitation by carefully selecting ecologically and socially relevant species, which could thus approximate the overall pattern of future risks.

Finally, the scale of the districts used in the analysis of social vulnerability of the Namibian population is particularly limiting if inhabitants are unevenly dispersed across their territory, and within-district variation in social and biophysical vulnerability is large. Moreover, districts in Namibia are influenced by the colonial era, where indigenous people were being largely relocated, without respect to their cultural, ethnic and historical background. Use of district specific data in vulnerability and other studies has, therefore, obvious limitations and findings should be interpreted with caution.

# 6.3 Key findings

This thesis is presented as a set of original scientific articles, each containing detailed discussions on the researched issue. Here, we briefly discuss the key findings of the presented scientific articles.

# 6.3.1 Knowledge gaps in current understanding of climate change impact and adaptation options in Sub-Saharan Africa

## Progress in climate change research in Southern Africa

While climate change research is increasing globally, geographical differences in our understanding of major impacts, drivers, and responses remain large (Arnell et al., 2019; Blicharska et al., 2017). Southern Africa represents one of the world's most understudied regions with poor research infrastructure and human resources (Kusangaya et al., 2014). Literature review of the progress in climate change research demonstrated that the region has experienced remarkable progress between 2000-2019. The identified increase in climate change research corresponds with the findings from Zinyengere et al., (2013) and Ford et al., (2015). The latter authors demonstrated that research on adaptation to climate change in southern and eastern Africa outperformed the remaining African regions. This is good news for the southern African region and Africa in general, as this development complies with the continent's strategic framework, the Africa 2063 Agenda. It also corresponds with the increasing involvement of the African governments in global discussions, including those leading to the formulation of strategic documents such as the Paris Agreement adopted at "The 2015 United Nations Climate Change Conference in Paris" (United Nations 2015), and the "Sustainable Development Goals" adopted by the United Nations in 2015.

However, geographical differences in research performances still prevail, with South Africa being the most researched country, accounting for more than half of the publications in the reviewed period. The results show that climate change research focused on social impacts and populations' responses to these impacts have received more attention since 2015. Climate change research in southern Africa have also seen an increase in research collaborations (i.e., mixed of African and non-African affiliated authors) since 2008, increasing between 33 and 38% after 2013. More than half of these publications had a first author with an African affiliation. A remarkable finding is that the main driver of publication performances was the level of social and political globalization rather than, for example, expenditures on education. This finding should be

considered in regional development policies. This analysis can play an important role in better understanding of the patterns and drivers of the regional research, which are critical entries to informed decisions about research investments, infrastructure development, and education transformation.

## Climate change impacts on ecosystems and management responses in Southern Africa

Climate change increasingly threatens global biodiversity (Malhi et al., 2020), however, information about the direction and magnitude of impacts in southern Africa is still lacking. The underdeveloped research infrastructure and human resources in the southern African region limits our understanding and hamper the implementation of knowledge-based adaptation strategies (Wangai et al., 2016).

The analysis showed that there is a high diversity of climate change-related impacts on human society, species, and various ecosystems in southern Africa. Observed and projected climate change-related impacts in the region included, for example, local extinctions, increased mortality, and species range shifts in terrestrial, marine, and freshwater ecosystems. Habitat loss and range contraction were the most frequently reported processes, potentially leading to the loss of keystone species such as predators (e.g., the African Wild Dog) and pollinators (e.g., *Promerops cafer, Nectarinia famosa,* and *Anthobaphes violacea*). This agrees with Sintayehu, (2018), who noted that the impacts of climate change have resulted in significant shifts in species' geographical ranges in many parts of Africa. We found a relatively high geographical imbalance in the number of identified publications, with the dominance of Namibia (28% of all cases) and Zimbabwe (21%). However, it is worth noting that such a pattern should not be interpreted in terms of the higher vulnerability of these countries but rather in terms of their size and research environment that outperforms the remaining countries.

Our analysis showed that most of the reviewed publications addressed vegetation (50%) and were mainly focused on increased mortality and range shift. This is consistent with other previous research, such as (Midgley & Thuiller, 2011), who suggested that research on plant species in southern Africa is currently further developed than that on animals. On the other hand, aquatic (marine and freshwater) systems were the least addressed in the reviewed publications. This finding conforms with that of Pereira et al., (2010), who found that quantitative scenarios focusing on the impacts of global change on freshwater and marine organisms are lacking. The impacts identified

in this analysis represent only some of the climate change effects documented in the literature. This is likely related to the limited science production in the target region and our strict selection criteria to identify studies that addressed both impacts and management and policy responses. We also found that many of the reviewed studies (57%) addressed the projected impacts of climate change, while the remaining papers addressed actual observed impacts. This suggests an increasing recognition of model-based approaches and the use of climate projections in research in the region, which was previously found marginal (Kusangaya et al., 2014).

The review of active management measures demonstrated the high diversity of approaches which need to be considered, including building artificial nesting spots and water points, revising fire management approaches, reintroducing threatened species, or regulating industrial fishing. Although these cases were somewhat fragmented and challenging to synthesize, they may inspire the development of adaptive management plans elsewhere in the region. The reviewed publications repeatedly indicated a limited understanding of climate change impacts and vulnerability of different species and ecosystems as a factor hampering adaptation actions. Therefore, the authors mostly recommended further intensive and coordinated monitoring of vegetation and animal populations, which seems to be particularly needed for marine and freshwater ecosystems (Kirkman et al., 2011; Sherley et al., 2012).

The implementation of active management measures needs to be embedded within an efficient policy framework, which is often missing in southern Africa. Therefore, some of the reviewed publications suggested targeted policy improvements to facilitate the operational mitigation of climate change impacts (Huntley & Barnard, 2012). The policy recommendations highlighted the need to incorporate transient ecosystem dynamics into nature conservation and management planning, coordinate transboundary conservation policies, and strengthen and coordinate different monitoring systems. These recommendations are well consistent with the emergent concepts on biodiversity conservation under climate change (Heller & Zavaleta, 2009).

We found an increasing tendency in the number of publications addressing the interface of climate change and management and policy. Such an increase corresponds with the global recognition of climate change-related threats and the urgency of coordinated actions (Ford et al., 2015; Siders, 2019).

# 6.3.2 Climate change impact on trees species distribution and ecosystem services provision in Sub-Saharan Africa

Climate change is a global phenomenon that is currently affecting human populations and the environment around the world. In southern Africa, woody vegetation provides essential ecological, regulation, and cultural ecosystem services (ES), yet many species and ecosystems are increasingly threatened by climate change and land-use transformations. Therefore, this analysis can inform targeted adaptation and conservation actions and strategies, which are currently lacking in most parts of Africa.

# Species perspective

Our investigation showed that climate change is projected to have significant impacts on the vegetation in the region under different climatic scenarios. The results portrayed distinct regional differences in species range vulnerability. The projection highlighted remarkable differences in climatic sensitivity of species distribution, rendering a specific pattern of winners and losers and the distinct geographical pattern of multi-species vulnerability. Generally, the distribution of species with a small baseline range, such *as B. plurijuga*, and *G. coleosperma*, were found to be the most threatened by climate change, i.e., the climatic suitability within their baseline range declined, and future gains were insignificant. At the same time, species with large baseline distributions, such as *S. rautanenii, C. imberbe, and C. mopane*, benefited from climate change in terms of (i) the persistence of suitable conditions within their baseline range and (ii) large future gains. Our assessment indicated that *C. mopane* is a regional winner, which is particularly important regarding the broad range of ES the species provides, including timber, food, medicine, and energy (Makhado et al., 2014; Sekonya et al., 2020). While the baseline range of *G. coleosperma* declined entirely rendering the species a regional loser.

The investigation identified several distinct hotspots of species range vulnerability, where climatic suitability for multiple species was projected to decline, and coldspots of potential species persistence. Interestingly, while coldspot were unstable under the two RCPs, and their area shrunk significantly under RCP8.5, the hotspot areas exhibited high stability. The central hotspot area was located at the borders of Angola, Zambia, Namibia, and Botswana in the Miombo and Mopane woodlands. This finding is alarming because of the potential loss of vital ecological functions over the large areas of the woodlands, which support the livelihood of ca 10 million rural people and 50

million urban dwellers. The findings of our analysis on high vulnerability of these woodlands has is consistent with previous studies, including risks such as phenological disruption and species turnover driven by a shorter and shifted growing season, reduced water availability, and fire regime shift (Prichard et al., 2017).

## *Ecosystem services perspective*

Climate change is also projected to result in the decline in the provision of key ecosystem services for the local communities of southern Africa, with the provision of timber projected to be the most affected (Kapuka et al., 2022). The analysis identified the hotspots and coldspots of ecosystem services provision based on the decline and persistence of land climatic suitability for species providing specific ecosystem service. Species important for timber production (B. plurijuga, P. angolensis, and G. coleosperma – except for C. mopane) were affected the most, rendering this ecosystem service the most vulnerable. The high risks to key timber species of the Miombo woodland in Angola and Zimbabwe were also highlighted by other previous analysis, e.g., Catarino et al., (2021), and Pelletier et al., (2019). The former authors particularly underscored the vulnerability of G. coleosperma due to its restricted distribution and high market value; we identified this species as a regional loser. The major hotspot emerged in the same area as the species retreat hotspot discussed above, and it was significantly larger under RCP8.5 than under RCP4.5. At the same time, the coldspot areas of timber provision were rather unstable under the two RCPs. Interestingly, although the projected changes in land climatic suitability for single species providing food and energy were substantial, they did not form any significant hotspot or coldspot pattern.

## 6.3.3 Patterns of socio-economic vulnerability in Namibia

The social vulnerability to natural hazard assessment shows that social vulnerability and exposure to natural hazards varied between the districts. We found that macro-regions with specific magnitudes of vulnerability exist in the country, which require different treatment and management responses. The results shows that populations with the poorest socio-economic performance in the country are mostly distributed in areas with highest frequency and severity of natural hazards, rendering these populations as the most vulnerable to climate change related impacts. Social vulnerability reached its highest values in the northern districts and culminated in Ohangwena and Omusati. These districts have previously received increased research attention due to their

prominence (Angombe, 2012; Lendelvo et al., 2018; O'Brien et al., 2009). The southern districts such as Khomas, Erongo, Karas, and Hardap, on the other hand were found to have good capacities to cope with and respond to natural hazards.

The social vulnerability was mainly driven by a combination of various factors, including the high number of elderly populations, populations with disabilities, and household income. Exposure to natural hazards also showed a distinct geographical pattern. While flood- and fire-prone districts occurred in the northern parts of the country, drought risks were high across the entire country. Results show lower drought risk in the central districts such as Khomas and Hardap. The most frequent combination of hazards was drought and flood, while the combination of drought and fire occurred in Otjozondjupa, Kavango East and Kavango West only. The latter two districts also showed a minor exposure to floods, which makes them the most hazard-prone districts in the country from the view of both magnitude of the impact and the number of participating hazards. The results of this analysis are intended to support the development of national and regional management strategies and the formulation of research and investment priorities, and to contribute towards achieving the Sustainable Development

# 7 **Recommendations for practice and policy**

To narrow the major knowledge gaps in climate change risks in southern Africa, we suggest that knowledge transfer from South Africa should be increasingly considered in regional adaptation planning. The South African experience can, for example, help address the knowledge gaps identified herein concerning the control of biological invasions and infrastructure and capacity building.

We found that the current level of understanding of climate change risks is incomplete in many aspects, and further systematic research and monitoring is needed. Therefore, we recommend future studies considering different selection criteria (e.g., without requiring the connection to management responses) to investigate the impacts on ecosystems more comprehensively.

Improving regional research and monitoring infrastructure, including investments in research, innovation, technology transfer as well as options for using more advanced mechanistic models for identifying future risks are crucial for promoting effective adaptation to climate change in southern Africa. Implementing new curricula of climate change–related subjects in masters and doctoral studies could be a solid incentive to improving climate change research and awareness. Improved

education could be an essential step towards increasing the proportion of interdisciplinary studies and broader use of advanced technologies and climate model outputs.

Improving research infrastructure and availability of climate data, including bias-corrected climate projections, would significantly enhance the current options for process-based understanding of climate change impacts in the region and formulation of adaptation strategies.

Despite advanced climate change research in southern Africa, further investments are needed to reach a fully operational stage to boost the existing research. Policy and institutional frameworks play a crucial role in improving research performance, which is another field that requires attention in southern Africa. An improved policy and institutional environment would be conducive to joint activities of academia, the private sector, citizen science, and policy, as well as to the search for additional resources to support African publishers and scientists. The countries should, for example, establish national agencies such as the National Research Foundation in South Africa (NRF) or the National Commission on Research Science and Technology (NCRST) in Namibia, which were instrumental in overseeing and coordinating research activities.

We further advise maintaining the database of so-focused publications and update it regularly to support future, more comprehensive synthetic studies. A review of gray literature conducted by the local scientists would also be a valuable input increasing our understanding of climate change impacts and adaptation options in the region.

Further research on the emergent biotic interactions and implications for ecosystem services is needed in southern Africa to reduce some of the most pronounced known uncertainties in assessing future impacts of climate change. Although our analysis considered climate predictors only, other predictors such as land-use, soil conditions, and nonenvironmental constraints should be considered, particularly at smaller scales and for species with azonal and man-altered distributions (Pelletier et al., 2019; Sieben, 2019). We further suggest that future research on the impacts of climate change on species distribution should consider all or a subset of the underlying climate projections, which, even if combined with different Species Distribution Models (SDMs), can capture the future uncertainty of vegetation responses more comprehensively (Jiang et al., 2012).

Our analysis on social vulnerability of human population in Namibia used a coarse resolution of administrative districts, which was determined by the availability of used data. Although such a scale of assessment can support strategic planning, including targeting of investments from external sources, finer-scale studies addressing the diversity of local contexts are needed for efficient implementation.

# 8 Conclusions

The thesis highlights the patterns and drivers of regional climate change research, which are critical entries to informed decisions about research investments, infrastructure development, and education transformation in southern Africa. Despite significant advances in the field of climate change research in the last 15 years, mainly in terms of the number of publications, the role of African researchers in author teams, and international collaboration, regional inequalities remain.

Our analyses highlighted that vulnerabilities and climate change risks to human population and ecosystems in southern Africa exhibit distinct spatial patterns, which may need to be considered by managers, policymakers, funding organizations, and individual donors seeking science-based guidance.

Our assessments revealed that despite a wide range of identified and projected climate change-related impacts threatening the diverse natural and cultural environment of southern Africa, and the availability of various possible response measures to these impacts, there is limited or fragmented knowledge about their directions and magnitudes. This limitation hampers the formulation of knowledge-based adaptation strategies in the region and highlights the need for further synthetic studies aiming to collate the available and often fragmented knowledge.

The study further showed that the pattern of natural hazards and social vulnerability were highly variable among the districts of Namibia, as were the factors determining the social and economic fitness of the population. Adaptation strategies, therefore, need to consider the diversity of regional contexts, which is high even between adjacent districts with similar natural and cultural conditions. We found that macro-regions exist in the country, where multiple adverse effects coincided, including critically low socio-economic performance, high population density and the concurrent incidence of different hazard types. The increasing risk of natural disasters, which is often mediated by climate change, implies that tipping points can be exceeded in such environments and social and ecological harm can be beyond repair.

The results of this thesis have important implications for practice. The findings can inform national and regional climate change and biodiversity conservation policies. Support targeted adaptation and conservation actions and strategies, which are currently lacking in many African regions. Inform donors and funders about priorities, knowledge gaps and climate change hotspot regions. Increase the visibility of research on Africa in the scientific community.

# **9** References

- Abson, D. J., Dougill, A. J., & Stringer, L. C. (2012). Using Principal Component Analysis for information-rich socio-ecological vulnerability mapping in Southern Africa. *Applied Geography*, 35(1), 515–524. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apgeog.2012.08.004</u>
- Abdulwahab, U. A., Hammill, E., & Hawkins, C. P. (2022). Choice of climate data affects the performance and interpretation of species distribution models. Ecological Modelling, 471, 110042. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ECOLMODEL.2022.110042</u>
- Adeloye, A. J., Mwale, F. D., & Dulanya, Z. (2015). A metric-based assessment of flood risk and vulnerability of rural communities in the Lower Shire Valley, Malawi. *Proceedings of the International Association of Hydrological Sciences*, 370, 139–145. <u>https://doi.org/10.5194/piahs-370-139-2015</u>
- Adger, W. N. (2000). Social and ecological resilience: are they related? *Progress in Human Geography 24*, *3*(2000), 347–364.
- Adger, W. N. (2006). Vulnerability. *Global Environmental Change*, *16*(3), 268–281. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2006.02.006
- Angombe, S. T. (2012). Evaluation of drought indices using the 40-percentile threshold for the north-central regions of Namibia. Journal for Studies in Humanities and Social Sciences, 1(2), 2026–7215.
- Archer, E. R. M., Landman, W. A., Tradross, M. A., Malherbe, J., Weepener, H., Maluleke, P., & Marumbwa, F. M. (2017). Understanding the evolution of the 2014–2016 summer rainfall seasons in southern Africa: Key lessons. *Climate Risk Management*, 16(2017), 22–28. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.crm.2017.03.006
- Arnell, N. W., Lowe, J. A., Challinor, A. J., & Osborn, T. J. (2019). Global and regional impacts of climate change at different levels of global temperature increase. Climatic Change, 155(3), 377–391. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-019-02464-z</u>
- Baarsch, F., Granadillos, J. R., Hare, W., Knaus, M., Krapp, M., Schaeffer, M., & Lotze-Campen, H. (2020). The impact of climate change on incomes and convergence in Africa. *World Development*, *126*, 104699. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2019.104699</u>
- Barreteau, O., Giband, D., Schoon, M., Cerceau, J., Declerck, F., Ghiotti, S., James, T., Masterson, V. A., Mathevet, R., Rode, S., Ricci, F., & Therville, C. (2016). Bringing together socialecological system and territoire concepts to explore nature-society dynamics. 21(4). <u>https://doi.org/10.5751/ES-08834-210442</u>
- Barrows, C. W., Ramirez, A. R., Sweet, L. C., Morelli, T. L., Millar, C. I., Frakes, N., Rodgers, J.,& Mahalovich, M. F. (2020). Validating climate-change refugia: empirical bottom-up

approaches to support management actions. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment, 18(5), 298–306. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/FEE.2205</u>

- Bauer, S., & Scholz, I. (2010). Adaptation to climate change in Southern Africa: New boundaries for sustainable development? Climate and Development, 2(2), 83–93. https://doi.org/10.3763/cdev.2010.0040
- Blicharska, M., Smithers, R. J., Kuchler, M., Agrawal, G. K., Gutiérrez, J. M., Hassanali, A., Huq, S., Koller, S. H., Marjit, S., Mshinda, H. M., Masjuki, H. H., Solomons, N. W., Staden, J. Van, & Mikusiński, G. (2017). Steps to overcome the North-South divide in research relevant to climate change policy and practice. Nature Climate Change, 7(1), 21–27. https://doi.org/10.1038/nclimate3163
- Birkmann, J. (2006). Measuring vulnerability to promote disaster-resilient societies: Conceptual frameworks and definitions. In J. Birkmann (Ed.), *Measuring vulnerability to natural hazards: towards disaster resilient societies, 2nd ed* (pp. 7–54). UNU-Press.
- Booth, T. H. (2014). Using biodiversity databases to verify and improve descriptions of tree species climatic requirements. Forest Ecology and Management, 315, 95–102. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2013.12.028
- Boshoff, N. (2010). South-South research collaboration of countries in the Southern African Development Community (SADC). Scientometrics, 84(2), 481–503. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11192-009-0120-0
- Botella, C., Joly, A., Monestiez, P., Bonnet, P., & Munoz, F. (2020). Bias in presence-only niche models related to sampling effort and species niches: Lessons for background point selection. PLoS ONE, 15(5), 1–18. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0232078</u>
- Bramer, W. M., Rethlefsen, M. L., Kleijnen, J., & Franco, O. H. (2017). Optimal database combinations for literature searches in systematic reviews: A prospective exploratory study. Systematic Reviews, 6(1), 1–12. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s13643-017-0644-y</u>
- Brian, C. O., Oppenheimer, M., Warren, R., Hallegatte, S., Kopp, R. E., Pörtner, H. O., Scholes, R., Birkmann, J., Foden, W., Licker, R., Mach, K. J., Marbaix, P., Mastrandrea, M. D., Price, J., Taka, K., Ypersele, J.-P. van, & Yohe, G. (2017). IPCC reasons for concern regarding climate change risks. *Nature Climate Change*, 7, 28–37. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nclimate3179</u>
- Briguglio, L., Cordina, G., Farrugia, N., & Vella, S. (2009). Economic Vulnerability and Resilience: Concepts and Measurements. Oxford Development Studies, 37(3), 229–247. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13600810903089893</u>
- Bruno Soares, M., Gagnon, A. S., & Doherty, R. M. (2012). Conceptual elements of climate change vulnerability assessments: A review. *International Journal of Climate Change Strategies and Management*, 4(1), 6–35. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/17568691211200191</u>

- Bunting, E., Steele, J., Keys, E., Muyengwa, S., Child, B., & Southworth, J. (2013). Local Perception of Risk to Livelihoods in the Semi-Arid Landscape of Southern Africa. *Land*, *2*, 225–251. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/land2020225</u>
- Byers, E., Gidden, M., Leclere, D., Balkovic, J., Burek, P., Ebi, K., Greve, P., Grey, D., Havlik, P., Hillers, A., Johnson, N., Kahil, T., Krey, V., Langan, S., Nakicenovic, N., Novak, R., Obersteiner, M., Pachauri, S., Palazzo, A., ... Riahi, K. (2018). Global exposure and vulnerability to multi-sector development and climate change hotspots. *Environmental Research Letters*, 13(5), 055012. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/aabf45</u>
- Cannon, T., & Muller-Mahn, D. (2010). Vulnerability, resilience and development discourses. *Natural Hazards* (2010), 55, 621–635. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11069-010-9499-4</u>
- Catarino, S., Romeiras, M. M., Pereira, J. M. C., & Figueira, R. (2021). Assessing the conservation of Miombo timber species through an integrated index of anthropogenic and climatic threats. Ecology and Evolution, 11(14), 9332–9348. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ECE3.7717</u>
- Chakraborty, L., Rus, H., Henstra, D., Thistlethwaite, J., & Scott, D. (2019). A place-based socioeconomic status index: Measuring social vulnerability to flood hazards in the context of environmental justice. *International Journal of Disaster Risk Reduction*, 43(2020), 1–12. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijdrr.2019.101394</u>
- Cochrane, L., Cundill, G., Ludi, E., New, M., Nicholls, R. J., Wester, P., Cantin, B., Murali, K. S., Leone, M., Kituyi, E., & Landry, M.-E. (2017). A reflection on collaborative adaptation research in Africa and Asia. *Regional Environmental Change*, 17(5), 1553–1561. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10113-017-1140-6
- Colding, J., & Barthel, S. (2019). Exploring the social-ecological systems discourse 20 years later. *Ecology and Society*, 24(1), 2. <u>https://doi.org/10.5751/ES-10598-240102</u>
- Cutter, S. L., Barnes, L., Berry, M., Burton, C., Evans, E., Tate, E., & Webb, J. (2008). A placebased model for understanding community resilience to natural disasters. *Global Environmental Change*, 18, 598–606. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2008.07.013</u>
- Cutter, S. L., Boruff, B. J., & Shirley, W. L. (2003). Social Vulnerability to Environmental Hazards. *Social Science Quarterly*, 84(2), 242–261
- Dai, A. (2011). Drought under global warming: A review. Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Climate Change, 2(1), 45–65. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/wcc.81</u>
- Daly, C. (2006). Guidelines for assessing the suitability of spatial climate data sets. International Journal of Climatology, 26(6), 707–721. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/JOC.1322</u>
- Datta, A., Schweiger, O., & Kühn, I. (2020). Origin of climatic data can determine the transferability of species distribution models. NeoBiota 59: 61-76, 59, 61–76. https://doi.org/10.3897/NEOBIOTA.59.36299

- De Souza, K., Kituyi, E., Harvey, B., Leone, M., Murali, K. S., & Ford, J. D. (2015). Vulnerability to climate change in three hot spots in Africa and Asia: key issues for policy-relevant adaptation and resilience-building research. *Regional Environmental Change*, *15*(5), 747–753. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10113-015-0755-8</u>
- Díaz, S., Fargione, J., Chapin, F. S., & Tilman, D. (2006). Biodiversity Loss Threatens Human Well-Being. *PLoS Biology*, 4(8), 1300–1305. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PBIO.0040277</u>
- Dieckmann, U., Odendaal, W., Tarr, J., & Schreij, A. (2013). Indigenous Peoples and Climate Change in Africa: Report on Case Studies of Namibia's Topnaar and Hai//om Communities.
- Dintwa, K. F., Letamo, G., & Navaneetham, K. (2019). Quantifying social vulnerability to natural hazards in Botswana: An application of cutter model. *International Journal of Disaster Risk Reduction*, *37*(2019), 1–12. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijdrr.2019.101189</u>
- Ebi, K., Campbell-Lendrum, D., & Wyns, A. (2018). The 1.5 Health Report: Synthesis on health and climate science in the IPCC SR1.5, 1–10
- Engelbrecht, F. A., Landman, W. A., Engelbrecht, C. J., Landman, S., Bopape, M. M., Roux, B., McGregor, J. L., & Thatcher, M. (2011). Multi-scale climate modelling over Southern Africa using a variable-resolution global model. In *Water SA* (Vol. 37, pp. 647–658). scieloza
- Epstein, G., Sandberg, A., Bay-Larsen, I., & Hovelsrud, G. (2014). Institutions and adaptation processes: A social-ecological system approach for the study of adaptation to climate change. *Ostrom Workshop (WOW5) Conference, 66*, 18–21
- Fedele, G., Donatti, C. I., Harvey, C. A., Hannah, L., & Hole, D. G. (2019). Transformative adaptation to climate change for sustainable social-ecological systems. *Environmental Science & Policy*, 101, 116–125. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envsci.2019.07.001</u>
- Fick, S. E., & Hijmans, R. J. (2017). WorldClim 2: new 1-km spatial resolution climate surfaces for global land areas. International Journal of Climatology, 37(12), 4302–4315. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/JOC.5086</u>
- Fischer, J., Gardner, T. A., Bennett, E. M., Balvanera, P., Biggs, R., Carpenter, S., Daw, T., Folke, C., Hill, R., Hughes, T. P., Luthe, T., Maass, M., Meacham, M., Norström, A. V, Peterson, G., Queiroz, C., Seppelt, R., Spierenburg, M., & Tenhunen, J. (2015). Advancing sustainability through mainstreaming a social–ecological systems perspective. *Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability*, *14*, 144–149. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cosust.2015.06.002
- Foley, J. A., DeFries, R., Asner, G. P., Barford, C., Bonan, G., Carpenter, S. R., ... Snyder, P. K. (2005). Global consequences of land use. Science, 309(5734), 570–574
- Folke, C., Carpenter, S. R., Walker, B., Scheffer, M., Chapin, T., & Rockström, J. (2010). Resilience Thinking: Integrating Resilience, Adaptability and Transformability. *Ecology and Society*, 15(4), 20
- Ford, J. D., Berrang-Ford, L., Bunce, A., McKay, C., Irwin, M., & Pearce, T. (2015). The status of climate change adaptation in Africa and Asia. Regional Environmental Change, 15(5), 801– 814. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10113-014-0648-2</u>
- Fortini, L., & Schubert, O. (2017). Beyond exposure, sensitivity and adaptive capacity : a response based ecological framework to assess species climate change vulnerability. *Climate Change Responses* (2017), 4(2), 1–7. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s40665-017-0030-y</u>
- Garmestani, A. S., & Benson, M. H. (2013). A Framework for Resilience-based Governance of Social-Ecological Systems. *Ecology and Society* 18(1):, 18(1)
- Girvetz, E., Ramirez-Villegas, J., Claessens, L., Lamanna, C., Navarro-Racines, C., Nowak, A., Thornton, P., & Rosenstock, T. S. (2019). Future Climate Projections in Africa: Where Are We Headed? In T. S. Rosenstock, A. Nowak, & E. Girvetz (Eds.), *The Climate-Smart Agriculture Papers* (pp. 15–27). Springer International Publishing. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-92798-5\_2</u>
- Godde, C. M., Boone, R. B., Ash, A. J., Waha, K., Sloat, L. L., Thornton, P. K., & Herrero, M. (2020). Global rangeland production systems and livelihoods at threat under climate change and variability. *Environmental Research Letters*, 15(4), 044021. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/ab7395
- Gonçalves, F. M. P., Revermann, R., Gomes, A. L., Aidar, M. P. M., Finckh, M., & Juergens, N. (2017). Tree Species Diversity and Composition of Miombo Woodlands in South-Central Angola: A Chronosequence of Forest Recovery after Shifting Cultivation. International Journal of Forestry Research, 2017, 6202093. <u>https://doi.org/10.1155/2017/6202093</u>
- Gonzalez, A., & Loreau, M. (2008). The Causes and Consequences of Compensatory Dynamics in Ecological Communities. Annual Reviews, 40, 393–414. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/ANNUREV.ECOLSYS.39.110707.173349</u>
- Guo, D., Arnolds, J. L., Midgley, G. F., & Foden, W. B. (2016). Conservation of Quiver Trees in Namibia and South Africa under a Changing Climate. *Journal of Geoscience and Environment Protection*, 04(07), 1–8. <u>https://doi.org/10.4236/gep.2016.47001</u>
- Hambira, W. L. (2017). Botswana tourism operators' and policy makers' perceptions and responses to the tourism-climate change nexus: vulnerabilities and adaptations to climate change in Maun and Tshabong areas. *Nordia Geographical Publications*, 46(2), 59
- Haselip, J., & Hughes, M. (2018). Africa–Europe Collaborations for Climate Change Research and Innovation: What Difference Have They Made? BT - Africa-Europe Research and Innovation Cooperation: Global Challenges, Bi-regional Responses (A. Cherry, J. Haselip, G. Ralphs, &

I. E. Wagner, Eds.; pp. 81–97). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-69929-5\_5

- Heller, N. E., & Zavaleta, E. S. (2009). Biodiversity management in the face of climate change: A review of 22 years of recommendations. Biological Conservation, 142(1), 14–32. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2008.10.006</u>
- Hély, C., Bremond, L., Alleaume, S., Smith, B., Martin, T., & Guiot, J. (2006). Sensitivity of African Biomes to Changes in the Precipitation Regime. *Global Ecology and Biogeography*, 15(3), 258–270
- Herrero-Jáuregui, C., Arnaiz-schmitz, C., Telesnicki, M., Agramonte, I., Easdale, M. H., Antonio, G., & Montes, C. (2018). What do We Talk about When We Talk about Social-Ecological Systems? A Literature Review. *Sustainability*, *10*(8), 2950. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/su10082950</u>
- Hoegh-Guldberg, O., Jacob, D., Taylor, M., Guillén Bolaños, T., Bindi, M., Brown, S., Camilloni, I. A., Diedhiou, A., Djalante, R., Ebi, K., Engelbrecht, F., Guiot, J., Hijioka, Y., Mehrotra, S., Hope, C. W., Payne, A. J., Pörtner, H.-O., Seneviratne, S. I., Thomas, A., ... Zhou, G. (2019). The human imperative of stabilizing global climate change at 1.5°C. *Science*, *365*(6459), eaaw6974. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aaw6974</u>
- Holman, I. P., Brown, C., Carter, T. R., Harrison, P. A., & Rounsevell, M. (2019). Improving the representation of adaptation in climate change impact models. *Regional Environmental Change*, 19(3), 711–721. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10113-018-1328-4</u>
- Holzer, J. M., Adamescu, C. M., Cazacu, C., Díaz-Delgado, R., Dick, J., Méndez, P. F., Santamaría, L., & Orenstein, D. E. (2019). Evaluating transdisciplinary science to open research-implementation spaces in European social-ecological systems. *Biological Conservation*, 238, 108228. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2019.108228</u>
- Huntley, B., & Barnard, P. (2012). Potential impacts of climatic change on southern African birds of fynbos and grassland biodiversity hotspots. Diversity and Distributions, 18(8), 769–781. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1472-4642.2012.00890.x
- IPCC. (2019). IPCC Special Report on Climate Change, Desertification, Land Degradation, Sustainable Land Management, Food Security, and Greenhouse gas fluxes in Terrestrial Ecosystems (P. R. Shukla, J. Skea, E. C. Buendia, V. Masson-Delmotte, H.-O. Pörtner, D. C. Roberts, P. Zhai, R. Slade, S. Connors, R. van Diemen, M. Ferrat, E. Haughey, S. Luz, S. Neogi, M. Pathak, J. Petzold, J. P. Pereira, P. Vyas, E. Huntley, ... J. Malley, Eds.). https://doi.org/10.4337/9781784710644
- IPCC. (2018). Global Warming of 1.5°C. An IPCC Special Report on the impacts of global warming of 1.5°C above pre-industrial levels and related global greenhouse gas emission pathways, in the context of strengthening the global response to the threat of climate change, ( and T. W. Masson-Delmotte, V., P. Zhai, H.-O. Pörtner, D. Roberts, J. Skea, P.R. Shukla,

A. Pirani, W. Moufouma-Okia, C. Péan, R. Pidcock, S. Connors, J.B.R. Matthews, Y. Chen, X. Zhou, M.I. Gomis, E. Lonnoy, T. Maycock, M. Tignor, Ed.). In Press

- Jiang, Y., Zhuang, Q., Schaphoff, S., Sitch, S., Sokolov, A., Kicklighter, D., & Melillo, J. (2012). Uncertainty analysis of vegetation distribution in the northern high latitudes during the 21st century with a dynamic vegetation model. Ecology and Evolution, 2(3), 593. https://doi.org/10.1002/ECE3.85
- Kamali, B., Abbaspour, K. C., Wehrli, B., & Yang, H. (2019). A Quantitative Analysis of Socio-Economic Determinants Influencing Crop Drought Vulnerability in Sub-Saharan Africa. *Sustainability*, 11, 1–18
- Kantamaneni, K. (2019). Evaluation of social vulnerability to natural hazards: a case of Barton on Sea, England. *Arabian Journal of Geosciences*, *12*(2019), 1–11
- Kapuka, A., Dobor, L., & Hlásny, T. (2022). Climate change threatens the distribution of major woody species and ecosystem services provision in southern Africa. *Science of The Total Environment*, 850, 158006. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2022.158006</u>
- Kapuka, A., Hlásny, T., & Helmschrot, J. (2022). Climate change research in southern Africa in recent two decades: progress, needs, and policy implications. *Regional Environmental Change*, 22(1), 1–16. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/S10113-022-01886-3/FIGURES/7</u>
- Kapuka, A., & Hlásny, T. (2021). Climate change impacts on ecosystems and adaptation options in nine countries in southern Africa: What do we know? *Ecosphere*, 12(12), e03860. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ECS2.3860</u>
- Kapuka, A., & Hlásny, T. (2020). Social Vulnerability to Natural Hazards in Namibia: A District-Based Analysis. *Sustainability*, *12*(12), 4910. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/su12124910</u>
- Kates, R. W., Travis, W. R., & Wilbanks, T. J. (2012). Transformational adaptation when incremental adaptations to climate change are insufficient. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 109(19), 7156–7161. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1115521109</u>
- Keja-Kaereho, C., & Tjizu, B. R. (2019). Climate Change and Global Warming in Namibia: Environmental Disasters vs. Human Life and the Economy. *Management and Economics Research Journal*, 5(1), 11. <u>https://doi.org/10.18639/merj.2019.836535</u>
- Kirkman, S. P., Oosthuizen, W. H., Meÿer, M. A., Seakamela, S. M., & Underhill, L. G. (2011). Prioritising range-wide scientific monitoring of the Cape fur seal in southern Africa. African Journal of Marine Science, 33(3), 495–509. <u>https://doi.org/10.2989/1814232X.2011.637354</u>
- Kusangaya, S., Warburton, M. L., Garderen, E. A. van, & Jewitt, G. P. W. (2014). Impacts of climate change on water resources in southern Africa: A review. *Physics and Chemistry of the Earth, Parts A/B/C*, 67–69, 47–54. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pce.2013.09.014</u>
- Leenhardt, P., Teneva, L., Kininmonth, S., Darling, E., Cooley, S., & Claudet, J. (2015). Challenges, insights and perspectives associated with using social-ecological science for

marine conservation. Ocean & Coastal Management, 115, 49–60. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ocecoaman.2015.04.018

- Lei, Y., Wang, J., Yue, Y., Zhou, H., & Yin, W. (2014). Rethinking the relationships of vulnerability, resilience, and adaptation from a disaster risk perspective. *Natural Hazards*, 70(1), 609–627. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11069-013-0831-7</u>
- Leichenko, R. M., & O'Brien, K. L. (2002). The dynamics of rural vulnerability to global change: The case of southern Africa. *Mitigation and Adaptation Strategies for Global Change*, 7(1), 1–18. <u>https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1015860421954</u>
- Lendelvo, S., Angula, M. N., Mogotsi, I., & Aribeb, K. (2018). Towards the Reduction of Vulnerabilities and Risks of Climate Change in the Community-Based Tourism, Namibia. In J. S. A. Do Carmo (Ed.), Natural Hazards - Risk Assessment and Vulnerability Reduction (pp. 87–105). <u>https://www.intechopen.com/books/natural-hazards-risk-assessment-and-vulnerability-reduction/towards-the-reduction-of-vulnerabilities-and-risks-of-climatechange-in-the-community-based-tourism</u>
- Li, T., Dong, Y., & Liu, Z. (2020). A review of social-ecological system resilience: Mechanism, assessment and management. *Science of The Total Environment*, 723, 138113. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.138113
- Lindner, M., Maroschek, M., Netherer, S., Kremer, A., Barbati, A., Lexer, M. J., & Marchetti, M. (2009). Climate change impacts, adaptive capacity, and vulnerability of European forest ecosystems. *Forest Ecology and Management*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2009.09.023</u>
- Littell, J. S., Mckenzie, D., Kerns, B. K., Cushman, S., & Shaw, C. G. (2011). Managing uncertainty in climate-driven ecological models to inform adaptation to climate change. *Ecosphere*, 2(9), 109. <u>https://doi.org/10.1890/ES11-00114.1</u>
- López-Carr, D., Pricope, N. G., Aukema, J. E., Jankowska, M. M., Funk, C., Husak, G., & Michaelsen, J. (2014). A spatial analysis of population dynamics and climate change in Africa: Potential vulnerability hot spots emerge where precipitation declines and demographic pressures coincide. *Population and Environment*, 35(3), 323–339. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11111-014-0209-0
- Makate, C., Makate, M., & Mango, N. (2017). Smallholder Farmers' Perceptions on Climate Change and the Use of Sustainable Agricultural Practices in the Chinyanja Triangle, Southern Africa. Social Sciences, 6(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/socsci6010030</u>
- Makhado, R. A., Mapaure, I., Potgieter, M. J., Luus-Powell, W. J., & Saidi, A. T. (2014). Factors influencing the adaptation and distribution of Colophospermum mopane in southern Africa's mopane savannas - A review. Bothalia - African Biodiversity & amp; Conservation, 44(1), 1– 9. <u>https://doi.org/10.4102/ABC.V44I1.152</u>
- Malhi, Y., Franklin, J., Seddon, N., Solan, M., Turner, M. G., Field, C. B., & Knowlton, N. (2020). Climate change and ecosystems: Threats, opportunities and solutions. Philosophical

Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, 375(1794), 20190104. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2019.0104

- Malone, E. L., & Engle, N. L. (2011). Evaluating regional vulnerability to climate change: purposes and methods. *WIREs Climate Change*, 2(3), 462–474. <u>https://doi.org/doi:10.1002/wcc.116</u>
- Menzie, C. A., MacDonell, M. M., & Mumtaz, M. (2007). A phased approach for assessing combined effects from multiple stressors. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 115(5), 807– 816. <u>https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.9331</u>
- Metzger, M. J., Leemans, R., & Schröter, D. (2005). A multidisciplinary multi-scale framework for assessing vulnerabilities to global change. *International Journal of Applied Earth Observation and Geoinformation*, 7(4), 253–267. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jag.2005.06.011</u>
- Midgley, G. F., & Thuiller, W. (2011). Potential responses of terrestrial biodiversity in Southern Africa to anthropogenic climate change. Regional Environmental Change, 11(SUPPL. 1), 127–135. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10113-010-0191-8</u>
- Midgley, G., Hughes, G., Thuiller, W., Drew, G., Foden, W., & Town, C. (2005). Assessment of potential climate change impacts on Namibia's floristic diversity, ecosystem structure and function. *Cape Town: Climate Change Research Group, South African National Biodiversity Institute*
- Mumby, P. J., Chollett, I., Bozec, Y. M., & Wolff, N. H. (2014). Ecological resilience, robustness and vulnerability: How do these concepts benefit ecosystem management? *Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability*, 7, 22–27. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cosust.2013.11.021</u>
- Mushawemhuka, W., Rogerson, J. M., & Saarinen, J. (2018). Nature-based tourism operators' perceptions and adaptation to climate change in Hwange National Park, Zimbabwe. *Bulletin of Geography. Socio-Economic Series*, 42(42), 115–127. <u>https://doi.org/10.2478/bog-2018-0034</u>
- Nguyen, T. T. X., Bonetti, J., Rogers, K., & Woodroffe, C. D. (2016). Indicator-based assessment of climate-change impacts on coasts: A review of concepts, methodological approaches and vulnerability indices. *Ocean and Coastal Management*, *123*, 18–43. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ocecoaman.2015.11.022
- Noy, I., & Yonson, R. (2018). Economic vulnerability and resilience to natural hazards: A survey of concepts and measurements. *Sustainability (Switzerland)*, *10*(8), 2850. https://doi.org/10.3390/su10082850
- Nunes, A. R. (2021). Exploring the interactions between vulnerability, resilience and adaptation to extreme temperatures. *Natural Hazards*, *109*(3), 2261–2293. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/S11069-021-04919-Y/FIGURES/10</u>

- O'Brien, K., Quinlan, T., & Ziervogel, G. (2009). Vulnerability interventions in the context of multiple stressors: Lessons from the Southern African Vulnerability Initiative (SAVI). Environmental Science & Policy, 12, 23–32. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envsci.2008.10.008</u>
- Olsson, P., Folke, C., & Berkes, F. (2004). Adaptive comanagement for building resilience in social-ecological systems. *Environmental Management*, 34(1), 75–90. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00267-003-0101-7
- Osbahr, H., Twyman, C., Adger, W. N., & Thomas, D. S. G. (2010). Evaluating Successful Livelihood Adaptation to Climate Variability and Change in Southern Africa. *Ecology and Society*, *15*(2), 1–20
- Otto, I. M., Reckien, D., Reyer, C. P. O., Marcus, R., Masson, V. Le, Jones, L., Norton, A., & Serdeczny, O. (2017). Social vulnerability to climate change: a review of concepts and evidence. Regional Environmental Change, 17, 1651–1662. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10113-017-1105-9</u>
- Pacifici, M., Foden, W. B., Visconti, P., Watson, J. E. M., Butchart, S. H. M., Kovacs, K. M., Scheffers, B. R., Hole, D. G., Martin, T. G., Akçakaya, H. R., Corlett, R. T., Huntley, B., Bickford, D., Carr, J. A., Hoffmann, A. A., Midgley, G. F., Pearce-Kelly, P., Pearson, R. G., Williams, S. E., ... Rondinini, C. (2015). Assessing species vulnerability to climate change. *Nature Climate Change*, 5(3), 215–224. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nclimate2448</u>
- Palazzo, A., Vervoort, J. M., Croz, D. M., Rutting, L., Havlík, P., Islam, S., Bayala, J., Valin, H., Abdou, H., Kadi, K., Thornton, P., & Zougmore, R. (2017). Linking regional stakeholder scenarios and shared socioeconomic pathways: Quantified West African food and climatefutures in a global context. *Global Environmental Change*, 45(2017), 227–242. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0959378016305751?via%3Dihub
- Pandey, R., Meena, D., Aretano, R., Satapathy, S., Semeraro, T., Gupta, A. K., Rawat, S., & Zurlini, G. (2015). Socio-ecological Vulnerability of Smallholders due to Climate Change in Mountains: Agroforestry as an Adaptation Measure. *Change and Adaptation in Socio-Ecological Systems*, 2, 26–41. <u>https://doi.org/10.1515/cass-2015-0003</u>
- Pelletier, J., Chidumayo, E., Trainor, A., Siampale, A., & Mbindo, K. (2019). Distribution of tree species with high economic and livelihood value for Zambia. Forest Ecology and Management, 441, 280–292. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FORECO.2019.03.051</u>
- Pereira, H. M., Leadley, P. W., Proença, V., Alkemade, R., Scharlemann, J. P. W., Fernandez-Manjarrés, J. F., Araújo, M. B., Balvanera, P., Biggs, R., Cheung, W. W. L., Chini, L., Cooper, H. D., Gilman, E. L., Guénette, S., Hurtt, G. C., Huntington, H. P., Mace, G. M., Oberdorff, T., Revenga, C., ... Walpole, M. (2010). Scenarios for global biodiversity in the 21st century. Science, 330(6010), 1496–1501. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1196624</u>

- Platts, P. J., Omeny, P. A., & Marchant, R. (2015). AFRICLIM: high-resolution climate projections for ecological applications in Africa. African Journal of Ecology, 53(1), 103–108. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/AJE.12180</u>
- Posada, R., Riede, J. O., Kaspar, F., Mhanda, A., Radithupa, M., Stegling, J., Nascimento, D., Tima, L., Kanyanga, J., Nkonde, E., Swaswa, M., & Waitolo, D. (2018). Cooperation of meteorological services within SASSCAL on improving the management of observed climate data. In J. N. Revermann R, Krewenka KM, Schmiedel U, Olwoch JM, Helmschrot J (Ed.), *Climate change and adaptive land management in southern Africa – assessments, changes, challenges, and solutions (ed.* (Vol. 6, pp. 22–29). Klaus Hess Publishers
- Prichard, S. J., Stevens-Rumann, C. S., & Hessburg, P. F. (2017). Tamm Review: Shifting global fire regimes: Lessons from reburns and research needs. Forest Ecology and Management, 396, 217–233. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FORECO.2017.03.035</u>
- Pricope, N. G., Gaughan, A. E., All, J. D., Binford, M. W., & Rutina, L. P. (2015). Spatio-Temporal Analysis of Vegetation Dynamics in Relation to Shifting Inundation and Fire Regimes: Disentangling Environmental Variability from Land Management Decisions in a Southern African Transboundary Watershed. *Land*, 4, 627–655. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/land4030627</u>
- Rapolaki, R. S., Blamey, R. C., Hermes, J. C., & Reason, C. J. C. (2019). A classification of synoptic weather patterns linked to extreme rainfall over the Limpopo River Basin in southern Africa. *Climate Dynamics*, 53(3), 2265–2279. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00382-019-04829-7</u>
- Rippke, U., Ramirez-Villegas, J., Jarvis, A., Vermeulen, S. J., Parker, L., Mer, F., Diekkrüger, B., Challinor, A. J., & Howden, M. (2016). Timescales of transformational climate change adaptation in sub-Saharan African agriculture. *Nature Climate Change*, 6(6), 605–609. https://doi.org/10.1038/nclimate2947
- Saini, R., Wang, G., Yu, M., & Kim, J. (2015). Comparison of RCM and GCM projections of boreal summer precipitation over Africa. Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres, 120(9), 3679–3699. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/2014JD022599</u>
- Sekonya, J. G., McClure, N. J., & Wynberg, R. P. (2020). New pressures, old foodways: Governance and access to edible mopane caterpillars, imbrasia (=gonimbrasia) Belina, in the context of commercialization and environmental change in South Africa. International Journal of the Commons, 14(1), 139–153. <u>https://doi.org/10.5334/IJC.978/METRICS/</u>
- Schewe, J., Heinke, J., Gerten, D., Haddeland, I., Arnell, N. W., Clark, D. B., Dankers, R., Eisner, S., Fekete, B. M., Colón-González, F. J., Gosling, S. N., Kim, H., Liu, X., Masaki, Y., Portmann, F. T., Satoh, Y., Stacke, T., Tang, Q., Wada, Y., ... Kabat, P. (2014). Multimodel assessment of water scarcity under climate change. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *111*(9), 3245–3250. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1222460110

- Schmidhuber, J., & Tubiello, F. N. (2007). Global food security under climate change. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 104(50), 19703–19708. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0701976104
- Serdeczny, O., Adams, S., Baarsch, F., Coumou, D., Robinson, A., Hare, W., Schaeffer, M., Perrette, M., & Reinhardt, J. (2017). Climate change impacts in Sub-Saharan Africa: from physical changes to their social repercussions. *Regional Environmental Change*, 17(6), 1585– 1600. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10113-015-0910-2</u>
- Sherley, R. B., Ludynia, K., Underhill, L. G., Jones, R., & Kemper, J. (2012). Storms and heat limit the nest success of Bank Cormorants: implications of future climate change for a surfacenesting seabird in southern Africa Richard. Journal of Ornithology, 153(2), 441–455. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10336-011-0760-
- Siders, A. R. (2019). Adaptive capacity to climate change: A synthesis of concepts, methods, and findings in a fragmented field. *Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Climate Change*, 10(3), 1– 18. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/wcc.573</u>
- Sieben, E. J. J. (2019). Zonal and azonal vegetation revisited: How is wetland vegetation distributed across different zonobiomes. Austral Ecology, 44(3), 449–460. https://doi.org/10.1111/AEC.12679
- Smit, B., & Wandel, J. (2006). Adaptation, adaptive capacity and vulnerability. Global Environmental Change, 16, 282–292. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2006.03.008</u>
- Sintayehu, D. W. (2018). Impact of climate change on biodiversity and associated key ecosystem services in Africa: a systematic review. *Ecosystem Health and Sustainability*, 4(9), 225–239. https://doi.org/10.1080/20964129.2018.1530054
- Skondras, N. A., Tsesmelis, D. E., Vasilakou, C. G., & Karavitis, C. A. (2020). Resilience– Vulnerability Analysis: A Decision-Making Framework for Systems Assessment. Sustainability 2020, Vol. 12, Page 9306, 12(22), 9306. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/SU12229306</u>
- Sooryamoorthy, R. (2018). The production of science in Africa: an analysis of publications in the science disciplines, 2000–2015. Scientometrics, 115(1), 317–349. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11192-018-2675-0
- Spear, D., Haimbili, E., Angula, M., Baudoin, M.-A., Hegga, S., Zaroug, M., & Okeyo, A. (2015). Vulnerability and Adaptation to Climate Change in the Semi-Arid Regions of Southern Africa
- Stanickova, M., & Melecký, L. (2018). Understanding of resilience in the context of regional development using composite index approach: the case of European Union NUTS-2 regions. *Regional Studies, Regional Science*, 5(1), 231–254. https://doi.org/10.1080/21681376.2018.1470939
- Stojanovic, T., Mcnae, H. M., Tett, P., Potts, T. W., Reis, J., Smith, H. D., & Dillingham, I. (2016). The "social" aspect of social-ecological systems: a critique of analytical frameworks and

findings from a multisite study of coastal sustainability. *Ecology and Society*, 21(3), 15. http://dx.doi.org/10.5751/ES-08633-210315%0AResearch

- Thomas, K., Hardy, R. D., Lazrus, H., Mendez, M., Orlove, B., Rivera-Collazo, I., Roberts, J. T., Rockman, M., Warner, B. P., Winthrop, R., Rivera-Collazo, I., Roberts, J. T., Rockman, M., Warner, B. P., & Winthrop, R. (2019). Explaining differential vulnerability to climate change: A social science review. *Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Climate Change*, 10(2). https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/wcc.565
- Thompson, H. E., Berrang-Ford, L., & Ford, J. D. (2010). Climate Change and Food Security in Sub-Saharan Africa: A Systematic Literature Review. Sustainability, 2(8), 2719–2733. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/su2082719</u>
- Thonicke, K., Bahn, M., Lavorel, S., Bardgett, R. D., Erb, K., Giamberini, M., Reichstein, M., Vollan, B., & Rammig, A. (2020). Advancing the Understanding of Adaptive Capacity of Social-Ecological Systems to Absorb Climate Extremes. *Earth's Future*, 8(2), e2019EF001221. <u>https://doi.org/10.1029/2019EF001221</u>
- Thornton, P. K., Ericksen, P. J., Herrero, M., & Challinor, A. J. (2014). Climate variability and vulnerability to climate change: A review. *Global Change Biology*, *20*(11), 3313–3328. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.12581
- United Nations (UN). (2016). Report of the Open-Ended Intergovernmental Expert Working Group on Indicators and Terminology Relating to Disaster Risk Reduction
- Van Vliet, M. T. H., Franssen, W. H. P., Yearsley, J. R., Ludwig, F., Haddeland, I., Lettenmaier, D. P., & Kabat, P. (2013). Global river discharge and water temperature under climate change. *Global Environmental Change*, 23(2), 450–464. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2012.11.002
- Vishwambhar, S. P. (2015). Climate change and socio-ecological transformation in high mountains: an empirical study of Garhwal Himalaya. Change and Adaptation in Socio-Ecological Systems, 2, 45–56
- Wahid, Y., Hossain, Md. B., & Hasan, M. U. (2019). Social vulnerability in the coastal region of Bangladesh: An investigation of social vulnerability index and scalar change effects. *International Journal of Disaster Risk Reduction*, 41, 1–14. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijdrr.2019.101329</u>
- Wangai, P. W., Burkhard, B., & Müller, F. (2016). A review of studies on ecosystem services in Africa. International Journal of Sustainable Built Environment, 5(2), 225–245. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijsbe.2016.08.005</u>
- Winfree, R., & Kremen, C. (2008). Are ecosystem services stabilized by differences among species? A test using crop pollination. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, 276(1655), 229–237. <u>https://doi.org/10.1098/RSPB.2008.0709</u>

- Whitney, C. K., Bennett, N. J., Ban, N. C., Allison, E. H., Armitage, D., Blythe, J. L., Burt, J. M., Cheung, W., Finkbeiner, E. M., Kaplan-Hallam, M., Perry, I., Turner, N. J., & Yumagulova, L. (2017). Adaptive capacity: from assessment to action in coastal social-ecological systems. *Ecology and Society*, 22(2). <u>https://doi.org/10.5751/ES-09325-220222</u>
- Williams, S. E., Shoo, L. P., Isaac, J. L., Hoffmann, A. A., & Langham, G. (2008). Towards an integrated framework for assessing the vulnerability of species to climate change. *PLoS Biology*, 6(12). <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.0060325</u>
- Zinyengere, N., Crespo, O., & Hachigonta, S. (2013). Crop response to climate change in southern Africa: A comprehensive review. *Global and Planetary Change*, *111*, 118–126. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloplacha.2013.08.010</u>